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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome,

          3  everyone, to this Charter-mandated Preliminary

          4  Budget Hearing of the Public Safety Committee. We've

          5  got a full schedule today. We'll be hearing from the

          6  Police Department, the Civilian Complaint Review

          7  Board, the District Attorneys, the Department of

          8  Emergency Management, the public.

          9                 I had an opening statement but I had

         10  to change that around a little bit, because many of

         11  you were just across the hall when we made an

         12  announcement that we'd be hiring 800 new police

         13  officers and 400 new civilians. Those civilians

         14  would allow many of those officers to get back on

         15  the street.

         16                 This is great news. It's something

         17  that this Committee has been seeking for a long,

         18  long time. It of course eliminates half my questions

         19  to the Police Commissioner, so we'll have a shorter

         20  hearing today about why we need more police

         21  officers.

         22                 But we will be looking into what we

         23  will be doing with those new police officers. And

         24  that's a much more exciting topic, I think, than why

         25  we need more police officers.
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          2                 As I said across the hall, for years

          3  now, ever since I've been Public Safety Chair, the

          4  Police Department has been forced to do more with

          5  less, and they've done that. They're the best force

          6  in the entire world. Now we get to see what

          7  Commissioner Kelly and his men and women can do with

          8  their team almost at full strength.

          9                 We are the safest city in the big

         10  world, we're the safest city in America, thanks to

         11  you, and now we're shooting for the safest city in

         12  the entire world.

         13                 We do have some areas of concern,

         14  though, that we will be going into today, and I'll

         15  defer to many other Council members on topics that

         16  are closer to their hearts.

         17                 I know that Council Member Gentile

         18  will probably be asking about vests and Council

         19  Member Yassky about Paid Detail, and Council Member

         20  Liu who is auditing this class today, the Chair of

         21  our Transportation Committee, will be asking about

         22  revenue from parking tickets I'm guessing. So, there

         23  are many topics that we still need to discuss.

         24                 And as usual, we have our Police

         25  Commissioner here with us today, surrounding by his
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          2  top brass. And, again, thank you for coming down

          3  here today, as you always do. And thank you for your

          4  work behind the scenes to make this announcement of

          5  800 more hires happen.

          6                 And, Commissioner, as I said, I had

          7  an opening statement and all type of things to say,

          8  but I'm going to cut that short.

          9                 Let me introduce my Council members

         10  here on the left. We have Helen Foster, next to her

         11  Melinda Katz. Both on this Committee. John Liu who

         12  is the Chair of our Transportation Committee. Not a

         13  member of this Committee but obviously feels so

         14  strongly about it that he's here today, and one of

         15  our newest members, Council Member Dan Garodnick,

         16  who we're happy to have on this Committee.

         17                 Thank you, all, for joining us,

         18  Commissioner.

         19                 Thank you. The floor is yours.

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you very

         21  much, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 I want to thank you for your constant

         23  support and thank you for raising the issue of

         24  police strength and headcount. You've been a major

         25  component and advocate of that. So, I very much
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          2  appreciate that.

          3                 I'm joined by First Deputy

          4  Commissioner George Grasso, Chief of Department

          5  Joseph Esposito, our Deputy Commissioner of

          6  Management and Budget Ed Alloco, and our command

          7  staff here, and they'll be available to answer any

          8  questions as well.

          9                 So, thank you for this opportunity to

         10  discuss the Mayor's Preliminary Budget for Fiscal

         11  Year 2007. As you said, Mr. Chairman, just an hour

         12  ago. The Mayor announced the approval for the Police

         13  Department to hire an additional 800 police officers

         14  and another 400 civilians, which together will have

         15  the effect of putting 1,200 more police officers on

         16  the streets in this fiscal year.

         17                 This will allow the Department to

         18  more than compensate for the thousand officers we

         19  have dedicated to counter-terrorism duties.

         20                 The additional personnel will start

         21  coming on board in July, and after their training

         22  will be deployed mainly on patrol in precincts to

         23  reinforce our ongoing efforts to suppress crime.

         24                 As a result of the Mayor's

         25  announcement, there are portions of my prepared
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          2  statement as to uniformed and civilian headcount

          3  that need to be revised. I'll do that as I go

          4  forward in my delivered remarks.

          5                 Crime in New York City continues to

          6  fall to record lows. Thanks to the hard work of the

          7  members of the Police Department, the City ended

          8  year 2005 with a five percent drop in crime, the

          9  fourth straight year of crime reduction since

         10  September 11th.

         11                 Indeed, since 2001, crime has fallen

         12  18 percent. In 2005, despite the competing demands

         13  of counter-terrorism, the City's murder total fell

         14  to 539, it's lowest level since 1962.

         15                 The subway system saw a six percent

         16  decrease in index crime and major felonies were

         17  reduced in public housing developments as well.

         18                 New York City is far and away the

         19  safest big City in America. According to the FBI's

         20  most recent national crime report, violent crime in

         21  this City fell by six times the national rate during

         22  the first half of 2005.

         23                 And while across the country the rate

         24  of murders increased by two percent, in New York

         25  City that number fell by 14 percent.

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 The Department continues to rely on

          3  Operation Impact, a major crime-fighting initiative

          4  begun in 2003.

          5                 This January, after a careful

          6  analysis of crime trends, we refocused our resources

          7  and established 21 new impact zones.

          8                 These are areas in which we've

          9  measured a spike in serious crime. They may be as

         10  small as a few City blocks and sometimes fall within

         11  the bounds of more than one precinct.

         12                 We now have over 1,200 police

         13  officers patrolling these areas, and the effect has

         14  been swift and impressive.

         15                 Compared to the same period last

         16  year, major felonies in the impact zones are down 18

         17  percent.

         18                 Indeed, over the course of each

         19  program cycle, we consistently see crime reduction

         20  in double digits.

         21                 Our last set of impact zones saw a 28

         22  percent drop in crime during the program's six

         23  months.

         24                 Innovative technology has also

         25  improved our ability to fight crime.
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          2                 In July we launched a real time crime

          3  center, a massive data warehouse that allows us to

          4  search information in real time and feed it to

          5  detectives in the field.

          6                 With the help of this round-the-clock

          7  operation, data that used to take days or even weeks

          8  to retrieve, or perhaps not available at all, can

          9  now be recovered in hours and minutes.

         10                 We plan to take our use of technology

         11  much further in the coming years. The Department is

         12  currently in the process of establishing a Citywide

         13  system of closed circuit television.

         14                 The system will consist of 505

         15  cameras to be installed in two phases in the total

         16  of 253 locations, first in Brooklyn and then in the

         17  remaining boroughs.

         18                 The system is fully funded and will

         19  utilize 9.1 million in federal homeland security

         20  grants. We've also expanded our use of technology

         21  following a successful pilot project.

         22                 Last summer, in an effort to aid

         23  crime victims, we extended the language line program

         24  to include not only the Borough of Queens, where the

         25  program was piloted, but the entire City.
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          2                 We are now able to communicate with

          3  any crime victim, regardless of the language they

          4  speak, by using specially programmed cell phones and

          5  dual handset telephones that offer ready access to

          6  the professional translation services in an array of

          7  languages.

          8                 Victims of domestic violence have

          9  greatly benefitted from this program and from the

         10  use of digital photography.

         11                 We have now equipped very precinct

         12  and housing police service area with digital

         13  cameras. With these, officers can document the

         14  property damage and physical injuries that result

         15  from domestic violence and share the evidence with

         16  the District Attorneys' offices.

         17                 These advances are just a part of our

         18  efforts to combat domestic violence.

         19                 Another key element of our approach

         20  has been to make follow-up visits to homes with a

         21  history of violence.

         22                 In 2005, officers made 76,000 such

         23  visits. All together in 2005 these efforts

         24  contributed to a 12 percent decrease in felony

         25  assaults related to domestic violence.
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          2                 With respect to the tragic death of

          3  Nixzmary Brown, at the Mayor's request, we have

          4  participated in the Interagency Task Force led by

          5  Deputy Mayor Linda Gibbs.

          6                 The Department has helped the task

          7  force examine the City's response to severe cases of

          8  child abuse and contributed several proposals to

          9  facilitate interagency communication and

         10  coordination.

         11                 Finally, to address the increasing

         12  caseloads since the case of Nixzmary Brown became

         13  public, I've assigned additional personnel to work

         14  on child abuse cases.

         15                 In partnership with the Department of

         16  Education, our police officers and school safety

         17  agents are working diligently to maintain a safe and

         18  peaceful environment for learning in City schools.

         19                 So far this year, schools throughout

         20  this City have seen 11 percent reduction in major

         21  felonies. In our Impact schools, where we

         22  concentrate resources and personnel, the numbers are

         23  particularly dramatic.

         24                 As of last week, that's March 12th,

         25  major felonies were down a remarkable 61 percent.
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          2                 A mobile task force of 200 uniformed

          3  officers continues to focus outreach and enforcement

          4  on schools struggling with truancy and gang

          5  activity.

          6                 All of these efforts have been

          7  supported by a recent restructuring of community

          8  affairs.

          9                 For the first time the members of

         10  that division now report to the uniformed chief who

         11  is overseeing the duration of school safety and

         12  community affairs. That's Chief Delazego (phonetic),

         13  who is sitting in the front row with us.

         14                 We are confident that a closer

         15  relationship between the community outreach and

         16  youth intervention will better serve the young

         17  people of this City.

         18                 Graffiti, whether by youth offenders

         19  or adults, negatively impacts on our quality of

         20  life.

         21                 In January 2005, the Police

         22  Department launched an anti-graffiti initiative

         23  which has produced encouraging results. Last year,

         24  graffiti arrests were up nearly 79 percent, and

         25  related felony arrests rose 45 percent.
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          2                 The Citywide Vandals Task Force,

          3  which specializes in graffiti enforcement, increased

          4  graffiti arrests by 130 percent and related felony

          5  arrests by as much as 300 percent.

          6                 As part of this initiative, we

          7  established a centralized graffiti database to help

          8  us identify known vandals.

          9                 We've also presented an anti-graffiti

         10  workshop to over 60,000 New Yorkers, and trained 160

         11  youth officers to lead workshops in schools.

         12                 We continue to work tirelessly to

         13  protect New York from a terrorist attack. Our

         14  efforts include Operation Atlas, which involves

         15  daily heavily-armed patrols on high profile

         16  landmarks and critical infrastructure.

         17                 Of course, among our most sensitive

         18  infrastructure is our subway system.

         19                 Following the attacks on the London

         20  Transit system, we began a program of randomly

         21  searching the backpacks and other containers of

         22  passengers entering the subway system.

         23                 This greatly increased the level of

         24  security and surveillance throughout the system.

         25                 Locally and internationally, our
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          2  intelligence gathering is stronger than ever.

          3  Through our liaison program, we have posted

          4  detectives and seniors officers to eight major

          5  cities around the world.

          6                 From these posts, our offices have

          7  had direct access to specific information about

          8  tourist attacks.

          9                 For example, within hours of the

         10  hotel bombings in Amman last year our liaison

         11  stationed in that city was on the scene being

         12  briefed alongside the Jordanian Prime Minister. We

         13  used the information he gathered to take immediate

         14  defensive measures to protect New York City hotels.

         15                 We are currently in the process of

         16  planning a new counter-terrorism initiative to

         17  further secure the City's financial district and

         18  civic center. Given its high-profile landmarks and

         19  its status as the center of American finance, Lower

         20  Manhattan remains a prime target for terrorists

         21  intent on attacking the United States.

         22                 Key elements of the Lower Manhattan

         23  security initiative include permanently assigning

         24  law enforcement officers, and intensified

         25  partnerships with corporate executives and private
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          2  security industry, and several infrastructure and

          3  technology enhancements, such as vehicle barriers,

          4  closed circuit cameras and automated license plate

          5  readers.

          6                 Due to significant changes in the

          7  most recent Homeland Security Grant process,

          8  additional federal counter-terrorism funding has not

          9  yet been allocated. In the past, states knew their

         10  allocations before submitting applications. This

         11  year, for the first time, applications filed under

         12  the Urban Area Security Initiative, the Law

         13  Enforcement Prevention Program and the State

         14  Homeland Security Program are being evaluated on a

         15  competitive basis.

         16                 The City's application submitted

         17  earlier this month includes a request for $219.7

         18  million for the Police Department to be broken down

         19  as follows:

         20                 - 81.5 million for the Lower

         21  Manhattan Security Initiative, which I mentioned a

         22  moment ago. Of this, $2.7 million would be for

         23  training, and the remaining $78.8 million would go

         24  toward equipment, including surveillance cameras,

         25  license plate recognition readers, vehicle barriers,
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          2  vehicles and the cost to lease space for a

          3  Coordination Center.

          4                 - The City has also requested $100

          5  million to fully fund transit coverage and Operation

          6  Atlas in FY '07. In the past, the federal government

          7  has only partially funded Atlas overtime and related

          8  fringe benefit costs. As a result, the City

          9  continues to bear the burden of straight-time costs

         10  and most of the overtime and fringe benefit costs.

         11  For FY '06 the total cost of transit coverage and

         12  Operation Atlas is expected to be $102.4 million, of

         13  which only $26.8 million is expected to be

         14  reimbursed by the federal government.

         15                 - Finally, the City's application

         16  seeks $38.2 million for continuous training,

         17  Personal Protective Equipment, CBRNE detection

         18  equipment, inter-operable communications and

         19  equipment for information gathering and intelligence

         20  analysis.

         21                 As many of you know, the City

         22  vigorously advocated for a change in the State

         23  Homeland Security grant formula so that funding

         24  would be distributed based on the level of threat,

         25  rather than based on population.
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          2                 As a result of intense lobbying

          3  efforts, under the federal Fiscal Year 2006 State

          4  Homeland Security Grant and the Law Enforcement

          5  Terrorism Prevention Program, each State will

          6  receive .75 percent of the government's total

          7  allocation, and the remainder of funds will be

          8  allocated based on the analysis of risk and need.

          9                 Further, the President's budget for

         10  Fiscal Year 2007 includes a proposal to lower State

         11  minimums to .25 percent and allocate the balance of

         12  funds based on risk.

         13                 The President's 2007 budget also

         14  calls for increased funding to the Urban Areas

         15  Security Initiative and the State Homeland Security

         16  Grant Program, but proposes to eliminate the Law

         17  Enforcement Terrorism Prevention Program.

         18                 This would mean a net reduction of

         19  244 million nationwide.

         20                 We will continue our lobbying efforts

         21  with Congress to ensure that funding is allocated

         22  sensibly and effectively and see to it that New York

         23  City receives the money it needs for

         24  counter-terrorism.

         25                 As for the January Plan and its
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          2  impact on the Police Department, the Department's

          3  Fiscal Year 2007 budget is 3.74 billion, 94 percent

          4  of which is allocated for Personal Services and six

          5  percent for Other Than Personal Services.

          6                 The FY '07 budget is 160 million

          7  lower than this year's budget of 3.9 billion.

          8                 This amount reflects the impact of

          9  the City's gap-closing programs included in the

         10  January 2007 financial plan.

         11                 The Department's gap-closing programs

         12  total 14.6 million in Fiscal Year 2006. 36.2 million

         13  in Fiscal Year 2007, and 36.4 million annually

         14  thereafter.

         15                 These include traffic management

         16  initiative to include the flow of vehicles by

         17  increasing enforcement of parking regulations at

         18  congested areas and construction sites.

         19                 Traffic agents will be strategically

         20  deployed in each of the five boroughs. Additional

         21  agents will be assigned to areas south of Canal

         22  Street as part of the redevelopment of Lower

         23  Manhattan, to the Atlantic Avenue Revitalization

         24  Project, to the enforcement of bus lanes, to school

         25  corridors, to other highly-congested areas and to
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          2  construction sites throughout the City.

          3                 The hiring of 100 additional traffic

          4  agents is scheduled for early April 2006. Through

          5  these enforcement efforts, it is estimated that net

          6  summons revenue will increase by 17.4 million in

          7  Fiscal Year '07 and 20.4 million beginning in FY

          8  '08.

          9                 The Department Paid Detail Unit

         10  coordinates a program that provides off-duty

         11  uniformed security assignments to a wide variety of

         12  participating companies and organizations throughout

         13  the five boroughs.

         14                 For the first time, the funds

         15  collected from this program will be included in the

         16  Department's revenue plan. It is anticipated that a

         17  total of $1 million will be collected each year in

         18  administration fees associated with this program.

         19                 The Department incurred a cost of 3.4

         20  million for the deployment of over 300 members of

         21  the services to the Gulf Coast during Hurricane

         22  Katrina. We anticipate that the Department will be

         23  fully reimbursed by the Federal Government.

         24                 We also project increases in revenue

         25  collection for several other miscellaneous
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          2  categories, totalling 1.4 million in FY '06 and 8.1

          3  million in FY '07.

          4                 The January Plan also included

          5  additional funding for the following items: 26.5

          6  million for uniformed and civilian collective

          7  bargaining adjustments in FY '06 and 21.4 million in

          8  the out-years.

          9                 - 10 million to cover the cost of

         10  police communication technician positions associated

         11  with the recently lapsed local law enforcement block

         12  grant.

         13                 - 5.2 million in the FY '07 budget to

         14  support ongoing operations that have been

         15  historically funded by federal asset forfeiture.

         16                 - 8.2 million transferred from the

         17  Department of Education to pay for the hiring of 286

         18  additional School Safety Agents beginning in FY '07,

         19  which is in addition to the 453 positions funded in

         20  the FY '06 Executive Budget, for a total of 739 new

         21  agents who are necessary to provide adequate

         22  security in public schools throughout the City.

         23                 As a result of the Mayor's

         24  announcement this morning, the Department will

         25  exceed the peak uniformed headcount of 37,038
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          2  officers in July and January as required by the

          3  federal government.

          4                 We expect to hire approximately 2,000

          5  officers in July '06 and January '07 classes.

          6                 Referring back to the January Plan,

          7  our civilian full-time headcount was increased from

          8  9,567 in FY '06 to 9,751 in FY '07, mainly due to

          9  the addition of 117 Traffic Enforcement Agents for

         10  the Traffic Enforcement Initiative mentioned above,

         11  and the restoration of civilian headcount reduction,

         12  192 positions.

         13                 The FY '07 part-time staffing is

         14  7,961, which includes School Safety Agents, school

         15  crossing guards, police cadets and college aids.

         16                 The total civilian authorized

         17  headcount is expected to be 17,712, the Fiscal Year

         18  2007.

         19                 In regards to civilianization, as a

         20  result of the arbitration decision in the case of

         21  District Council 37 versus the City of New York, the

         22  Department hired 90 police administrative aids in

         23  July 2005.

         24                 Of these, 87 completed training and

         25  were assigned to precincts, housing and transit
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          2  commands in September of 2005.

          3                 Police officers who previously

          4  performed clerical tasks were reassigned to patrol

          5  and enforcement duties.

          6                 In my submitted statement I referred

          7  to the fact that the Department requested funds from

          8  OMB for 200 additional PAAs.

          9                 The Mayor has approved that, plus the

         10  hiring of 200 more administrative aids, for a total

         11  of 400.

         12                 We plan to hire the first half of

         13  this contingent as follows: Eighty in June, 80 in

         14  August, and 40 plus any backfills in October. An

         15  additional 200 PAAs will be added later in the

         16  fiscal year.

         17                 This hiring schedule takes into

         18  consideration that the Police Academy can

         19  accommodate a maximum of 80 PAAs per training

         20  session, each of which runs for seven weeks.

         21                 The Department supports the

         22  civilianization process and will continue to seek

         23  funding for this purpose.

         24                 Our Fiscal Year 2006 overtime

         25  spending projection is 402 million, nearly 83

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  million of which will be reimbursed through grants

          3  and other revenues, leaving a balance of 319 million

          4  to be paid with City funds.

          5                 This is 19 million or six percent

          6  more than the 300 City funds spent in Fiscal Year

          7  2005.

          8                 The main reason for the increased use

          9  of City funds is a decrease of 21.2 million in

         10  federal funds for Operation Atlas overtime, as

         11  compared to last fiscal year.

         12                 In addition, since the beginning of

         13  Fiscal Year 2006, major unplanned events have

         14  required the deployment of police officers on

         15  overtime.

         16                 These City-funded events included

         17  enhanced police protection to the MTA transit system

         18  in response to the July 7th terrorist attack on

         19  London's mass transit system, by deploying

         20  additional offices to the City's 468 train stations

         21  during the morning and evening rush hours.

         22                 This coverage is projected to cost

         23  $43.2 million in overtime, which 6 million was

         24  reimbursed by the MTA.

         25                 The major unplanned events also
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          2  included overtime for the transit strike. At an

          3  overtime cost of 10.4 million for the deployment of

          4  uniformed personnel at potential strike locations,

          5  primary transportation facilities and traffic

          6  enforcement within the confines of each borough.

          7                 The FY '07 overtime budget is 262.9

          8  million, which is 75.9 million lower than the

          9  current FY '06 budget of 338.8 million.

         10                 The difference is mainly due to the

         11  federal funding for Operation Atlas,

         12  counter-terrorism training, and other non-City

         13  overtime funded programs currently not included in

         14  the FY '07 budget. Overtime budget reductions over

         15  the past year have also contributed to a lower

         16  overtime budget for '07.

         17                 In January '05, a reduction of 9.9

         18  million in new arrest overtime was implemented by

         19  OMB due to anticipated savings to be achieved

         20  through the efforts of the District Attorneys'

         21  offices to shorten arrest to complaint sworn time.

         22                 In the Executive FY '06 Financial

         23  Plan, funding provided as part of the police officer

         24  collective bargaining settlement does not fully fund

         25  the associated increase in overtime cost in the
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          2  outyears, and in the most recent January Plan, OMB

          3  implemented a 7.1 million reduction in the event

          4  overtime budget.

          5                 At this time the FY '07 overtime

          6  budget will be insufficient to cover the projected

          7  expenditures of 374.2 million.

          8                 As always, the Department will

          9  endeavor to achieve overtime savings where possible.

         10                 To management attention and the

         11  efforts of the Department's overtime assessment

         12  committee, the Department has reduced the uniformed

         13  deployment to monitored planned events, and

         14  consequently planned events over time has decreased

         15  by a cumulative total of 42.9 million since calendar

         16  year 2002.

         17                 In January, the Mayor also released a

         18  Fiscal Year 2007 Preliminary Capital Budget and

         19  January Capital commitment plan which totals 470.8

         20  million for the Police Department and covers Fiscal

         21  Years 2006 to 2009.

         22                 In this plan, the Department was able

         23  to secure an additional 11.6 million above the

         24  four-year capital plan target of 459.2 million. An

         25  additional 9.6 million was provided for the
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          2  construction of the new 120th Precinct in Staten

          3  Island.

          4                 The total approved budget for this

          5  facility was currently in the design stage, now

          6  $46.1 million.

          7                 Of this amount, 33.2 million is

          8  predicated on the availability of City Council Reso

          9  A appropriations.

         10                 Although 33.2 million is included in

         11  the Department's capital commitment plan targets,

         12  there are no appropriations associated with this

         13  funding at this time.

         14                 In order to utilize the City Council

         15  Reso A funds, the City Council needs to make

         16  appropriations available during the FY '07 adoption

         17  process this June.

         18                 Without the City Council's

         19  appropriations, the Department cannot proceed with

         20  the construction of this facility.

         21                 The Department is also moving forward

         22  with the design and planning construction of new

         23  121st Precinct in Staten Island.

         24                 We are working with DCAS to acquire a

         25  suitable site for this project. Although the
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          2  boundaries of the precinct are still under study,

          3  the precinct is expected to deliver police service

          4  the neighborhoods, such as Mariner's Harbor,

          5  Graniteville, Elm Park, Bloomfield, New Springville

          6  and Travis.

          7                 Currently the Department has an

          8  approved budget of $25 million for the construction

          9  of this facility, but based on recent completed

         10  projects, it is estimated that a total of 31.7

         11  million, or an increase of 6.7 million will be

         12  needed to complete the project.

         13                 Once the project reaches 50 percent

         14  of design development, a joint engineering review

         15  will be conducted with OMB concerning the scope,

         16  specifications and prevailing construction cost.

         17  Upon conclusion of this review of the budget, the

         18  budget will need to be adjusted.

         19                 Other new precinct plans include the

         20  construction of new 40th, 66th, 70th, and 110th

         21  Precincts. For the new 40th Precinct, a City-owned

         22  site has been identified at East 149th Street and

         23  Saint Ann's Avenue in the Bronx.

         24                 For the new 66th, 70th and 110th

         25  Precincts, OMB has directed DCAS to work with the
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          2  Department to begin the process of searching and

          3  identifying sites that can be acquired.

          4                 We are also considering the

          5  possibility of constructing the new precincts in

          6  their present locations which would require a

          7  temporary relocation of personnel.

          8                 Currently, the estimated costs of

          9  these projects are higher than the budgeted amount

         10  of $25 million each. But as with the 121st Precinct,

         11  an engineering study will be conducted in

         12  coordination with OMB, and funding requirements will

         13  be updated at that time.

         14                 These projects are currently

         15  scheduled for the outyears. There are also several

         16  NYPD rehabilitation projects that have either

         17  commenced or are nearing completion.

         18                 These include a major renovation,

         19  restoration of the landmark Central Park Precinct

         20  which is currently in design and has an approved

         21  budget of 29.6 million. The rehabilitation of the

         22  9th Precinct, which is underway and scheduled for

         23  completion in June of this year, and the

         24  rehabilitation of the 17th Precinct for which a

         25  design has been finalized and an anticipated 12
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          2  month completion date has been set.

          3                 So, thank you for the opportunity to

          4  discuss these issues, and I look forward to

          5  answering any questions you might have.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          7  Commissioner. Let me first recognize some other

          8  Council Members. Council Member Dilan has joined us,

          9  as well as Council Member McMahon. Thank you both.

         10                 Commissioner, let's start with some

         11  homeland security money questions.

         12                 You said that you've applied for 219

         13  million this year. What did you apply for last year

         14  and what did you receive?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Oh, I'm going to

         16  have to defer to somebody with the book in front of

         17  them. I can't give you the number off the top of my

         18  head.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: Ed

         20  Allocco, Deputy Commissioner of Management and

         21  Budget.

         22                 As the Commissioner pointed out in

         23  his testimony, the application process has changed

         24  from last year to this year. So, last year the City

         25  knew what its allocation would be, and then it
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          2  determined how it would spend that.

          3                 This year we have a competitive grant

          4  application process. We've gotten numerous items

          5  from our application that goes through OMB, and then

          6  through the State and into the federal government,

          7  Department of Homeland Security. That included that

          8  reimbursement for overtime costs for Operation

          9  Atlas, training equipment, personal protective

         10  equipment, the computer system initiatives.

         11  Actually, it's a very long and detailed list of

         12  things that we were refunded for last year.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How much funding

         14  did you receive in total last year?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: Okay,

         16  last year, well federal Fiscal Year 2005, we

         17  received $74.2 million.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And this year

         19  you're requesting 219 million?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Correct.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's a huge

         23  difference there. I'm assuming that the 74.2 was not

         24  sufficient to meet your needs, nor was it what you

         25  had originally requested from the federal
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          2  government?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, well, we

          4  spend, we believe, I think the last testimony was

          5  $170 million a year on our counter-terrorism

          6  initiatives. So, obviously we didn't receive that.

          7                 But as Commissioner Allocco said, and

          8  I said in my prepared remarks, you know, the process

          9  has changed now so we're competing with other

         10  cities, other jurisdictions.

         11                 We may receive more, we hope we'll

         12  receive more. There's no guarantees. It's shifted to

         13  a threat-based analysis which is what we wanted them

         14  to do. Again, there's no guarantee that a

         15  significant increase in funds is going to come our

         16  way.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: They have

         18  shifted to that system, and at your request, we did

         19  pass a unanimous resolution calling for that here.

         20  However, as you mentioned, they did eliminate some

         21  programs, and in addition, what you didn't mention,

         22  they also included natural disasters in the formula.

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: For areas of the

         25  country which will get funding from this pot.

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 So, do you have an opinion as to

          3  whether this new formula is better or worse for the

          4  City?

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think we have

          6  to wait and see.

          7                 We'll find out, I think in the end of

          8  May, May 31st, we'll see if the process is done with

          9  credibility. Because if it is, then we should get a

         10  significant amount of money. There's no question

         11  about it that the intelligence community believes

         12  there's a consensus that New York is the top of the

         13  terrorist target list. We're spending a lot of

         14  money. We're protecting national assets here on our

         15  own dime, and we deserve a lot more money.

         16                 We'll see what happens in May.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I agree.

         18  Anything we can do to help.

         19                 How has it been -- recently they've

         20  changed the formula to allow for overtime

         21  compensation from their anti-terror funds, and I'm

         22  told that their discussion is underway now to

         23  finally allow this money to be used for straight

         24  salary. Can you update us on those situations?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Discussions are
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          2  ongoing. The Mayor had a meeting with Secretary

          3  Chertoff, I had a meeting with Secretary Chertoff.

          4  We put these issues forward, and we'll see what

          5  happens.

          6                 I think some of it depends on

          7  legislation, but some of it is administrative

          8  decisions on the part of homeland security. Yes,

          9  that's the bulk of our expenses, as far as our

         10  counter-terrorism initiatives or personnel costs.

         11  So, we clearly would like to see a shift in that

         12  direction.

         13                 This is something I remember from my

         14  time in the federal government that they, you just

         15  resist as kind of a kneejerk response. So, it might

         16  be a heavy lift to change that, but we're hopeful.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I don't think

         18  people realize, and even some people in this room,

         19  they think anti-terror duty means standing by the

         20  bridge, and sometimes it does mean that, but for

         21  anyone who saw 60 Minutes program the other night

         22  with you on it, the entire unit of people in the

         23  building doing nothing but going through

         24  communications and every sort of anti-terror

         25  initiative imaginable, you're replicating here on
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          2  New York City's level.

          3                 There are people just working

          4  day-to-day in a building, no longer on the street,

          5  not protecting anything, you know, with a gun that

          6  you are paying, and we need to be reimbursed for

          7  that, because as you've said, we are the front lines

          8  against terrorism. The front lines in the fight

          9  against terrorism --

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:-- In the cities

         12  that are attacked.

         13                 One of the things that's bothered me

         14  and yourself is the fact that much of this Urban

         15  Initiative money goes to the State. They take three

         16  percent of our money, that was 42 million in 2005.

         17  I've been corresponding with Mr. McMahon from the

         18  State Office of Homeland Security, and he's -- I've

         19  sent you some of these letters, I believe, and he

         20  stated that he's using that money here in New York

         21  City.

         22                 He said that they provide critical

         23  support of the efforts here in New York City and

         24  that through his discussions with Commissioner

         25  Kelly, he is keenly aware of our needs and will
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          2  continue to identify and use these resources to

          3  ensure that, basically that New York City is

          4  protected. And he says that he's used this money to

          5  protect our infrastructure with use of national

          6  guard troops and things of that nature.

          7                 You and I have discussed this in the

          8  past, and you have stated that you have not seen any

          9  of these state efforts, nor have you worked

         10  cooperatively with Mr. McMahon. I wanted to know if

         11  any of that has changed, or does that still stand?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, Mr. McMahon

         13  is a fine government official. I have an excellent

         14  relationship with him. But the best of our

         15  calculations are that we have received, with all of

         16  the money that the State has taken, we have received

         17  a total of $8.8 million. I don't know what other

         18  expenditures you're referring to, other than

         19  perhaps, there are some National Guard deployments

         20  in Grand Central Station and Penn Station.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How often does

         22  that happen?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think it ebbs

         24  and flows, they make a determination as to when to

         25  do it. There may be an increased threat, they'll

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  mobilize some individual. They do have some there on

          3  a steady basis.

          4                 They're not mandated to take 20

          5  percent. Of course they have to. Under the way the

          6  law is written, they are required to distribute a

          7  minimum of 80 percent to localities.

          8                 So, they have decided to take the 20

          9  percent.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And they've

         11  decided to give that money, they give more to Nassau

         12  and Suffolk and some of our surrounding areas than

         13  they give to us. But you and I will discuss that

         14  because I do want to prepare a response to Mr.

         15  McMahon about this.

         16                 As you said, there is no need for

         17  them to be taking more money. It's 20 percent, and

         18  not giving it back to us. But that's just something

         19  we say here every day in the City Council, the State

         20  taking the City money and not giving it back to us.

         21  But I don't think any place is more important than

         22  when it comes to security.

         23                 Something that we've also been

         24  calling for, for five years now, is a new -- is a

         25  back-up center for 9-1-1, PSAC II. As far as I see,
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          2  we're nowhere near completion of that. In fact, last

          3  year you testified it was your understanding the

          4  site had been found in the Bronx Psychiatric

          5  facility to establish this.

          6                 Last week DoITT testified that there

          7  was not even a site found yet. Where are we with the

          8  development of a back-up 9/1/1 center?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, to the best

         10  of my knowledge a site has been located, it's at the

         11  location of the former Bronx Psychiatric Hospital, I

         12  think in the 49th Precinct, I believe, in the Bronx.

         13                 It's still several years down the

         14  road, there's no question about that. It's going to

         15  take us awhile to get there.

         16                 We do have, to a certain extent, a

         17  very small alternative answering center that we have

         18  in our headquarters building, but that's certainly

         19  not adequate for the long term. So, we need the

         20  center, and it's several years away.

         21                 But despite, to the best of my

         22  knowledge, I mean DCAS is in the process of

         23  negotiating a lease for that site.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Again, we heard

         25  that testimony last year. Do you know what the
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          2  delays are caused by?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, quite

          4  frankly, I don't.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's amazing

          6  that it's now four and a half years after 9/11 and

          7  we still don't have a back-up 9/11 center. And we

          8  don't appear to be anywhere close to having that.

          9  It's something I will also follow-up with you on. I

         10  know you feel the same way I do about this.

         11                 We were flabberghasted when the DoITT

         12  Commissioner, Acting Commissioner said that he was

         13  not aware of a site last week, and that's just

         14  unacceptable.

         15                 Let's get to a better topic, the new

         16  officers. I have a whole list of questions here

         17  about what you would do with the 1,000 officers that

         18  the City Council proposed last year, we can now

         19  change that to how do you think -- I know you just

         20  announced this a few minutes ago, but how do you

         21  intend to use the 800 new officers and the officers

         22  that are freed up by the hiring of 400 civilians to

         23  continue to win the fight against crime?

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we'd like

         25  to, for the most part, focus for the most part on
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          2  patrol precincts, increasing the uniform personnel

          3  on patrol.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I didn't prep

          5  you to say that. At the 114 especially.

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: You know that

          7  we've created a Counter-Terrorism Bureau, we have

          8  reformed and reinforced our Intelligence Division.

          9  We also do major Atlas deployments every day. Those

         10  officers that are doing that are coming essentially

         11  ultimately from patrol commands. That's the base of

         12  the Department.

         13                 So, we want to deploy these officers

         14  as much as possible on patrol, uniform patrol. We

         15  don't want to have quality of life slip at all in

         16  the City. We want to continue to suppress crime and

         17  the best way to do that is to have a more robust

         18  uniform presence in our patrol commands.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Many of us are

         20  happy to hear that, we've been calling for more

         21  precinct strength for ages. It's down to some of the

         22  lowest levels we've ever seen. We know you've taken

         23  those officers for needed duty elsewhere, such as

         24  security. I mean, counter-terrorism efforts and

         25  sometimes for Operation Impact and sometimes for
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          2  events, some planned, some not planned, but many of

          3  us have failed to see in recent years the beat cop

          4  that we used to see, the bike cop that we used to

          5  see, and hopefully these new officers will go a long

          6  way to putting those officers back into our

          7  precincts, which people on the street really do like

          8  to see, and need to see.

          9                 I'm going to defer some questions on

         10  those new police officers until perhaps our next

         11  budget hearing when you have a little more time to

         12  work that in.

         13                 The civilianization situation. Let me

         14  say, again, that I had pages of questions to ask on

         15  that, which we're going to skip and maybe hit next

         16  meeting when you've had some time to implement this

         17  plan.

         18                 But I'm very heartened to see that

         19  your last sentence on page five says that the

         20  Department supports the civilianization process and

         21  will continue to seek funding for this purpose. It's

         22  something that we here in this Committee in the City

         23  Council have been calling for. At this early hour,

         24  how do you intend to implement the hiring and the

         25  use of these 400 new civilians?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, again, we

          3  focus on our patrol commands. Any officers who are

          4  doing some administrative work out on patrol, and

          5  use our civilians to do those administrative tasks.

          6  We estimate that there are approximately 700

          7  civilianizable positions in the Department. And, you

          8  know, we've always supported civilianization.

          9                 I've always been concerned about the

         10  aspect of reducing uniformed headcount when you

         11  civilianize, because I think we need all the police

         12  officers that we can get.

         13                 Obviously, with the increase in

         14  uniformed headcount, you know, that concern right

         15  now is off the table.

         16                 So, we fully support the concept of

         17  civilianization.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Again, we're

         19  glad to hear that.

         20                 One question I do have, though, that

         21  people are interested in is the fact that Office of

         22  Labor Relations established the Committee to oversee

         23  the implementation of civilianization.

         24                 Apparently there is yet to be a

         25  Police Department representative on that Committee.
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          2  Do you have plans to appoint someone to that, or has

          3  someone been appointed?

          4                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: To the best of my

          5  knowledge, we've been talking to OLR on this issue.

          6  I don't know if represented it at the Committee or

          7  not. If we don't have a representative there, we

          8  will.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's good to

         10  hear that. I have many more questions about specific

         11  issues. But let me defer this to my Council members

         12  who are patiently waiting and if anything is not

         13  touched upon, I will come back to it.

         14                 First, Council Member Katz.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 And Commissioner, thank you, once

         18  again, for the respect that you show this Committee

         19  by coming here and spending the time that we need

         20  with you to answer the questions. We always

         21  appreciate it.

         22                 I have a few questions that hopefully

         23  are relatively brief. You testified a few weeks ago

         24  about the Nixzmary Brown case, and as you remember I

         25  was very concerned, as we all were, about the
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          2  follow-up and the recommendations that you were

          3  going to make to the Mayor.

          4                 My understanding was you were

          5  supposed to make the recommendations on March 10th,

          6  if I'm not mistaken. I was wondering what happened

          7  with that, and whether or not -- I don't know how

          8  the budget is going to be affected by that, that

          9  would depend upon your recommendations, but I was

         10  wondering whether you made them, and what they were?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we

         12  assembled a working group in the Department. We put

         13  together I think a very thoughtful comprehensive

         14  product. We submitted that to Deputy Mayor Gibbs,

         15  and she's incorporating that in a more over-arching

         16  report on all aspects of the Nixzmary Brown issue.

         17                 I've submitted them. We've submitted

         18  them, and that's going forward.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: We haven't made

         20  them public yet.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, they have

         22  not.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: You don't want

         24  to pick this forum to do that, do you?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I prefer not to.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.

          3                 I appreciate that. We look forward to

          4  it.

          5                 Do you know approximately when those

          6  recommendations will be made public?

          7                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: In the near term,

          8  it's up to the Deputy Mayor who is presenting it to

          9  the Mayor. I can't tell you exactly where in the

         10  process we are.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I guess one of

         12  the reasons I'm asking, clearly, is because you talk

         13  about the increased caseloads, since the Nixzmary

         14  Brown case. So, as we move forward we look forward

         15  to seeing those. The second issue is the PSAC II. It

         16  was in front of my committee that I guess the Acting

         17  Commissioner from DoITT testified once again that we

         18  don't have a site. And I know this isn't you. I

         19  understand that. I just would ask that perhaps there

         20  is coordination between the Police Department and

         21  DoITT. Because this is the second year, you should

         22  know this, that we know from your Department and

         23  it's always a good thing that we know that the site

         24  is being selected and then DoITT doesn't seem to

         25  coordinate with whoever it is on that. And it's a
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          2  little frustrating for us because it's a lot of

          3  money in the budget for capital.

          4                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well DoITT has

          5  been extremely cooperative, helpful, to the Police

          6  Department since I've been there.

          7                 My information is that this site has

          8  been selected. And there may be some issues as far

          9  as negotiating the lease with the landlord and

         10  that's the last information I had.

         11                 But even last year we were talking

         12  about this particular site.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes.

         14                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It hasn't

         15  changed. The location hasn't changed, as far as I

         16  know.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And my last

         18  question. I know there's a lot of folks that want to

         19  ask questions.

         20                 Is the new police officers, is 800

         21  new police officers, is that the net number? How

         22  many are we losing through attrition?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we lose

         24  eight to ten officers a day, on average, and it

         25  really is a function of the hirings that took place
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          2  in the mid-eighties. These retirements that we have

          3  now are historically consistent. So, we have a large

          4  number of retirements and that number will continue

          5  into probably mid-2007, and based on the hires that

          6  we had 20 years ago. So, every day our headcount

          7  changes. It is a living number.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: You lose 3,000

          9  officers a year?

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Through

         12  attrition?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. Again, 80

         14  percent of police officers, when they reach their

         15  20th anniversary retire. Sergeants, about 65

         16  percent, detectives. It changes somewhat, depending

         17  on the rank.

         18                 So, this Administration has hired

         19  about 11,500 officers in four years, and retired out

         20  almost 15,000 during that time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Which is a

         22  three- to four-thousand loss over the last four

         23  years.

         24                 So, this number increases from last

         25  year, though, it doesn't increase from the top?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I'm sorry?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: The number, the

          4  800 new officers then, what is the net from last

          5  year to this year?

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, again,

          7  we'll have a target. We'll have an authorized

          8  headcount. The authorized headcount is 37,038, and

          9  we have to hit that twice a year because of an

         10  agreement that we have with the federal government,

         11  because we got some federal money.

         12                 So, just add 800 onto that, 37,838

         13  would be our --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It's on top of

         15  what our projections --

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Again, you know,

         17  the day after we hit that it will go down, or that

         18  day it will go down.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, it is on top

         20  of the projections that we're supposed to have,

         21  considering all the gain and losses through

         22  attrition.

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: That's great. I

         25  appreciate your time. Thank you.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Okay, thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          4  Council Member Katz.

          5                 I know, Commissioner, you testified

          6  on page four about hiring an additional 100 traffic

          7  agents. I defer my questioning on that, because who

          8  better to ask those questions than Chair of our

          9  Transportation Committee, John Liu.

         10                 I know in the past you've hired, I

         11  think it was in 2004, 300 agents, and planned on

         12  them bringing in something like 85 million. I'm

         13  pretty sure those targets were hit, and so let's

         14  defer now to Council Member Liu, Chair of our

         15  Transportation Committee, to ask whatever questions

         16  he deems appropriate.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very

         18  much, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 Thank you, Commissioner, for joining

         20  us this morning, and your terrific top brass.

         21                 The 800 new police officers, do we

         22  have any idea where the new 800 police officers will

         23  be deployed? Are they all going to the precincts?

         24  Are maybe 25 percent of them going into the subway

         25  system? Do we have a sense of a rough breakdown?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, it's kind

          3  of premature to do that. The announcement was just

          4  made today.

          5                 But any police academy class that

          6  graduates, and they'll be part of a 2000-person

          7  class when they graduate, a portion of that class

          8  will go to the Housing Bureau, a portion will go to

          9  our Transit Bureau, and the rest will go to our

         10  Patrol Services Bureau.

         11                 So, you know, it's hard to say but

         12  ten, 15 percent.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. And

         14  the Patrol Bureau, those are the cops in the

         15  precinct; is that what they are?

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Do they include

         18  the traffic agents, or are those not part of the

         19  800?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, they are part

         21  of the Transportation Bureau. Traffic agents.

         22  They're not in patrol.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. So, the 800

         24  that was announced today do not include the 100

         25  additional traffic agents?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: These are police

          3  officers. Sworn police officers with the 800.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I see.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Even though they

          6  wear a uniform, they are under our hiring category

          7  civilian employees.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. For

          9  the 100 additional traffic agents, I think I'm

         10  reading that there is an increase in the budget of

         11  about four- to five-million dollars; is that

         12  correct?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: You mean revenue

         14  that it will generate, or you're talking about what

         15  it costs?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes. What's the

         17  expense budget for the additional 100 officers? Or

         18  agents, I should say.

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: There is a cost

         20  of hiring, and I think in my prepared remarks it was

         21  a cost of, there was an amount of projected revenue

         22  that will generate.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right. But what's

         24  the cost? What's the projected cost of these 100

         25  agents?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: I think

          3  it was stated in the Financial Plan. I can find that

          4  for you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: No, I just wanted

          6  to confirm that. I think it says here underline --

          7  or the Unit of Appropriations 007, if you can

          8  imagine that, $77.7 million for the adopted Fiscal

          9  '06 budget. And the preliminary '07 is about $82

         10  million. So, we're talking about a four- to

         11  five-million dollar increase for those, presumably

         12  for those 100 additional traffic agents. Does that

         13  sound about right?

         14                 I just want to make sure I'm in the

         15  right area here.

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. It depends

         17  on what cost you're including. It costs us roughly

         18  $45,000 to hire a civilian employee.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right, so

         20  that puts us right in the range, four- to

         21  five-million dollars for additional 100 officers.

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And we're

         24  expecting about $25 million a year in ticket

         25  revenues.
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          2                 So, I mean, I guess that's --

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think it's less

          4  than that. I think it's a number of 17 million.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, 17 in the

          6  first year, 20 --

          7                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: In the second

          8  year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: You know, once I

         10  guess they're fully trained, if you will. According

         11  to our estimates in the City Council, we have a

         12  budget briefing paper that says that it's about $25

         13  million extra in ticket revenues. Obviously, it's

         14  probably, let's say 20- to 25-million dollars a year

         15  additional ticket revenue.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: Yes, I

         17  think what you're referring to is the gross revenues

         18  and the net revenues. The gross revenues are then

         19  ingested by the cost of the hiring, the salaries,

         20  the fringe benefits, pensions, of those 117 Traffic

         21  Enforcement Agents.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I see.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: I don't

         24  have the exact number in front of me, but I think

         25  that's in the ball park.

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. So,

          3  the 17 million the first fiscal year and the 20

          4  million in the next fiscal year, that's expected to

          5  be generated, revenue expected to be generated by

          6  these 100 officers. That's already net of what it

          7  costs to pay them.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: That's

          9  correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, that's the

         11  four- to five-million dollar difference between what

         12  we have and what your testimony provides.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: That's

         14  right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Why don't we just

         16  go ahead and hire 200 more officers, agents? Is it a

         17  function of it requiring some time to train these

         18  agents to be able to get out there on the street?

         19                 You know, what makes 100 the number

         20  of additional traffic agents that we need?

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, there's a

         22  function of training space, training time. We talked

         23  about even our civilianization program is impacted

         24  to a certain extent on training space in the Police

         25  Academy.
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          2                 We have a Police Academy that was

          3  built and a staff of people, and everybody is not

          4  necessarily trained in the Police Academy, we have a

          5  Police Academy that was constructed for 600 male

          6  students in 1960s, '68. We now will have a class,

          7  for instance, of 2,000 officers in this building.

          8  So, it impacts, and we need the staff to do it. So,

          9  it impacts on training throughout the Department.

         10  It's a challenge that we have to meet.

         11                 So, you know, when you talk about

         12  what drives a number, a headcount number in a

         13  particular area, there's a lot of considerations

         14  that have to be given to where do you house them,

         15  how do you train them, that sort of thing.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, my sense is

         17  that it's logistical constraint that we have on the

         18  number of additional traffic agents that can be

         19  hired.

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Partly.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Is it a small

         22  part or is it a significant part?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, it's a part

         24  of it. I mean, what is your point?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Because it seems
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          2  like, obviously over the years, over the last couple

          3  of years, on the street, in our offices, from our

          4  constituents, there definitely has been a marked

          5  rise in the number of complaints from our

          6  constituents about the kinds of parking tickets that

          7  people are receiving.

          8                 And, so, when we hear that the City

          9  is going to hire an additional 100 agents, I think

         10  it's reasonable for us to ask why is it that we're

         11  hiring 100, what makes 100 the matching number? Why

         12  not 200? And I think from what I'm hearing here is

         13  that it's a practical consideration in terms of

         14  where to put them during training, how it impacts on

         15  training other police, or other personnel in the

         16  Department, particularly police officers. It's more

         17  of a logistical --

         18                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: A part of it,

         19  yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: When we, and I

         21  think the NYPD and you, Commissioner Kelly, have

         22  done a yeoman's job of putting additional officers

         23  into the subway system, for obvious reasons, as you

         24  stated in your testimony. And we put those

         25  additional officers, because there is a clear need
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          2  to protect people who are riding our subway system,

          3  particularly because in New York City we're on the

          4  front lines, and as we have seen in other cities,

          5  the subway system is a prime target, unfortunately.

          6                 It would be nice, though, if someone

          7  could tell us that the 100 new traffic agents are

          8  due to be hired because of the increased number of

          9  traffic accidents arriving from illegal parking and

         10  moving violations, that there is a need that is

         11  specifically being addressed, that hiring 100 new

         12  Traffic Agents is addressing a problem that we have

         13  in this City.

         14                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, sure it is.

         15  Have you tried to drive across town, or drive down

         16  here in Lower Manhattan, or construction sites, all

         17  of the construction that's going on, we still have,

         18  and we have and will continue to have significant

         19  double-parking, congestion problems, traffic control

         20  problems throughout the City. So, there's clearly a

         21  need.

         22                 I didn't know if that's what you were

         23  looking for. Maybe you think there isn't a need, but

         24  I certainly think there's a need. I drive around the

         25  City, and your constituents, I assume, don't like to
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          2  get summonses or tickets. I understand that. But

          3  there is a major congestion problem in every borough

          4  of this City.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, that has

          6  always been, I think a valid reason for issuing

          7  parking tickets. We want to keep people safe. We

          8  want to keep the traffic moving.

          9                 The kinds of tickets, though, that

         10  have been issued in the last couple of years, and,

         11  you know, we had some testimony from the

         12  Administration just a few weeks ago that talked

         13  about how the agents were issuing a large number of

         14  tickets that ultimately were dismissed. Nearly 100

         15  percent of those tickets being dismissed. Half a

         16  million tickets expecting to provide about, well,

         17  tens of millions of dollars of revenue, and

         18  ultimately being dismissed.

         19                 And even more disturbingly, from the

         20  point of issuing those tickets, the City already

         21  understood that they were most likely going to be

         22  dismissed, if the people receiving those tickets

         23  were to contest that.

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, you talk to

         25  the City, it's some sort of monolith. I don't think
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          2  the Police Department was aware of that. I think

          3  serious discussions have to be engaged in with the

          4  Department of Finance and the Police Department, as

          5  far as that decision not to have hearings or just to

          6  dismiss in bulk. And we do plan to have those

          7  meetings but to me it's -- I think we have to look

          8  at that in terms of whether or not that's sound

          9  public policy.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Sure.

         11                 For years Chairman Vallone and

         12  several of our colleagues, myself included, we have

         13  supported implicitly the need to keep traffic moving

         14  and to keep people safe by enforcing against illegal

         15  parking and moving violations.

         16                 And I think we have been supportive

         17  generally because we understood the need, the City

         18  is getting more crowded. There are a lot of

         19  construction projects out there that add to the

         20  congestion. But at some point we get the kinds of

         21  complaints that really don't make sense.

         22                 The fact that the City had been

         23  issuing a huge number of parking tickets that it

         24  knew was going to be dismissed. That's a big

         25  problem. And the City is, City Hall, including the
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          2  Department of Transportation, the Department of

          3  Finance, the NYPD, it is a monolith for the average

          4  New Yorker out there who is getting the summonses,

          5  many of them on a daily basis, and they don't know

          6  exactly who to turn to, whose fault it is. It's just

          7  the City coming down hard on these average New

          8  Yorkers.

          9                 And, so, Commissioner, I certainly

         10  would hope that especially when we have a large

         11  number of new traffic agents, that we coordinate

         12  closely with all of the other departments,

         13  recognizing that there are different departments

         14  involved.

         15                 The Department of Finance is putting

         16  together a program that is helping the little guys

         17  fight tickets that they are getting en masse,

         18  because the Department of Finance fully expects that

         19  if it went through the adjudication process, those

         20  tickets would be dismissed.

         21                 So, the Department of Finance is

         22  actually helping the little guy, or as they say,

         23  protecting the little guy, against the ticketing,

         24  the undue ticketing that they're suffering from.

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Why do you say
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          2  undue? I mean, you just assume that they are right?

          3  You know, double-parking is a major problem in this

          4  City. It impedes emergency vehicles from parking.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: We don't doubt

          6  that.

          7                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: So, we are

          8  responding. That's our duty to enforce the law.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Now, someone

         11  apparently has interpreted that you can double park

         12  and unload a commercial vehicle for three hours and

         13  that's considered expeditious parking. To me --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: It's not what

         15  we're saying. It's not what our constituents are

         16  saying, it's what the Department of Finance is

         17  saying that most tickets, nearly 100 percent of

         18  those tickets get dismissed. And they don't just

         19  simply know about it after the fact, they know about

         20  it before the fact.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Then it's a

         22  serious question for the Department of Finance.

         23  Because, you know, just because it expedites their

         24  hearing process, doesn't mean it's sound public

         25  policy.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But it's nearly

          3  100 percent.

          4                 I mean, if we were talking about ten

          5  percent, even 20 percent of the tickets being

          6  dismissed and knowing about that after the fact,

          7  that's a different issue from knowing beforehand

          8  nearly 100 percent of those tickets will be

          9  dismissed.

         10                 Anyway, Chairman Vallone is asking me

         11  to wrap it up. I would urge that your Department,

         12  Commissioner, coordinate more closely with the other

         13  departments involved and make sure that the traffic

         14  agents know the law.

         15                 In this case, the law is very clear,

         16  that the companies involved in expeditious

         17  deliveries are permitted to double park. Now, I

         18  don't necessarily agree. I don't agree with that law

         19  in all cases, but we should change it rather than

         20  simply going out there and giving tickets to law

         21  abiding citizens.

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Expeditious

         23  delivery has been determined for many, many years,

         24  when I was a police officer, 30 minutes. Now we have

         25  an interpretation that says it's three hours. Does
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          2  that make sense? Is that common sense? Living in

          3  this 8.1 million population in the City, that you

          4  can double-park in a commercial area for three hours

          5  and say that's expeditious loading?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, we should

          7  send a consistent message to all New Yorkers.

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's right. We

          9  should, and we will.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And we need to

         11  talk with the Department of Finance.

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: And we're going

         13  to continue to enforce the law.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         15  Councilman. I'm not cutting you off because --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I understand.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's very

         18  helpful. It's just that we've got a list of people

         19  here.

         20                 And, you know, I happen to agree, it

         21  is a textbook definition of one hand not knowing

         22  what the other is doing, if the Police Department is

         23  handing out tickets and the Finance Department is

         24  dismissing those tickets.

         25                 I'm glad that you will be having

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  discussions with the Finance Department and the

          3  Deputy Mayors about this situation resolving, and I

          4  happen to agree, three hours doesn't expeditious to

          5  me, and I'm not sure FedEx can usually be considered

          6  the little guy, but there may be some little guys

          7  that are caught up in this also. But I'm glad Chair

          8  Liu is addressing this situation.

          9                 Let me move to Council Member

         10  Garodnick.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman. Commissioner, nice to see you. Let me

         13  first introduce myself. I'm a new member of this

         14  Committee, a new member of the Council, representing

         15  the east side of Manhattan.

         16                 First I wanted to congratulate you on

         17  the results from last year. Obviously that is a

         18  difficult thing to do and we appreciate that that is

         19  difficult, and, so, I just wanted to congratulate

         20  you on that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Also thank

         23  you for being here today and for testifying in the

         24  joint hearing that we had recently with the General

         25  Welfare Committee on the Nixzmary Brown matter. I
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          2  noted in your testimony you said that you had added

          3  additional personnel to work on child abuse cases

          4  since that case became public. How many members of

          5  the Department have you added to work on --

          6                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We only added at

          7  that time four to the Brooklyn Child Abuse Squad. We

          8  haven't added any more. I think the workload has

          9  leveled off somewhat.

         10                 The increase was driven obviously to

         11  a certain extent by the notoriety of the Nixzmary

         12  Brown case. But we stand ready to add additional

         13  personnel.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, you

         15  added four in Brooklyn but none in the other

         16  boroughs?

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Graffiti.

         19  You mentioned a January 2005 anti-graffiti

         20  initiative.

         21                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And some

         23  success in that. An increase in arrests of 79

         24  percent in your testimony.

         25                 Just for a basis of understanding
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          2  what we're talking about, that's an increase from

          3  what to what?

          4                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I believe we had,

          5  off the top of my head, I think we had about 1,000

          6  -- I'm going to say it went from like 500 and

          7  something to well over 1,000 and that's continuing

          8  to go up.

          9                 You know, I can tell you what we've

         10  done in the area of graffiti. We've put coordinators

         11  at every level in the Department, our borough

         12  commands and our precinct commands. We created a

         13  database that, where we have all the marks of the

         14  so-called graffiti artists. We're enforcing the

         15  regulations about selling indelible markers and

         16  spray cans to under-age children.

         17                 As I said in my prepared remarks, we

         18  made presentations to 60,000 people about, you know,

         19  the problems with graffiti.

         20                 We've also, with the Mayor's Office

         21  of community assistance, enlisted the help of

         22  community groups. Because it's one thing to go out

         23  and enforce the law, it's another thing to mitigate

         24  the problem, to address the problem because graffiti

         25  is there. We've made power washers available.
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          2  There's been a whole renewed focus on the problem of

          3  graffiti throughout the City.

          4                 So, I'm encouraged by it. I feel good

          5  about it. I think it's going to go up in number.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So there

          7  are specific officers dedicated to this

          8  Anti-Graffiti Initiative?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we have a

         10  Vandalism Task Force that we've added officers to.

         11  And obviously, one of the issues also is the transit

         12  system, the trains that are being marked. We focused

         13  on that. They were at one time only doing that. We

         14  had two units doing it. We merged these units, we've

         15  added people and it is now a Citywide focus on the

         16  part of this unit.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well, I'll

         18  tell you the reason why I raised the issue. I'm

         19  obviously only two months into my service as a

         20  member of the Council, but I have heard stories in

         21  my own district of some frustration where obviously

         22  you need to gather the evidence that you need in

         23  order to arrest and convict people for graffiti

         24  crimes. Also, as a result of that, it frequently

         25  takes some time in order to get somebody who is a
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          2  designated graffiti officer over to the site where

          3  something is happening in order to preserve that for

          4  the purpose of identification, arrest and

          5  prosecution down the line. That's the story that I

          6  hear. And, of course, in the interim you have

          7  graffiti which stays put.

          8                 And, so, my question for you, I

          9  guess, is when you say you make power washers

         10  available and other things, is that something that

         11  the Police Department is able to do to actually

         12  powerwash graffiti?

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We do it, as I

         14  said, in conjunction with the Mayor's Community

         15  Assistance Office. Our Community Affairs officers

         16  work with groups and help them do that.

         17                 The graffiti is generally reported

         18  now through the 3-1-1 system. We've raised it in

         19  terms of a level of priority. But when you say

         20  getting officers to the scene, I mean, generally

         21  speaking it's not going to be something that's

         22  dispatched by 9-1-1. We have to prioritize our jobs.

         23  So, someone calls in, graffiti is in fact being

         24  applied. You may not get a police car, radio car

         25  right away, because you're doing other things.
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          2                 So, 3-1-1 is a system that we use to

          3  compile that information and dispatch officers.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: On another

          5  subject, on the anti-terror issue, it's very

          6  impressive to hear that you have liaisons in foreign

          7  capitals working in the example you gave, with

          8  having a New York City liaison right there being

          9  briefed in Amman, Jordan --

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Mm-hmm.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: -- In the

         12  event of the hotel bombings. But it seems that we

         13  have even less success with our own White House when

         14  it comes to funding for New York City relative to

         15  other parts of the country. In your testimony it

         16  said we're moving in the federal formula from

         17  three-quarters of a percent to a quarter of a

         18  percent that will be allocated as a baseline to

         19  every state; is that correct?

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, that's the

         21  position of the Administration, in their 2007

         22  budget. The federal administration has taken that

         23  position, Congress will ultimately be the ones who

         24  decide whether or not.

         25                 This is the base amount that goes to
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          2  every state.

          3                 Right now it's .75 percent. The

          4  Administration proposal is .25 percent.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And what is

          6  your view on that allocation? And just to be clear,

          7  everything above that would be based on risk or

          8  need, correct?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's right,

         10  analysis.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So what's

         12  your assessment of that, as the appropriateness of

         13  that as a funding --

         14                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I like the

         15  Administration's approach of .25 percent. I think

         16  you have to give something to the states. You know,

         17  having worked in Washington I know a little bit how

         18  the system works. You know, all politics is local

         19  and they're looking at their own states, their own

         20  districts. So, something is going to have to go to

         21  the states that have no obvious threat directed at

         22  them.

         23                 But after that, yes, I like it all

         24  ultimately distributed on the basis of a threat

         25  analysis. Now, whether or not that's done with
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          2  validity, with credibility, remains to be seen.

          3  We'll see in this late May distribution when it

          4  comes out.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Is there

          6  more that we should be doing, in your view, as the

          7  City Council, or from the perspective of the Mayor

          8  in order to ensure that this number moves from .75

          9  percent to .25 percent, or lower? I don't frankly

         10  have a sense of the advocacy that is being done by

         11  the Police Department or the Mayor with regard to

         12  this federal budgetary situation.

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, you know,

         14  the Mayor was in Washington just two weeks ago. He

         15  met with Secretary Chertoff, he met with members of

         16  Congress. I've been down there. We met with the

         17  Chairman of Homeland Security Committee, Peter King.

         18  He's very supportive. Anything the Council can do to

         19  drive this issue home, we would certainly appreciate

         20  it.

         21                 But I think we're doing as much as we

         22  reasonably can do to lobby Congress and ask them for

         23  changes in the system that's in place now.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I

         25  appreciate that, and we certainly will support you
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          2  in every way we can in order to make that happen.

          3                 Just a couple of last questions for

          4  you. I know there are a lot of questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

          6  Garodnick, just one last question.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. Last

          8  question then. As I said, last question for you. The

          9  37,038 agreement, as you described it, with the

         10  federal government, was that a minimum headcount?

         11  Was that what that was?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: That was a

         13  headcount that we had to reach twice a year. It had

         14  to do with a waiver that we got pursuant to a cops

         15  funding program. They agreed, they lowered that

         16  number that was previously locked in. We lowered

         17  that number so that we could -- we hit that number

         18  with two hires. We have to hit that number twice a

         19  year, in order to meet their requirements, the

         20  federal government's requirements. They gave us

         21  money to hire police officers two years ago, and in

         22  order to meet the requirements that they put in

         23  place, we had to hit that number twice a year.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And this

         25  was two years ago when they put it in place?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: How much

          4  money were we talking about? Just so --

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Ninety-million

          6  dollars.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:

          8  Ninety-million dollars for the hiring of officers.

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay, thank

         11  you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         13  Council member.

         14                 Again, sorry I have to cut people

         15  off. The Commissioner has two hours and we've got a

         16  number of other Council members, and many other

         17  topics, such as overtime, arrest to arraignment

         18  time, and strike reimbursement, you name it, that

         19  need to be reached, so please try to keep your

         20  questions budget-oriented and as short as possible

         21  in deference to your colleagues. Remember, there is

         22  a second budget hearing that will be held just in

         23  case you don't get to your questions.

         24                 We have been joined by Council Member

         25  Addabbo and Council Member Jackson. Thank both of
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          2  you. And now we will go to Council Member Foster for

          3  questions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Good morning,

          5  Commissioner. And, again, to reiterate what Council

          6  Member Katz said, I appreciate you being here to

          7  answer the questions and showing the Committee

          8  respect. I have a couple of brief questions. I heed

          9  the call, Peter.

         10                 How is the force doing in terms of

         11  our diversity in diversifying the force?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, I think

         13  we're doing very well. The latest numbers that I've

         14  seen are that, let me see, the Department has gone

         15  up to the 17 percent female, we're 16 percent black,

         16  African-American, and we are 23 percent Hispanic.

         17  And those numbers are all moving in the right

         18  direction.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         20  That's exactly what Council Member Katz said.

         21                 Now let me shift. For Mets and

         22  Yankees games, specifically Yankees, because I'm in

         23  the Bronx, are the officers that patrol Yankee

         24  Stadium taken from the local precincts? Or is there

         25  a separate squadron?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: There is a Yankee

          3  Stadium detail that is put together for games, and

          4  they're taken from Bronx commands, yes. But we

          5  recognize that when we assign people to the Bronx, I

          6  mean it's understood, do the same thing at Shea

          7  Stadium, as well.

          8                 There are a certain number of

          9  officers that are assigned to the Stadium from other

         10  commands, yes.

         11                 We'll use the task force, too,

         12  there's an overlay task force that will also work on

         13  game day.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Right. And I'm

         15  happy to see our former Borough Commander. We miss

         16  you.

         17                 And I'd usually run into him while he

         18  was around Yankee Stadium.

         19                 My area in the Bronx is an impact

         20  area, so, for example, 165th Street from Summit to

         21  Anderson, which is as long as I've lived there,

         22  which has been all my life, has been a heavy drug

         23  area, has seen a decrease because there is a

         24  presence. Now that the season, Yankee season is

         25  coming, I don't want to see that decrease to bring
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          2  those officers to patrol the Yankee game during game

          3  day. So that's the reason I was asking that

          4  question.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Go ahead, I'm

          7  sorry.

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No, you're

          9  talking about impact programs or 44th and 46th

         10  Precincts, we've added additional officers. We have

         11  Operation Trident, we call it, programs. It's a

         12  spinoff of a program that we had in Brooklyn, the

         13  75th Precinct. Both of those commands have received

         14  additional personnel. I think that shouldn't be

         15  impacted by the Yankee Stadium detail.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: So, I'm sorry,

         17  so that program isn't the Operation Impact that's

         18  giving me --

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It is. It is a

         20  variation of it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And with the

         22  new budget, will that stay in place in terms of

         23  those officers being at the 44?

         24                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: You know, we're

         25  going to evaluate it as we go forward.
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          2                 Usually we look at impact in

          3  six-month periods. It has to do with the Police

          4  Academy class. We take two-thirds of the Police

          5  Academy class and put them into impact zones. So, we

          6  want to see what the impact was of their work. They

          7  may remain there. They may not. Chances are that

          8  both of those commands will have a significant

          9  number of police officers remaining in them,

         10  irrespective of tradition changing and other places.

         11  They've both been challenging areas in the past, so

         12  I would say that we're going to keep a significant

         13  number of officers there.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: It would be my

         15  hope, I know I've spoken with Commander Essick, who

         16  is doing an excellent job and has really felt the

         17  community, the constituents, my feedback is that

         18  presence is felt.

         19                 Lastly, and this is my last question,

         20  it's more like a comment, to follow-up on Council

         21  Member Liu's question, the Bronx Delegation met with

         22  the Administration, we had a representative from the

         23  Police Department, and I don't remember her name. I

         24  apologize. But one of the areas we talked about, in

         25  terms of concern, is 161st Street where they're
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          2  building a new court house right next to Family

          3  Court, and the double-parking of vehicles happen to

          4  be police vehicles. And my recommendation would be

          5  right across the street there is Concourse Plaza,

          6  which is a huge parking garage, maybe we can start

          7  conversations that either at a discount or something

          8  we can get those double-parked patrol cars off 161st

          9  Street, which leaves one lane in each direction,

         10  because the officers are parked on both sides, and

         11  get them into the lot and maybe we'll get a discount

         12  fee or maybe anything, but it will open up two lanes

         13  that currently can get backed up when the

         14  construction trucks are there and the police

         15  vehicles.

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Okay, fair

         17  enough. We'll look at it. I know parking is a

         18  problem at that courthouse.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         20  Council Member.

         21                 On the topic of officers being taken

         22  from precincts or events like Yankee and Met games

         23  we may actually have a hearing on, because I've got

         24  confidential informants too and I'm told that some

         25  of the local precincts lose as many as 15 officers
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          2  during one of these night games, and could leave as

          3  few as two or three RMPs patrolling a precinct. So,

          4  something I do intend to discuss with you, something

          5  I hope these new 800 officers will help to rectify,

          6  but it's not a situation, those of us in surrounding

          7  precincts, the Stadiums can let stand.

          8                 I know there are a lot of questions

          9  regarding the new precinct in Staten Island,

         10  especially about it's potential of changing

         11  location, so let's have Council Member McMahon ask

         12  those.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chairman. Thank you for the great work you and

         15  your staff do on the issues of public safety for the

         16  people of New York.

         17                 Commissioner, you made a statement,

         18  and I wrote it down, I want to make sure that I got

         19  it right. You said, quote, Mr. McMahon is a fine

         20  government official and I have great relations with

         21  him.

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I was talking

         23  about you, sir.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes, did I

         25  get that down word-for-word? I just want to make
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          2  sure that I copied that correctly.

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: For any and all

          6  McMahons.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I was hoping

          8  you were going to say that. I didn't want to ask

          9  that question because I didn't know the answer. But

         10  thank you very much. And I have a few brief

         11  questions, as the Chair indicated, about some local

         12  issues, but I want to just give a cheer for the home

         13  town team on Staten Island. We're very fortunate

         14  under Chief Jeramante (phonetic), and in my precinct

         15  Inspector Bruno, and the other precinct commanders.

         16  I think they do an incredible job in communication

         17  and reaching out to us and letting us know what's

         18  going on. It's not a perfect world, but they work

         19  very hard to make it better, and we're very grateful

         20  for them. And I also want to thank you for assigning

         21  Inspector McKeever to the Traffic Management Task

         22  Force, because his presence has been very helpful.

         23  But not having your representative there would have

         24  rendered the work of that task force I think much

         25  less meaningful. So, we want to thank you for that.
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          2                 Recently there was an announcement

          3  about closing the Housing Police Unit on Staten

          4  Island and resigning the bulk of the force to the

          5  120 where the majority of the housing developments

          6  are, and keeping a working group out of the 122. And

          7  you were kind enough to send Chief Staville and

          8  Jaffe to meet with the three Council Members and

          9  brief us on it.

         10                 And subsequent to that, we understood

         11  it was being done for efficiency reasons, to better

         12  police these developments and perhaps for in effect

         13  cost savings and make it a budget issue. We have

         14  requested that decision be put on hold until we can

         15  see if new officers can be assigned to the new unit

         16  out of the new class, and we're just waiting for an

         17  answer back on that.

         18                 Have you made a decision whether or

         19  not to follow through on that? Are you still

         20  considering it? And what's the time frame and what

         21  will be the impact?

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We'd like to do

         23  it next month, and I think this is a win/win for

         24  everybody. What we're doing is taking police

         25  officers. The housing unit in Staten Island was
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          2  largely manned by officers in radio cars covering

          3  projects, they're somewhat spread out there, as you

          4  know. What we're doing is assigning the officers to

          5  the precincts, and then from the precinct to the

          6  individual housing facilities.

          7                 They will be either on foot or on

          8  scooter. You'll see a lot more presence at these

          9  housing facilities. It's a more efficient way to

         10  operate. I don't see any reason for us to wait,

         11  because these are officers now who are assigned to

         12  police these housing projects, they're still going

         13  to be doing that, but they're going to be doing it

         14  in an immediate way, you might say. You're going to

         15  be physically stationed there on foot or on scooter.

         16  And they'll be part of the 120th Precinct.

         17                 They've done a similar project in the

         18  Bronx, it's been very successful for us and Chief

         19  Jaffe and Chief Estavillo support it, as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Is that the

         21  housing post redeployment? Is there a consideration

         22  to increase the number of officers to make it more

         23  effective, and in effect to guarantee that there

         24  will be a presence to the Housing developments in

         25  the 122, which is southerly of the two districts?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I can assure you

          3  the presence is going to be there, but I don't think

          4  we have to increase the number of officers. I think

          5  you are going to get them more effectively and

          6  efficiently deployed by assigning them right at the

          7  facilities themselves.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, of

          9  course, that request stands, and if you would just

         10  be so kind as to keep us pointed on the developments

         11  and as the plan goes forward.

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, sir.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You mentioned

         14  the 120th Precinct, the North Shore Precinct.

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And I know

         17  that you've testified in the past that that

         18  replacement of that precinct I think was the number

         19  one priority for a full replacement of a precinct

         20  throughout the City, because it is so old, and the

         21  conditions there don't really, I could never give

         22  them proper description here in front of my

         23  colleagues, but the fact that you've identified it

         24  as such, I'm sure that they understand how imminent

         25  it is.
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          2                 In the Mayor's Executive Budget

          3  announcement of last year, it was the April

          4  announcement of last year, he highlighted the

          5  replacement of the precinct I think at that time

          6  with a budget of 30 or $33 million, as one of the

          7  highlights of his Executive Plan. I think it was

          8  understood by the Council Finance staff that meant

          9  that in, for lack of a better term that the project

         10  was a go from the Mayor's side and perhaps from the

         11  OMB side. And in today's testimony, you indicated

         12  that that project still awaits a Reso A allotment of

         13  33 million from the Council.

         14                 Why does that project, of all the

         15  ones that are in such dire need, need that Council

         16  allotment if it's something that the Mayor

         17  highlighted in his budget announcement of last

         18  April?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's my

         20  understanding from OMB. I don't know if you've been

         21  involved in these discussions or not, and I know

         22  you've been a prime mover behind this precinct for

         23  quite awhile, but this is my understanding that kind

         24  of gap-closing, the $33 million Reso A money has to

         25  be allocated by June of this year.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I mean, that

          3  is a priority. I know you've said that in the past.

          4  I don't want it to be caught up now between whether

          5  or not the Council pays for it or the Administration

          6  pays for it, because it's something that the people

          7  of the City of New York need to pay for, including

          8  Staten Island, because it's so sorely needed.

          9                 I guess at this point I've asked the

         10  Council staff to talk to OMB, and we've got to find

         11  a way to sit down and get this done, and I'll

         12  certainly reach out to your capital people and try

         13  to get it done on the Council side as well, but it

         14  seems that if the Mayor announced it in his

         15  Executive Plan of last year, that OMB should not now

         16  be saying, wait a minute, we have a 30 out of 39 --

         17  no, 46 million I guess, but two-thirds gap because

         18  the Council needs the money.

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I think that's

         20  the best way to go, have your staff and OMB talk

         21  about it. I just want to get it done.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay, thank

         23  you. Because it is still very urgent and it's on

         24  your priority list, correct?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Absolutely.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

          3                 And then lastly, and as the Chair had

          4  mentioned, the new precinct, the fourth precinct,

          5  and even the Chair I think made an assumption that

          6  there had been a site announced and now there's a

          7  change in the site, there never was a site

          8  announced, and you came out to Staten Island last

          9  week, and indicated, narrowed down an area that you

         10  were focusing on, which as you know representing the

         11  North Shore where the highest incident of crime is

         12  and where the gangs are located and where the

         13  conditions and the majority of the housing

         14  developments and the poorest socioeconomic

         15  neighborhoods of all Staten Island, I think the way

         16  that you're planning it, to capture the West Shore

         17  up and down, sort of north to south, with that

         18  location is a fine one.

         19                 Can you just tell us where that

         20  decision is? Is that a fine decision? And what are

         21  sort of the criteria that you used to locate it? And

         22  then lastly, how will the coverage be affected

         23  through the rest of the Borough? The response time I

         24  think is the term I meant to use.

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, we are
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          2  looking very favorably on the site that I mentioned.

          3  Still things have to be done. The ULURP process has

          4  to go forward. But this site makes a lot of sense to

          5  us. It's a Department of Transportation site, so

          6  it's a City site, you don't have to acquire the

          7  property.

          8                 We haven't decided on what the

          9  precinct boundaries ultimately will be. We've done a

         10  lot of work. I offered to have a team from our

         11  Office of Management Analysis and Planning go out

         12  and talk to any of our elected officials in Staten

         13  Island who may want to see the process that we're

         14  using to ultimately determine where the boundaries

         15  are. We haven't made that decision yet, where the

         16  precinct should be. But very strong indications that

         17  this is where it's going to go, Richmond Avenue and

         18  Forest Avenue intersects so-to-speak.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And, of

         20  course, you mentioned that all politics is local. We

         21  all know that, and that's what sometimes makes

         22  government difficult. And clearly, there are some

         23  who will say that, well, if it's there, then it

         24  should be somewhere else, it should be closer in my

         25  neighborhood. I want it at the end of my block.
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          2                 Do you believe if it's located there,

          3  and there really seem to be two arguments that are

          4  out there, one which I think is the correct one,

          5  looking at the crime statistics and where the high

          6  crime neighborhoods are. If there is a site like the

          7  one you've identified that can kind of address those

          8  neighborhoods as well as some gaps in encouraging

          9  response time, that should be the one that are

         10  chosen.

         11                 There are others who argue that it

         12  should be further south because of geographic

         13  distances, if you will. Do you feel that with that

         14  location, that you would be able to cover the

         15  geographic distances and therefore reduce response

         16  time as well?

         17                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, what I'd

         18  like to do is have a presentation made. It's a kind

         19  of a complex issue. I think we put a lot of time

         20  into it, and a lot of effort to it, through our

         21  Office of Management Analysis and Planning,

         22  Inspector McKeever has been involved in that process

         23  as well.

         24                 So, rather than give you

         25  off-the-top-of-my-head answers, I'd like you, or

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  whoever you choose to see the process that we're

          3  going through. Because it's a thoughtful process,

          4  and it looks at the demographics, looks at

          5  population projection, where a broker will be, those

          6  sorts of issues that are factored in.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And it

          8  obviously also considers areas where the incidents

          9  of crime are higher and projected to be higher? Is

         10  that a fact as well?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: All of those

         12  things are added in. Certainly crime statistics, any

         13  long-term crime patterns, that sort of thing,

         14  demographic information, that's all factored into

         15  what the boundaries of the precinct should be.

         16                 And then obviously property that's

         17  available, sites that's available. That's a factor

         18  as well. The ease of requiring a site.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Sure, that's

         20  a factor in siting schools as well, and we

         21  appreciate that.

         22                 But, again, I think it's the right

         23  decision, but I think you're right in understanding

         24  that the reasons would have to be explained better

         25  to the community, because those who feel that, I
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          2  guess assume that it was being built somewhere else,

          3  and now feel like the decision has been switched.

          4  Although we both know that no decision was ever made

          5  to where the site, the final location.

          6                 And then just lastly, could any

          7  consideration be given, or I ask you to give

          8  consideration if that site is chosen, to perhaps

          9  keeping the satellite office on Southern Richmond

         10  Avenue open so that there's a feeling that the

         11  coverage is covered as well.

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes. I mean,

         13  we're not going to do anything that is going to

         14  somehow undermine policing in the area. The

         15  substation worked very well. Response time in those

         16  four sectors that are covered by the substation, has

         17  gone down 53 percent. You know, they're

         18  over-the-hill so-to-speak, they don't have to

         19  respond back and forth, you know, sector integrity.

         20  So that's worked very well. The substation is

         21  working very well. So, much too premature to make a

         22  statement saying they'll do away with the

         23  substation, because it's very effective.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, we

         25  certainly are considering doing both, if possible?
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          2  It will be considered?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: I wouldn't

          4  exclude it at this time.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          6  Commissioner. Again, thank you for clarifying that

          7  initial statement I asked you about.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          9  Councilman, for cutting your questions short.

         10                 For planning purposes we have two

         11  more Council members, I can't put any more on the

         12  list, who I am asking each to keep their questioning

         13  to about five minutes, so we can keep the

         14  Commissioner on his schedule.

         15                 After the Commissioner's testimony,

         16  we'll be taking a short break before OEM

         17  Commissioner Bruno will be here.

         18                 Council Member Jackson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.

         21                 Commissioner, and your staff, good

         22  morning. I just want to talk about the school

         23  crossing guards for a second.

         24                 Speaker Christine Quinn is trying

         25  very hard to change, you've heard her, the pattern
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          2  of what she calls and what we call "the budget

          3  dance," by getting the Administration to baseline

          4  those City Council funding initiatives that are

          5  agreed upon by City agencies to be essential.

          6                 In this regard, do you feel that OMB

          7  should baseline in the Executive Budget, the 1.37

          8  billion -- not billion -- million dollars

          9  appropriations that the Council made last year for

         10  the NYPD in Fiscal Year 2006 for the hiring of

         11  additional school crossing guards?

         12                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: You know, hiring

         13  of school crossing guards has always been a

         14  challenge.  We have to hire in the local area. You

         15  know, it's not the most desirable job in the world.

         16  So, I mean if you're implying there's a lack of

         17  money, we're not hiring school crossing guards, I

         18  don't think that's the case. It just has always

         19  been, since my time in the Department, a problem in

         20  hiring sufficient school crossing guards. You hire

         21  them then they leave, because it's a part-time job,

         22  you know, they're going to walk from their house to

         23  the job.

         24                 So, do we need more? Yes, but it's

         25  not an easy sell.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, I

          3  understand that. But the point that I think that is

          4  trying to be made is the same point that my

          5  colleague from Staten Island made, as far as, you

          6  know, if this is an important function, in order to

          7  protect the children of going to school, and also

          8  protecting the City of New York by making sure that

          9  we are providing the services that are needed, and

         10  especially knowing how much we put out in legal

         11  fees, as far as lawsuits that are filed against the

         12  City of New York, we feel that certain things such

         13  as the crossing guards, such as the building of the

         14  new precinct, which as far as capital precincts are

         15  concerned is your top priority, that should not even

         16  be-- should be a no brainer, as far as we're

         17  concerned, that should be right in the Preliminary

         18  Budget, it should be in the Executive Budget. There

         19  should not be a budget dance where the

         20  Administration says, well, even though it's

         21  essential, you take it out of your little money

         22  overall when we have a $52.5 billion budget.

         23                 I think that that's the point that

         24  we're trying to communicate. And I'm just trying to

         25  find out from you whether or not you feel that it's
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          2  appropriate to have that right up front so that

          3  people know the staff that are employed at NYPD, as

          4  far as they know that these safe crossing guards are

          5  going to be there in September, not depend on a

          6  year-to-year basis whether or not the City Council

          7  puts the money back into the Executive Budget. I

          8  think that that's the point I express to you,

          9  whether or not you can have an opinion about that.

         10                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, any sort of

         11  predictability I support, in terms of what's in the

         12  budget. But, again, the school crossing issue is not

         13  an easy one for the Department.

         14                 You know, you could say, well, how

         15  come you're not hiring them, as far as I can

         16  remember, it's never been an issue of money, it's

         17  always been an issue of not being able to recruit

         18  enough people for the job.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Let me switch

         20  to an minority and woman-owned business enterprise

         21  law.

         22                 I'm sure that you're aware of, I

         23  co-chair the Black, Latino and Asian Caucus of the

         24  City Council, along with Maria del Carmen Arroyo

         25  from the Bronx. And there's 25 members of the City
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          2  Council that are actual members of the Caucus, and

          3  we made a big push last year in order to, and we

          4  worked with the Mayor's Office in order to move

          5  forward to sign into law, on December 29th, the

          6  Mayor signed into law the Minority and Woman-Owned

          7  Business Enterprise Law, and that law set several

          8  goals for each agency to achieve, as far as

          9  contracts, under a million dollars for Minority and

         10  Woman-Owned Businesses.

         11                 And each agency head is supposed to

         12  -- assigns a top-level person in order to make sure

         13  that that happens. Who have you assigned to that?

         14  And where is the NYPD, as far as moving forward to

         15  ensure that the law is being implemented?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO:

         17  Councilman, the agency --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm sorry,

         19  could you just tell me your name and title.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: Yes, Ed

         21  Allocco, Deputy Commissioner of Management and

         22  Budget.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: We have

         25  an Agency Chief Contracting Officer, his name is
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          2  Frank Bellow. He is responsible for ensuring that

          3  all contract laws and Procurement Policy Board rules

          4  are followed.

          5                 He works closely with the Mayor's

          6  Office of Contracts and ensures that all new law

          7  changes, new rules, are implemented expeditiously.

          8  So, we're in compliance.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, because

         10  that's important overall, you know, considering the

         11  fact that in this City, going back to Mayor Dinkins

         12  we had an Executive Order, when Mayor Giuliani came

         13  into office he did not fully implement the Executive

         14  Order because it's an Executive Order and was not a

         15  law. And that Executive Order expired and we felt

         16  the necessity to have an actual law.

         17                 So, regardless of what Mayor, what

         18  Administration is in place, that would increase

         19  business for the people of New York City and it's

         20  good business for New York City overall. So, I just

         21  want to, every head, agency Department head that's

         22  coming forward, I'm asking where do we stand with

         23  that particular matter.

         24                 So, I will be following up with the

         25  ACCO officer. I think it was Frank Bellow, did you
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          2  say?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ALLOCCO: That's

          4  correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Thank

          6  you very much.

          7                 Just finally, Commissioner, I'm

          8  looking at the overall budget and it seems as though

          9  from the, and you may have addressed this already,

         10  if not, if you did I'll bypass that, and if not, I'd

         11  like to have an answer.

         12                 I'm looking at your Fiscal 2006

         13  modified budget of 3.87 billion dollars, compared to

         14  the fiscal Preliminary of 3.74 billion, and that

         15  seems to be a cut of about 130 million; how is this,

         16  if in fact the Preliminary is adopted as Executive,

         17  how is that going to impact the number of officers

         18  assigned to the precincts? Because the precincts

         19  that I cover in Northern Manhattan, my district is

         20  from 123rd Street and Broadway, all the way to the

         21  end of Manhattan, which covers about six precincts

         22  and PSAs?

         23                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: The budget number

         24  have no impact at all on the number of officers

         25  assigned in your district.
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          2                 We just talked about the announcement

          3  the Mayor made, 800 additional officers are being

          4  added, 400 civilians, so all areas of the City are

          5  going to benefit from the announced additional hires

          6  on the part of the Mayor. But the numbers that you

          7  mention are not going to impact assignment of

          8  officers in any way.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         13  Council Member.

         14                 Council Member Monserrate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair. Good afternoon, Commissioner, members of

         17  the Department.

         18                 I have two very brief questions. One

         19  is just a statement regarding the school crossing

         20  guards.

         21                 Following up on my colleague's

         22  inquiries about the lack thereof in certain areas.

         23  Obviously, in my area there is a shortage, and I

         24  notice that other agencies when they have different

         25  job listings, they send us a memo or a form so that
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          2  we can all get the word out amongst our community

          3  groups and churches and civics so if there are

          4  community individuals interested in working as

          5  crossing guards, I'm sure that the Council members

          6  would volunteer their resources to get the word out.

          7  So, maybe if you can get us some type of

          8  publication?

          9                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: We'll do that,

         10  sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         12                 And my other question is regarding

         13  bulletproof vests, that the vests have been

         14  instrumental in saving the lives of several officers

         15  recently, and there have been some concerns

         16  expressed to me by different representatives with

         17  organizations within the Department vests and new

         18  vests or upgrading the vests, and my question is, is

         19  there a timetable regarding the bulletproof vests

         20  with respect to upgrading and changing them, turning

         21  them over? And is that anywhere in this budget?

         22                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: When we hire new

         23  officers we give them level 3A vests. We have about

         24  18,000 members with level 3A vests and 18,000

         25  roughly with level 2 vests. We have an inspection
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          2  program for vests. If the vest is defective at all

          3  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:

          5  Commissioner, just for the benefit of my colleagues,

          6  can you explain the difference between a level 2 and

          7  a level 3 vest?

          8                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: A level 2 vest

          9  will protect you -- again, these are all

         10  bullet-resistant vests. They're not bulletproof.

         11  There's no guarantees. But bullet-resistant vest, a

         12  level 2 will protect you from a 9 millimeter round.

         13  A level 3A vest will protect you from a magnum, 44

         14  magnum round, supposedly. That's what the

         15  manufacturer says.

         16                 We have 18,000 of each, but we're

         17  transitioning as officers come into the level 3 A

         18  vests. We also are moving towards a new vest.

         19  There's officers that come in that provide an

         20  overlap, so that if there's a change in weight,

         21  officers gain weight, that they'll be able to,

         22  they'll have some room to maneuver, so-to-speak.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Put them

         24  on the treadmill.

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Right.
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          2                 So that's our process. As I say, we

          3  do have an inspection program where our vests are

          4  inspected, if there seem to be defective or need

          5  change we do that, and we replace them with level 3A

          6  vests.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Now,

          8  there's no set timetable or initiative in place now

          9  that is going to wholesale change the level 2's to

         10  level 3's?

         11                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: No. That's

         12  correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: That's not

         14  being considered for this fiscal year?

         15                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Not for this

         16  fiscal year, no.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         18  very much, Commissioner.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         20  Council member.

         21                 Commissioner, on overtime, I know you

         22  mentioned you've budgeted something like 255 million

         23  and your projected expenditures of 374 million,

         24  which has been the pattern over the years that I've

         25  been here, you budget far less than you actually
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          2  spend. Why have you done that again?

          3                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's not us. That

          4  is a decision that's made by OMB. It's been a

          5  decision, we've been in that posture as long as I

          6  can remember in my time at the Department. It's

          7  always underbudgeted, and we have, you know, for

          8  things such as unscheduled events or events that you

          9  can't predict, we're going to go over that amount.

         10  And it's pretty consistent historically, but we're

         11  just underbudgeted for overtime. That's more or less

         12  a tactical decision made by OMB. Actually a question

         13  that is best directed to them.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We will do that.

         15                 The new 800 officers. I know you

         16  partly answered this question across the hall, but

         17  will these new 800 officers in any way help you to

         18  cut down on your overtime expenditures?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: It's not certain.

         20  We are not, as I say, a fixed post agency. There are

         21  certain agencies that if somebody does not show up

         22  to work for whatever reason, another employee has to

         23  work overtime to fill that position. That's not

         24  generally speaking how the Police Department is

         25  structured.
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          2                 So, I can make an argument that

          3  Agency A, if you hire more people, then they're

          4  going to have less replacement cost.

          5                 The other issue is that 800 police

          6  officers are going to make arrests, and virtually

          7  any arrests that you make, the vast majority that

          8  you make are going to generate over time, in one

          9  way, shape or form.

         10                 We may possibly cut down on some of

         11  the overtime, some of the counter-terrorism

         12  overtime, there's a possibility there, but not

         13  something that I want to say with any certainty at

         14  this time that 800 officers are going to result in

         15  the reduction of overtime.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, I mean, I

         17  don't disagree with the fact you're not equivalent

         18  to another department, such as Sanitation, where

         19  overtime is foreseeable and easy to manage, but your

         20  main overtime expense is events. It more than

         21  doubles the second category which would be new

         22  arrests; wouldn't this allow you to put more

         23  officers at planned events who are not going to be

         24  on overtime?

         25                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Possibly. We've
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          2  done a lot already. I just mentioned in my prepared

          3  remarks, we reduced overtime by $42 million since

          4  2002. We used a lot of different procedures.

          5  Commissioner Grasso is Chair at an overtime review

          6  committee. If you look at the metal barriers that we

          7  use, we now have more than we ever had. If you look

          8  at the St. Patrick's Day Parade, we had a 20 percent

          9  reduction in deployed personnel from what we had the

         10  year before. So we have made significant strides in

         11  the area of event policing.

         12                 We've used scooters. We now have

         13  obtained 300 scooters for the Republican National

         14  Convention. They're very helpful in policing certain

         15  events. But the reality is that we're always going

         16  to have a certain amount of overtime on events,

         17  parades, for instance. We're approaching a parade

         18  season, spring, early summer. Most of these events

         19  happen on the weekend.

         20                 We have fewer police officers working

         21  on weekend from units that we can pull from. The

         22  reason for that is, if you, and this is just a

         23  seasonal thing, if you have them working on the

         24  weekends, they're not available to go to court,

         25  they're not available for administrative hearings,
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          2  those sorts of things, during the week. So, we're

          3  kind of a little bit between a rock and a hard

          4  place. You know, we just can't take officers and

          5  change their assignments that easily.

          6                 So, as long as we have a

          7  preponderance of major events, parades, for

          8  instance, on the weekend, on the Sunday, we're going

          9  to generate some overtime, but we've tightened up

         10  quite a bit in that area.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We have a few

         12  more seconds and then we'll let you go. Just on the

         13  overtime subject, your arrest to arraignment

         14  overtime, that seems to be creeping up, as does the

         15  time from arrest to arraignment.

         16                 Can you comment on what you're doing

         17  -- why you think that is, and I have my own

         18  theories, and what you're doing to decrease arrest

         19  to arraignment time.

         20                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Well, our time is

         21  really arrest to complaint sworn, and that's going

         22  down. So, the other parts of the Criminal Justice

         23  System, you know, have a role to play in this as

         24  well.

         25                 But if you look from arrest to
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          2  complaint sworn time, that's going down. We've done

          3  a series of things there. We are looking at other

          4  approaches, as well, to reduce that even further.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And there are

          6  follow-ups on that, but I'm going to save that for

          7  the next hearing.

          8                 The last question I have is regarding

          9  paid detail. For the first time you've included that

         10  in your budget. Perhaps any way that you would

         11  expand that program? In fact, you know that the

         12  Council has been pushing for that program to be

         13  expanded to cover allowing police officers to work

         14  as security at nightclubs, especially in light of

         15  what happened in the St. Ian (phonetic). So, have

         16  you considered, or will you consider expanding that

         17  paid detail program to in fact result in more

         18  revenue to the Department?

         19                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Yes, I'm against

         20  officers working in licensed premises. It's against

         21  the law, first of all, as it stands now. The ABC

         22  law. But I don't think these officers should, in

         23  effect, function as bouncers.

         24                 We made a proposal to the former

         25  Speaker, he was concerned about this issue. We
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          2  talked about a team of officers who were appropriate

          3  supervised, and appropriate in number, for a

          4  location, one or two blocks, where they would be

          5  outside the premise, several premises. But we said

          6  that we would look at that. But as far as an officer

          7  being assigned to a licensed premise, even in front

          8  of the premise, I'm uncomfortable with that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, we'll look

         10  forward to continuing that discussion. We disagree

         11  about that ABC law, that precludes an officer from

         12  having an interest in a location that serves

         13  alcohol. What an interest is, is debatable. We

         14  understand your concerns, but we look forward to

         15  working with you to get that done.

         16                 Chair Liu needed to follow up for a

         17  few seconds on one brief topic.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you for the

         19  privilege, Mr. Chair.

         20                 I just wanted to follow-up on Council

         21  Member Foster's comments, or questions and then

         22  comments about the diversification of the NYPD.

         23                 African-Americans and Latinos were

         24  mentioned, I just wanted to for the record note that

         25  there has been a marked increase in the number of
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          2  Asian-Americans in the NYPD, and I think that's

          3  certainly a product of the years of initiative that

          4  you have undertaken for the Department to better

          5  reflect New Yorkers.

          6                 And in particular, I will mention

          7  that the second-ever commanding officer in New York

          8  City, Mike Lau, of the 5th Precinct, has been a

          9  tremendous asset to the community, to

         10  Asian-Americans Nationwide, and I believe to your

         11  force, as well.

         12                 Thank you, Commissioner.

         13                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 The number has gone in just three

         16  years from one percent of Asian-Americans to three

         17  and a half percent of the Department, so, it's a

         18  very significant increase in a very short period of

         19  time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Liu.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Commissioner, as

         25  you know, we've got many other questions. I know
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          2  you're on a schedule and you've got important things

          3  to do, like figure out what you're going to do with

          4  800 new officers.

          5                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: That's a happy

          6  problem.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's a nice

          8  problem to have.

          9                 You've been at every Public Safety

         10  Committee Hearing we've had this year, and we thank

         11  you for that. I look forward to working with you on

         12  all the topics we discussed. I will see you in May

         13  to do some follow-ups that we may have missed today.

         14  Thank you, and all of your men and women, for the

         15  good work you do.

         16                 COMMISSIONER KELLY: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We will be

         19  taking a five-minute break, to be followed up with

         20  Commissioner Bruno.

         21                 (Recess taken.)

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We will now

         23  resume our Charter-mandated Public Safety Hearing.

         24  We are honored to have with us now the Commissioner

         25  of -- well, it used to be, OEM. Actually, it still
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          2  says that on your paperwork. We changed the name,

          3  though, didn't we? It's still Office of Emergency

          4  Management? Okay, well, I'm glad you're here to

          5  clarify that. You can go home now. We're done.

          6                 But, Commissioner Bruno, thank you

          7  for being here. I apologize for the little bit of

          8  the delay, but they normally don't have the press

          9  conference in this room. What are you going to do,

         10  it's a big day for everyone.

         11                 So, thank you for coming down. Look

         12  forward to your testimony.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, good

         14  afternoon, Chairman Vallone, and members of the

         15  Committee on Finance and Public Safety.

         16                 I am Joseph Bruno, Commissioner of

         17  the New York City Office of Emergency Management,

         18  OEM. I'm pleased to testify here today, about OEM's

         19  Fiscal Year 2007 budget.

         20                 I've now been at OEM for nearly two

         21  years, and I'm proud to say that through our efforts

         22  and the efforts of many other agencies, New York

         23  City continues to be one of the best prepared cities

         24  in the nation.

         25                 We are working hard on a daily basis
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          2  to fulfill every part of our mission, in helping the

          3  City plan and prepare for emergencies, to educating

          4  New Yorkers about ways they can better prepare, from

          5  coordinating and supporting emergency response

          6  efforts, to collecting and disseminating critical

          7  information. And of course, working to secure

          8  funding in support of the City's overall

          9  preparedness.

         10                 I'm very happy to share with you a

         11  few of our recent accomplishments, which is in the

         12  end giving you a glimpse of what we do with our

         13  budget.

         14                 The Ready New York Preparedness

         15  Campaign continues to expand. We have added a useful

         16  pocket guide, as well as a preparedness guide for

         17  small businesses, and for seniors and people with

         18  disabilities. The latter guide is also available now

         19  on audiotape and in Braille.

         20                 In the coming year, we look forward

         21  to introducing Ready New York Guides for children

         22  and for pet owners. Similarly, the Community

         23  Emergency Response Team, or CERT program, continues

         24  to grow.

         25                 New York City now has 31 fully
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          2  trained teams comprised of more than 1,300 members

          3  across the City. Presently, seven more teams are

          4  being trained, and our goal to have a CERT team in

          5  every one of our 59 community boards will be met.

          6                 We welcome your support and your

          7  continued efforts to assist us in recruiting teams

          8  throughout the City.

          9                 The private sector is so important to

         10  the City, and we could change the work with

         11  companies throughout the five boroughs, to ensure

         12  that both their employees and the companies

         13  themselves are prepared for emergencies.

         14                 We have integrated the private

         15  sector, including the City's many universities into

         16  our preparedness planning and they participate

         17  whenever we activate for an emergency, be it a

         18  recent blizzard or last year's Transit strike.

         19                 It has been nearly a year since the

         20  Mayor issued an Executive Order adopting the

         21  Citywide Incident Management System, known as CIMS,

         22  in April of 2005. We continue to work closely with

         23  the City's first responder agencies in developing an

         24  extensive multi-agency training program, and in the

         25  past year, we conducted at least one CIMS field
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          2  drill in each borough.

          3                 As can be seen by recent successors,

          4  including the last month Anthrax event, the fuel

          5  spill on the Brooklyn/Queens Expressway, and last

          6  summer's Henry Hudson Parkway landslide, complicated

          7  multi-agency responses are proceeding in a

          8  well-coordinated manner.

          9                 To ensure that CIMS continues as a

         10  success, we are using a $3.2 million grant from the

         11  Department of Homeland Securities Urban Area

         12  Security Initiative, UASI, for a comprehensive CIMS

         13  training and exercise program that will serve as a

         14  platform for integrated CIMS within the National

         15  Incident Management System, known as NIMS.

         16                 In addition to the CIMS drills and

         17  training mentioned above, we held many drills and

         18  exercises in our agency and with other agencies to

         19  prepare us in implementing the City's emergency

         20  plans.

         21                 Last June we hosted PODEX, a two-part

         22  exercise that tested the City's mass prophylaxis and

         23  logistical response to a biological event. It

         24  successfully tested interagency communication,

         25  command and control, Strategic National Stockpile
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          2  capabilities, and the Point of Dispensing system

          3  known as our POD program.

          4                 I am pleased to share with you that

          5  New York City has secured a green rating from the

          6  Center for Disease Control, which means that we are

          7  at the highest level of preparedness for

          8  distributing medications.

          9                 Next week, another field exercise

         10  designed to test the City's ability to implement

         11  CIMS, known as TRIFECTA, will involve an improvised

         12  explosive device that causes the dispersion of a

         13  dangerous chemical. The exercise will focus upon a

         14  safe response to a hazardous material incident,

         15  triage, decontamination, fatality management,

         16  mortuary operations and crime scene management.

         17                 No event illustrates successful

         18  inter-agency planning and operations better than the

         19  implementation of the City's Transit Strike

         20  contingency plan last December.

         21                 A planning group of 25 agencies from

         22  around the region, beginning in January of 2005,

         23  worked diligently to expand and improve the 2002

         24  plan, and when there was a walk-out, more than 50

         25  agencies worked 24 hours a day, seven days a week at
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          2  the City's Emergency Operation Center to ensure that

          3  each component of the plan, HOV restrictions,

          4  restricted roadways, our modified train and taxi

          5  service, our private ferries, went off as planned.

          6                 More importantly, we used up-to-the

          7  minute situational information from around the City

          8  to continually adapt and refine the Plan to make it

          9  work better each hour.

         10                 Although the strike was a major

         11  inconvenience for millions of New Yorkers, we

         12  believe that the City's plan helped make it a much

         13  better than it would otherwise have been.

         14                 Last June, our Urban Search and

         15  Rescue team, New York Task Force 1, traveled to West

         16  Virginia for a full-scale training exercise

         17  involving a massive explosion collapsing a freeway

         18  tunnel. I personally attended that exercise. The

         19  venue presented an extremely realistic environment

         20  and the rescue scenarios incorporated all components

         21  including incident management, communications,

         22  logistics, medical, rescue and weapons of mass

         23  destruction. The exercise was a great success and

         24  validated the team's ability to quickly mobilize and

         25  deploy to a disaster.
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          2                 Last May we also held a tabletop

          3  exercise to evaluate New York's capability to

          4  activate, operate and deactivate a Disaster

          5  Assistance Service Center DASC, in response to a

          6  weather-related event. This provided to be an

          7  all-too-relevant drill, as we opened a DASC on

          8  September 15, 2005 in response to the needs of those

          9  who relocated from the Gulf Coast area to New York

         10  City.

         11                 And just two weeks ago, we held a

         12  table top exercise to review our missing persons

         13  protocol, a Uniform Victim Identification System,

         14  known as UVIS, with City, State and federal

         15  agencies, as well as private and not-for-profit

         16  entities working with us.

         17                 The City's response to last summer's

         18  hurricane tragedies was massive, and OEM was proud

         19  to play a major role. In addition to deploying the

         20  City's Urban Search and Rescue Team to the Gulf

         21  Coast for Hurricane Katrina and to Texas to provide

         22  assistance, if needed, during Hurricane Rita, OEM

         23  managed requests through the Emergency Management

         24  Assistance Compact, EMAC, which provides a standard

         25  procedure for states to request assistance from and
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          2  provide assistance to other states. More than a

          3  thousand City workers were detailed to the gulf,

          4  ranging from firefighters and police officers to bus

          5  drivers and building inspectors.

          6                 At the DASC, which opened on

          7  September 15th, 2005, and closed on November 25th,

          8  2005, more than 2,700 evacuees received assistance

          9  from more than a dozen agencies throughout the fall.

         10  Case workers from a consortium of not-for-profit

         11  organizations continue to address unmet needs of

         12  individuals today.

         13                 Even before Hurricanes Katrina and

         14  Rita wreaked havoc on the Gulf Coast, OEM was

         15  working to revise and update the City's Coastal

         16  Storm Plan.

         17                 Planners from OEM and numerous

         18  agencies and not-for-profit partners have been going

         19  through the plan with a fine-toothed comb, and

         20  incorporating lessons learned from this past year to

         21  ensure that New York City is fully prepared for the

         22  start of the upcoming hurricane season.

         23                 For example, with our assistance, the

         24  State Department of Health issued a survey to

         25  hospitals and nursing homes in New York City to
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          2  gauge their current evacuation plans, and we are

          3  working with New York State DOH to ensure that these

          4  plans are complete and will result in the full, safe

          5  evacuation of patients and residents. Also, we are

          6  greatly expanding the network of evacuation centers

          7  and hurricane shelters to comport with recently

          8  expanded estimates by the Army Corps of Engineers

          9  that as many as 605,000 residents may seek public

         10  shelter in a serious storm.

         11                 We will not go into the next

         12  hurricane season without first testing the revised

         13  storm, hurricane storm plan. We are designing a

         14  series of interrelated exercises, starting with a

         15  table top exercise focusing upon storm tracking and

         16  the decision-making process prior to a hurricane.

         17                 This will be followed with a full

         18  scale field exercise that will focus on our ability

         19  to activate evacuation centers and hurricane centers

         20  and execute a coastal storm evacuation.

         21                 The drill will also address issues

         22  related to the evacuation and sheltering of special

         23  needs populations, and even the challenges posed by

         24  pet owners who must safely relocate their animals.

         25                 Finally, in addition to our planning
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          2  work with local and regional agencies, we are also a

          3  Charter participant in a program of the Council for

          4  Excellence in Government in Washington, D.C., which

          5  brings together my emergency management counterparts

          6  from big cities across the country for

          7  information-sharing sessions. Regardless of the

          8  topic, be it public education, evacuation planning

          9  or flu pandemic, we have established channels of

         10  communication where my staff and I can access the

         11  current thinking of the best professional planners

         12  from around the country. These cities are New York

         13  City, Los Angeles, San Francisco, Chicago, Boston,

         14  Washington, D.C., and Miami.

         15                 Let me now provide a snapshot of our

         16  budget for the next year. OEM's projected total

         17  Fiscal Year '07 Expense Budget is $5.06 million. To

         18  supplement this funding, OEM has been actively

         19  involved in pursuing outside funding, to support our

         20  agency's mission of ensuring the City of New York

         21  and its residents are prepared for and can respond

         22  to any emergency condition that may arise.

         23                 Additionally, OEM works closely with

         24  the Office of Management and Budget and the Mayor's

         25  Office to advocate for the City's fair share of
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          2  Homeland Security funding for both Albany and

          3  Washington.

          4                 As you know, Mayor Bloomberg has been

          5  one of the major advocates in urging that federal

          6  funds be apportioned based on risk, and I am

          7  extremely pleased to report that Congress has come

          8  to an agreement to distribute funding using risk as

          9  a significant determining factor.

         10                 The projected Fiscal Year '07

         11  personnel services budget for OEM is $1.932 million,

         12  which supports the 22 employees paid through OEM

         13  personnel lines. OEM has an additional 34 employees

         14  paid through grant funding and 57 staff members

         15  "on-loan" from multiple City and State agencies, as

         16  well as private and not-for-profit groups. Drawing

         17  on the expertise and talent of these diverse

         18  entities supports OEM's interdisciplinary approach

         19  to emergency management.

         20                 OEM's projected Fiscal Year OTPS, or

         21  Other Than Personnel Services budget is $3.128

         22  million, which will cover operating and

         23  administrative costs for our facilities and staff.

         24  In addition to maintaining our agency headquarters,

         25  OEM's Expense Budget supports our Emergency
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          2  Operations Center, the City's central planning and

          3  coordination point during an emergency event, and

          4  our back-up EOC. OEM also supports a number of

          5  mobile assets that are deployable for major field

          6  responses.

          7                 OEM does not have a capital budget.

          8  The Department of Design and Construction is

          9  managing the capital funding designated to support

         10  the building of OEM's new agency headquarters at 165

         11  Cadman Plaza East. This project will be this City's

         12  first green agency headquarters, and is very near

         13  completion. We expect to move in by the end of this

         14  summer.

         15                 In the past year, OEM successfully

         16  secured 10.5 million in federal, state and private

         17  funding. Without this outside funding, many of OEM's

         18  finest programs, including the large-scale

         19  preparedness exercises and public outreach, would

         20  not be possible. An additional 8.2 million in grant

         21  applications are currently under consideration by

         22  federal and state funders.

         23                 I want to thank you very much for

         24  allowing me to testify. I look forward to working

         25  with the
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          2  City Council, as we have in the past, in pursuing

          3  our Emergency Preparedness Program, and I'm happy to

          4  answer any questions.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          7  Commissioner.

          8                 Let's talk about federal funding

          9  first. Last year's budget only provided for $783,000

         10  in federal funding, this year it's 22 million. How

         11  do you account for that difference?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Last year's

         13  federal funding we received 1.5 million from LENPG,

         14  6.9 million from the Department of Homeland

         15  Security, and $887,000 from an MRS, which is a

         16  Health and Human Services grant.

         17                 We received $79,000 of Citizen Core

         18  and US&R got 700,000. We received quite a bit more.

         19  We received over 10.5 million last year in federal

         20  funding.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The total number

         22  was how much?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: 10.516.

         24                 We also have some continuing grants

         25  from the year before, which we were also spending
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          2  out this year. Those amounted to about 6.2 million.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The new federal

          4  funding grant which you testified about the method

          5  of giving out these grants, which obviously is now

          6  based on threat assessment.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: It's a mixture.

          8  It's a bit of a mixture. But much more on threat

          9  assessment.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We've been

         11  calling for that for some time. In fact, we've

         12  passed a resolution here unanimously.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We appreciate it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It was at your

         15  urging and the Commissioner's urging.

         16                 The Commissioner, though, had some

         17  reservations saying that it's now a competitive

         18  system, that we have to compete for our money, and

         19  also they've diluted the pot by ending some grants

         20  and by including City's debts, might be preparing

         21  for a natural disaster, as opposed to a terrorist

         22  attack. And I've written letters explaining we've

         23  got no problem with those cities giving money from a

         24  separate pot. This pot was supposed to be to protect

         25  us from attack.
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          2                 So, do you share the Commissioner's

          3  concern that this may not work out as well for New

          4  York City as we had hoped?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, we're

          6  certainly looking very closely at what money will be

          7  available for New York City. On its face, I think

          8  New York City will do well. On a natural disaster

          9  review, we also face significant challenges here in

         10  New York, as most of the country. I assume that down

         11  south and the areas that have been hard hit by

         12  hurricanes will probably fair better in that type of

         13  funding.

         14                 We do not anticipate a lessening of

         15  money available for New York, and if that occurs, we

         16  will argue strongly for the federal government to

         17  ensure that New York gets adequate funding.

         18                 We continue to date a significant

         19  target of terrorist-type concerns.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: As you know,

         21  we've had hearings here. You testified regarding our

         22  preparedness for a hurricane, regarding our

         23  preparedness for a potential AV flu outbreak or

         24  other pandemic. You mentioned, you updated us

         25  briefly on your hurricane preparedness. Strangely
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          2  enough, just this morning I'm hearing reports that

          3  experts are predicting we're due for a massive

          4  hurricane here in New York City.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I read the

          6  article.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You've

          8  apparently expanded your network of evacuation

          9  centers. I'd like to, if you could please be more

         10  specific about that.

         11                 In addition, you say you've done that

         12  because the Army Corps of Engineers increased their

         13  estimate to up to 605,000 residents, but when you

         14  testified, you had taken into account the fact that

         15  you thought their numbers were too low, which you

         16  were right, and I think your number was something

         17  about 750,000.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: That's right.

         19                 Actually, they've lowered their

         20  numbers a slight bit based upon their evaluation.

         21  Originally their number were around 732,000. But

         22  whatever their numbers are, we will be guided by

         23  what they proceed will be the need for shelter for

         24  sure. But we are building a 100 percent capacity

         25  system. In other words, the Army Corps gives you a
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          2  maximum number and then assumes a certain level of

          3  participation by the public. We assume 100 percent.

          4  So, we are building out the system.

          5                 When I last spoke with you here and

          6  other places, I made it clear that we are building

          7  sufficient shelters to shelter that number of

          8  people, even though if you look at the Army Corps

          9  reports and others, maybe predict the number will

         10  actually be lower than that. We are building it out

         11  based upon the experience we've seen in Katrina and

         12  our desire to have the finest program in the

         13  country. And we've been doing this now, it even

         14  started before Katrina hit, certainly since then we

         15  have a large number of people working full-time on

         16  upgrading our plan.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When you

         18  testified at that hearing, you discussed a number of

         19  evacuation centers, I don't remember the exact

         20  amount off the top of my head, but you say you're

         21  expanding that network.

         22                 So, at that hearing you also were

         23  discussing the possibility of not using evacuation

         24  centers, but perhaps using some other method. I

         25  don't have a position on that, but it appears you've
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          2  decided to use evacuation centers and decided to

          3  expand the network. So, please elaborate.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Right. We

          5  anticipate having approximately 100 plus evacuation

          6  centers, larger centers, which will also act as

          7  hurricane shelters. We kind of changed the

          8  terminology.  We used to use the term "reception

          9  centers," we now use "evacuation centers," we think

         10  it's more reasonable.

         11                 We will have those, and we will add

         12  to that about 700 plus hurricane shelters. So, in

         13  all we'll have over 700 centers that we will be able

         14  to utilize.

         15                 Evacuation centers will be called a

         16  solar-system based. There will be one evacuation

         17  center for a certain number of hurricane shelters,

         18  and they will feed those hurricane shelters.

         19                 We are designing that. We are going

         20  through the management of that. We are looking -- we

         21  are making this plan operational. We are not

         22  interested in just a plan that is on a shelf. This

         23  is going to be operational and manageable.

         24                 We will add to, whatever we need to

         25  put in those shelters we will add in those shelters,
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          2  including management, stocking, whatever logistical

          3  support we might need. So, we are putting together a

          4  program that we'll use, evacuation centers, and what

          5  we call a solar-system-type approach.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, then you

          7  have determined that that is the approach you will

          8  be using?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Because at the

         11  hearing you might have reconsidered that.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Right. You're

         13  right. When I spoke we were looking at it early on

         14  and everything was on the table. We have now gone

         15  through this at length and we're going to continue

         16  with that type of process.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, some

         18  people did have problems with the fact that you have

         19  to show up one place and then be sent to another

         20  place. But experts from around the country did come

         21  in and testify, such as the Red Cross, that that

         22  would be the best way to do things. So, I just want

         23  to have you on record as the way that we will be

         24  doing things.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Can I just add
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          2  one thing --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO:-- Which I think I

          5  said to you before.

          6                 The reason we take that approach is,

          7  you cannot publicize all these shelters because you

          8  don't know how many you are going to open at any

          9  given time. But you can publicize the basic

         10  evacuation centers. And then as we see the size of

         11  what we're facing, we will then open up sufficient

         12  shelters to deal with the population. If it's a

         13  relatively small storm, we would not need all of

         14  that. But that is our approach, and we think that it

         15  makes a lot of sense.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And you also

         17  mentioned that your drill in this regard, will

         18  address issues related to special need populations

         19  and challenges posed by pet owners. Of those

         20  concerns we had, I believe a bill was introduced by

         21  one Council member requiring a list be kept, and pet

         22  owners have approached us regarding what would be

         23  done with their pets. So, what is this going to

         24  address exactly?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, we are
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          2  looking at certainly advising and educating people

          3  on the need to plan and prepare before an emergency

          4  occurs, what to do with a pet if an emergency occurs

          5  and you are required to evacuate. We're going to be

          6  pushing people to take action actively on their own

          7  and be ready in the event.

          8                 We will also work under the

          9  assumption that a certain amount of people bring

         10  their pets to a shelter.

         11                 Our view is that in a shelter you

         12  cannot put people with pets in the same shelter.

         13  It's just safe, people are allergic to those. It

         14  just cannot be done.

         15                 We will work on having specialized

         16  shelters to some extent to deal with pets. But the

         17  basic plan for pets is that you prepare, you take

         18  the measure, you, resident, prepare, take the

         19  measures necessary to protect your pet. If you're

         20  asked to evacuate, institute that plan that you put

         21  together.

         22                 However, we will test a number of

         23  pet-friendly shelters that will be utilized to

         24  assist people who cannot or did not do the planning

         25  that was required. This is a big problem and a big
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          2  issue but we will deal with it.

          3                 On the structural need side we will

          4  be working very closely with the State Department of

          5  Health. We are reviewing every plan of every nursing

          6  home and every hospital in the coastal zone system.

          7  We're doing that and we're assuring that they are in

          8  order, according to the State Health Department.

          9                 As far as just generic special needs

         10  personnel, we are working with all the agencies that

         11  serve as people in the coastal zones, know where

         12  these folks are and working with them to plan and

         13  prepare in the event something is required, an

         14  evacuation is required, so that these folks are

         15  cared for, the people care for them every day,

         16  including the families.

         17                 But we will also have the capability

         18  to move those people who need it and communicate

         19  with us. We will do the best we can to move those

         20  people out and ensure that they're safe.

         21                 So, we're going to have a very

         22  aggressive and difficult plan in an urban

         23  environment, where we're dealing with probably

         24  numbers in excess of dealing with two and a half

         25  million people to deal with. Can New York City do
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          2  it? My view is if any City can do it, New York City

          3  can do it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I believe you

          5  mentioned in your testimony that the State was doing

          6  a survey of nursing homes?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And this was an

          9  area that was up for debate during the last set of

         10  hearings who was actually responsible. So, have we

         11  determined that it is the State responsible for

         12  nursing homes?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes. The State is

         14  doing a survey of all nursing homes in all

         15  hospitals. We are particularly interested in all of

         16  those that are interested in all of those that are

         17  in the coastal zones. There are possibly 57 nursing

         18  homes, and about 21 hospitals.

         19                 So, we are very interested in those.

         20  We're specifically reviewing those plans. But the

         21  State has ultimate responsibility, Department of

         22  Health, ensuring that these folks have a plan.

         23                 The City of New York will do what it

         24  has to do to ensure these people are taken out.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The last
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          2  question I have, before I go to Council Members, is

          3  regarding full preparedness. We had a hearing on

          4  that, and I just wanted an update. We had some

          5  concerns, obviously concerning the fact that there

          6  wasn't really a plan to stockpiling medication for

          7  Tama flu (phonetic), nor did you have any and we

          8  just wanted to know whether you've made any changes

          9  or just update us on that situation.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: That plan, the

         11  medical side of it is clearly Dr. Frieden's plan,

         12  and we will assist him in implementing the plan, the

         13  City Department of Health.

         14                 As far as everything we've done to

         15  this point, there is no medication that is being

         16  stockpiled in New York, for two reasons, according

         17  to Dr. Frieden. One, a vaccine could not be produced

         18  until we know what the exact flu strain is. That

         19  would be one of the problems. And the lead time for

         20  that would be fairly substantial after that.

         21                 Tama flu, which is considered by some

         22  to be potentially effective against Avian flu, may

         23  not be effective against the strain of flue we may

         24  deal with. It's very likely that the strain of flu

         25  we will deal with will not be H5N1 Avian flu, it
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          2  will be some changed flu strain that will come off

          3  of, or mutate off of that strain, we believe.

          4                 So, Tama flu is by no means accepted

          5  by Dr. Frieden nor by others as a medication that

          6  will actually be effective against a strain that we

          7  have to know what it is.

          8                 But we are taking, in New York City,

          9  good health practices. Staying away from large

         10  crowds, stay at home, cover your mouth, wash your

         11  hands. The basic good health practices that will

         12  assist us in avoiding the spread of flu.

         13                 We will take other measures,

         14  depending on how the system, how the flu strain

         15  acts.

         16                 There may be some review of places of

         17  assembly, school will have to be looked at as

         18  determining whether the schools should be in session

         19  for a period of time, if the flu outbreak is

         20  substantial. But these are the same things that I

         21  think the Department of Health has testified before

         22  you.

         23                 We are in order on that. OEM's role

         24  is to ensure that City government will continue to

         25  operate and be able to provide services.
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          2                 What we are doing specifically is

          3  meeting agency-by-agency in groups. We're doing it

          4  by emergency support functions, the way we operate

          5  in our emergency operation center, and we're looking

          6  at those agencies and saying what is it you will be

          7  able to do in the event X percentage of your people

          8  are able to come to work? How will you operate? How

          9  will the continuity of operations continue? And

         10  we're doing quite a bit there with them.

         11                 Soon we will indicate in a plan

         12  precisely what each agency will do, but that's

         13  really more of an internal thing for each agency, so

         14  that they can operate. These are the kinds of things

         15  we're doing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm glad to hear

         17  that. Because after you testified, experts did

         18  express concern that we weren't doing enough to plan

         19  to handle a pandemic with at minimum half staffing.

         20  So, we're looking into that. This really isn't a

         21  hearing to go into the specifics of that, and then

         22  we're running a little bit behind schedule, so I'll

         23  be following up with you after the hearing.

         24                 Council Member Addabbo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

                                                            136

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 Commissioner, I want to thank you and

          4  OEM for being here today and for the work that

          5  you've done for the City. Obviously the painful

          6  effects of Katrina are still with us and they truly

          7  have opened up our eyes to the issue of evacuation.

          8  And, again, I want to thank you and OEM for the

          9  efforts you've made toward that issue of evacuation.

         10                 Just a couple of quick questions. For

         11  Fiscal Year '07, I just want to be clear, OEM's

         12  programs that they've done in the past, Ready New

         13  York, CERT and the others, are they going to be

         14  continued in Fiscal Year '07, as well as other

         15  programs?

         16                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes. The short

         17  answer is yes, and I would put back to you that in

         18  our funding requests for, through DHS and federal

         19  authorities, I just wanted to point out some of the

         20  things we're looking to do with an 8.2 million

         21  dollar application.

         22                 One will be Ready New York. We're

         23  seeing about $2 million additional to continue that.

         24  One of the problems we have in this whole area is we

         25  do rely on federal funding to assist us. So, in that
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          2  8.2 million, we would allocate about $2 million

          3  toward Ready New York. We do have some funding

          4  already through the Department of Homeland Security

          5  for Ready New York which we're still spending out

          6  which will carry over.

          7                 I do not anticipate any lessening of

          8  Ready New York. I continue a growth in Ready New

          9  York. And you probably know this, when I came to

         10  this agency, we had about seven CERT teams, we now

         11  have 31, seven were in training, that's 38, and we

         12  are on our way to one per community board.

         13                 The problem is some people liked them

         14  so much we got two or three in a community board,

         15  which is great. We're very happy with that. But our

         16  goal is to make sure we have one in every community

         17  board, and then we'll go for two and every community

         18  board can use it. So, we see no lessening. I see no

         19  lessening, unless something dramatic happens in the

         20  funding we get. And if that happens, you'll hear

         21  about it from me. But I think that we're going to

         22  pursue all of our plans and programs.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: That's

         24  promising to hear, and I do know at least one

         25  community board in my district who is very
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          2  interested in the CERT program. We had a lot of

          3  participants.

          4                 What is the timetable for -- you had

          5  mentioned testing the Coastal Storm Plan. What is

          6  the timetable for testing that plan and other

          7  timetables for other evacuation plans?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, for the

          9  coastal storm plan, we will have our plan fully

         10  developed by June 1st, beginning of the coastal

         11  storm season, hurricane season.

         12                 We will run a tabletop on June 8th

         13  and probably later in June or early July we will run

         14  a full exercise of that, including operating the

         15  evacuation centers in hurricane shelters. So, that's

         16  the time frame for that. We will do all of that in

         17  the summer.

         18                 With regard to TRIFECTA, which is a

         19  test of a dispersion of a chemical, WMD let's call

         20  it, or a weapon, that will occur Sunday. A full

         21  exercise will occur in Queens. If you need more

         22  detail, I can give you some more on that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I do

         24  appreciate that, because as you know, and I

         25  appreciate you being in my district, several parts
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          2  of Howard Beach, Ozone Park, Broad Channel,

          3  Rockaways, are very interested in evacuations, since

          4  they are surrounded by water. So, I do appreciate

          5  your efforts and our continued dialogue on that.

          6                 The evacuation center and hurricane

          7  centers, are they available, those actual sites, are

          8  they available on the website?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: All the new ones

         10  are not available yet.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: When?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: By the time the

         13  plan is released, hopefully sooner. We are

         14  literally, I have approximately 20 people full-time

         15  on this plan, because I think it's so important, and

         16  it was important when we started even before

         17  Katrina.

         18                 We are putting together a brand new

         19  plan basically. We've changed all of our assumptions

         20  based upon Katrina, and because of that we've

         21  expanded the program dramatically.

         22                 But as soon as that becomes

         23  available, we will notify the Council, especially if

         24  it's up on our website. But I will certainly have it

         25  out by the time the plan is released.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Commissioner,

          3  once again, thank you for all that you've done for

          4  the City and your OEM team, and I look forward to

          5  working with you on this issue.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I appreciate

          9  that. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         11  Yassky, who is the Council Member who did introduce

         12  the bill regarding a registry.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair. Just very briefly, two questions. One on the

         15  headquarters building, I know you said in your

         16  testimony you expect to move into your new

         17  headquarters, which is looking beautiful, by, you

         18  were hoping by late summer, if I remember?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Just to be

         21  clear, when you move in, will you be moving out of

         22  the existing interim headquarters? Or will you be

         23  maintaining, how long after you move in will you

         24  maintain a presence there, if at all?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: When we fully
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          2  move in, we will not maintain a presence there.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

          4  Terrific.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We love that

          6  site, however, but I understand the Park folks want

          7  it as well, and we recognize that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I just wanted

          9  to be clear on that point.

         10                 And then on the registry, which I

         11  know Chair Vallone referenced, I just want to get

         12  your thoughts on this, because you know it is

         13  something, and I remember you and I had a very brief

         14  discussion about it, after Katrina, you know, one of

         15  the things that horrified lots of us was seeing how

         16  there were people who had no ability, whether, you

         17  know, no kind of personal resources to get up and

         18  going, no financial resources, no, you know,

         19  physically just were not able to do it, and the idea

         20  of having a registry, and let me just be clear about

         21  this, would you ever be able to have, keep track of

         22  everybody in the City who might need help? Of course

         23  not. But there are things like Meals-On-Wheels

         24  programs and senior centers that would be able to

         25  get a pretty decent, you know, list of folks that
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          2  you would need to reach out to in case, you know,

          3  the hurricane comes.

          4                 What are your -- are you pursuing

          5  something like that? And if not, why not?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: That is exactly

          7  what we're pursuing. I call it "a list of lists."

          8  Some people call it a "registry." The registry, the

          9  problem with the registry, as it can be described,

         10  is that you would have people on this registry and

         11  you would have to maintain it. The best way to get

         12  the most up-to-date list is through exactly what you

         13  said. Those agencies that are out there helping

         14  people every day, maintain probably the most

         15  up-to-date information about who has needs in the

         16  event of an evacuation.

         17                 So, we are pursuing precisely what

         18  you suggested. We're working with a host of agencies

         19  that work in coastal zones and elsewhere in the

         20  City, but clearly we are zeroing in on the coastal

         21  zones to identify when the time comes, and have a

         22  mechanism to do that. We are really working hard on

         23  that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But bear with

         25  me. Have you met with the senior service
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          2  organizations in the areas you're most focused on?

          3  You know, to develop a protocol or to insure that

          4  you'll have access to their information about

          5  individuals when you need it? Or are you getting

          6  their information in-house?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: No, we have a

          8  meeting with them. We're going to let them maintain

          9  their database and we'll have access to it when we

         10  need it. When the time comes when we need it, we

         11  want the most current database.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Right.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: And we have a

         14  mechanism by which we will do that with each agency.

         15  Every agency is different. Some are more

         16  sophisticated.

         17                 For example, Visiting Nurse Service

         18  is very sophisticated. They also service a lot of

         19  people on this City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Right.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Particularly in

         22  the coastal zones.

         23                 So, they are sophisticated and we can

         24  access their data in a very good way.

         25                 Others are less, but we are working
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          2  with all of them to have access to that data. We're

          3  also going to do a lot of work on up front

          4  information to people in need before anything

          5  happens so they understand. And along with the

          6  service prepare a plan, make sure the family knows

          7  that they are there. Make sure you know they're

          8  there. If you can't get them out, Visiting Nurse

          9  Service or other agency, let us know and we will

         10  deal with that.

         11                 We are also putting together a

         12  mechanism to move people out, so that we have

         13  adequate resources, when we know someone has to be

         14  out, we'll take them out. But the more we can do up

         15  front, the more likely it is we can get closer to

         16  the number we would like, everyone.

         17                 I recognize, like you do, that's

         18  probably not possible, and we will do the best we

         19  can to make it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, thank

         21  you.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair. Again, just to

         23  be clear, we're putting this idea out there, my goal

         24  is not everyone in that, I know that's not realistic

         25  or practical. But I have no doubt that we could do a
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          2  lot better than they could there, and it sounds like

          3  you're working toward that. Thank you.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We will do a lot

          5  better. Believe me.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          7  Council Member. And the last Council member that has

          8  questions so that we can keep on scheduling here is

          9  Council Member Jackson.

         10                 Thank you, by the way, Council Member

         11  Jackson. You're, as far as I know, not a member of

         12  this Committee, unless you were added without me

         13  knowing about it. You've been here all morning,

         14  which you're concerned about the public safety of

         15  citizens of New York City.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Without a

         17  doubt, and especially with the budget, as a member

         18  of the Finance Committee, always want to know that

         19  the services we provide are being financed

         20  appropriately.

         21                 And then you were talking about the

         22  CERT teams and that you have increased the number of

         23  those Citywide. I know we do have an active one in

         24  Northern Manhattan with Dr. Pamela North up in

         25  Community Board 12, and the George Washington Bridge

                                                            146

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  is a strategic location, as far as commuters and

          3  traffic coming into the City.

          4                 Is that team and the Office of

          5  Emergency Management ready to deal with the

          6  situation that happens up there in Northern

          7  Manhattan?

          8                 And the reason why I ask that,

          9  because I know that when the wall collapse occurred

         10  I saw you there, I know you all were there, and I

         11  saw several members of the CERT team, but you know,

         12  I'm just curious as to whether or not we're ready to

         13  deal with the emergency that may happen in the

         14  future, concerning the strategic location.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: In Manhattan,

         16  certainly Community Board 12, and Palma North's

         17  (phonetic) team is an outstanding team. And she is,

         18  as your probably know, a very active supporter of

         19  CERT. She comes to virtually everything we put on,

         20  if we have an affair or an event, where she can talk

         21  to people about CERT, she comes everywhere.

         22                 She was, and her team, Community

         23  Board 12, was active during the Henry Hudson Parkway

         24  landslide, and they did a great job. And that's what

         25  we're looking for. We are doing more things with
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          2  CERT now. Rather than just response, we are asking

          3  them to become part of the education program of the

          4  agency, and they are doing a lot of Ready New York

          5  training. They are a big part of that. They play an

          6  active role now in any emergency that occurs in the

          7  City, and they will be part of the emergency

          8  operation center when we activate. So, we will have,

          9  I know we have like 1,300 CERT members in New York

         10  City. Soon we'll probably have 3,000, and they will

         11  all be available to us to use for any emergency, be

         12  it in their own area or surrounding areas, or areas

         13  in the borough or beyond.

         14                 So, I feel pretty good about CERT. I

         15  think it's a good program. Like I said to you, when

         16  I got here, it was new and I think prior

         17  administrations just didn't recognize how important

         18  it could be and how large it could get. It's gotten

         19  very big.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I want

         21  to thank you and your staff for preparing us and the

         22  residents of New York City for emergencies that may

         23  come up. And, obviously, we hope we don't have these

         24  type of emergencies, but we know they do come up,

         25  whether there is a manmade emergency or a natural
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          2  disaster-type situation. So, I look forward to

          3  working with you and your staff for the future.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Thank you. Can I

          5  just make one last point? Council members have been

          6  very good in helping us locate groups to become CERT

          7  teams. We continue to need that help. There are a

          8  couple of community boards we still need some help

          9  in, and we will reach out to you, if it's in your

         10  district.

         11                 Council Member Recchia, for example,

         12  recently took some of his own funding money and

         13  funded a team, which is great, out in Coney Island,

         14  and we really appreciate that. More money we can get

         15  that way, the more we can use, whatever grant money

         16  we have to fund those teams that don't have that

         17  kind of support.

         18                 So, whatever help you can do on that,

         19  we will certainly accept it and we will pursue it

         20  with you.

         21                 So, I appreciate being able to be

         22  here today and answer some of your questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         24  Council Member.

         25                 Let me welcome Council Member
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          2  Gennaro. As I bid you adieux, I have got many more

          3  questions, but we're a little bit behind schedule. I

          4  know you want to stay here and answer all the CIMS

          5  questions and things like that, but we'll have many

          6  more discussions in the future. So, thank you,

          7  Commissioner, for the work you do everyday, and your

          8  staff, a very quiet staff, but they were here. We

          9  look forward to working with you.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We now will hear

         12  from our City's five District Attorneys, and one

         13  Special Narcotics Prosecutor.

         14                 Okay, please take all conversations

         15  outside. Let me welcome our City's District

         16  Attorneys and Special Narcotics Prosecutor.

         17                 We're very lucky to have this group

         18  in the City, and to have them here today to testify.

         19  Over the past four fiscal years, the Office of the

         20  District Attorneys' office have taken significant

         21  cuts.

         22                 Again, can you please take the

         23  conversations outside. Thank you. Because we are

         24  talking about cuts to the DAs' offices here, this is

         25  something that's very important and close to my

                                                            150

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  heart. So, I want to make sure everybody is

          3  listening.

          4                 I think since 2001 their budgets are

          5  down $40 million, which is close to 18 percent.

          6                 This Committee, especially myself,

          7  have made it one of our priorities to make sure that

          8  those cuts are restored. Without prosecutions by

          9  these offices, the rest of the fight on crime is

         10  meaningless. We had a great announcement this

         11  morning. I'm not sure if you're aware yet, but we're

         12  hiring 800 new police officers and 400 civilians to

         13  replace police officers to put them on the street,

         14  which is great news for everyone, and it's going to

         15  result in even more work for your offices, and

         16  hopefully the Mayor realizes that and we'll give you

         17  the attended increases in budget.

         18                 The way to not increase your budget,

         19  I believe, is the way that it's happening right now,

         20  with this revenue enhancement program. This buy-back

         21  principle is not used by the Corp Counsel, it's not

         22  used by any other agency, it's way too complicated

         23  for little legislative minds like ours to even

         24  comprehend how you work with this, and do your

         25  budgets with this situation, and in fact, in all
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          2  seriousness, it may have an impact, even

          3  subconsciously on what cases are being prosecuted,

          4  which is absolutely not the way any prosecutors

          5  office should be forced to function.

          6                 So, we'll be discussing that again.

          7  And we also will ask you to pay some attention to

          8  this issue of arrest and arraignment times. That's

          9  been an issue that's been coming up recently. It's

         10  something that during the Republican National

         11  Convention many people complained that people were

         12  being held in jail for 24 hours. No listened to me

         13  back then when I tried to explain to them that

         14  happens on any given day, just about half the time.

         15  And it wasn't the Police Department's fault, nor was

         16  it your fault when there were over 1,000 arrests in

         17  a four-hour period that people were kept in jail for

         18  24 hours. Nobody cared back then, but all of a

         19  sudden now apparently there is some concern that

         20  people are being kept in jail for 24 hours. No one

         21  wants to see that, obviously.

         22                 The way I believe to cut that time

         23  down would be to fund your office, as I've been

         24  saying for years and years, and not to provide a

         25  civil course of action to defendants who are kept in
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          2  jail for more than 24 hours to sue the City, which

          3  is what some people are proposing.

          4                 So, I would like to address that

          5  issue also.

          6                 Usually we begin with DA Morgenthau,

          7  based on tenure in office, and after that I'll leave

          8  it up to you to determine what order you would like

          9  to testify.

         10                 Again, thank you all for coming down,

         11  and Mr. Morgenthau, we'll begin with you.

         12                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And it has

         15  nothing to do with me formerly working for your

         16  office.

         17                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: Thank

         18  you for the opportunity to speak before you and with

         19  you today.

         20                 In his 2006 State of the City

         21  Address, the Mayor said:

         22                 "Putting New York on the road to

         23  long-term success rests on our ability to continue

         24  making the safest big City in America even safer.

         25  Public safety is the foundation of our City's
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          2  prosperity."

          3                 We welcome this acknowledgment, that

          4  successful crime fighting is essential to the

          5  continual well-being of the City. But the funding

          6  does not reflect that policy. To put it in an old

          7  fashioned way, you can see the money where the mouth

          8  is.

          9                 So, that's a major part of our

         10  position. We agree with the Mayor, the safety of the

         11  City is essential to this long-term survival. We

         12  think the District Attorneys play a crucial role in

         13  achieving that safety and we think we need the money

         14  to do it and not to have a budget cut.

         15                 So, we ask for restoration to the

         16  budget cuts imposed and since fiscal 2003, so we can

         17  fulfill our responsibility to investigate and

         18  prosecute violent crime and economic crime.

         19                 We also hope, too, that you will be

         20  able to help us and combat violence, to prosecute,

         21  and prevent child abuse and to investigate terrorist

         22  financing.

         23                 Recently federal funding in these

         24  three important areas were limited. Funding that

         25  totaled about $1 million.
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          2                 Finally, we seek parity with

          3  Corporation Counsel that has seen its budget

          4  increased by 20 percent, while our budget has been

          5  cut. It looks as though it has to be a Mayoral

          6  appointee on the Mayor's staff to get the money that

          7  you need to perform your duties.

          8                 I want to repeat that while our

          9  budget has been consistently cut, Corporation

         10  Counsel's budget has been increased by 20 percent.

         11                 And you're also all aware of the fact

         12  that Commissioner, people on the Mayor's staff have

         13  all received significant increases.

         14                 We are grateful to the City Council

         15  for its support of all of the DAs offices.

         16                 Last year we received $1,100,000 for

         17  the partial restoration of cuts that had been made

         18  to our base budget, and we ask that you renew that

         19  grant and that you help us with additional resources

         20  to speed the arrest to arraignment time, which has

         21  increased of late.

         22                 Reduction of crime over the last

         23  decade has been the requisite for economic

         24  improvement in the City. Everybody has commented on

         25  that. I remind you that 63 percent of New York
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          2  City's total tax revenue when it comes to Manhattan,

          3  and 85 percent of the personal income tax paid to

          4  the City comes from Manhattan. Forty-one million

          5  international and domestic tourists visited New York

          6  in 2005, spending more than $22 billion in

          7  Manhattan.

          8                 So, it's a major benefit to the

          9  economy to bring people here and have them spend

         10  money.

         11                 Also, successful prosecution of white

         12  collar crime and tax fraud is advantageous, not only

         13  to the economy of the City, but to the City's budget

         14  which benefits tremendously from investigations that

         15  general substantial revenue of unpaid taxes and

         16  fines. Over this past year, this office has

         17  investigated and prosecuted tax cases involving

         18  financial schemes for the treasurer of a residential

         19  co-op, restaurant and nightclub owners, construction

         20  companies, and a whole host of other business people

         21  in the City.

         22                 And it's also important to level the

         23  playing field. Everybody should be required to pay

         24  their share of the taxes.

         25                 People talk about tax reduction,
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          2  you're never going to reduce taxes for a whole

          3  segment of the City, and this is not just New York,

          4  national problem, does not pay any taxes or doesn't

          5  pay their share of taxes.

          6                 The IRS did a study showing that the

          7  American taxpayers shortchanged the government by

          8  $345 billion in 2001, and another report by the

          9  United States Commerce Department, found that

         10  Americans failed to report more than a trillion

         11  dollars in income on their 2003 tax returns, a 37

         12  percent increase since 2002.

         13                 The IRS devotes very little resources

         14  to leveling this playing field to require people to

         15  pay taxes they don't. And federal prosecutors are

         16  busy with national security issues, so it's

         17  incumbent on us to make sure that people pay the

         18  taxes they owe.

         19                 Then there's the whole question of

         20  terrorist financing. On a quiet day, $3 trillion

         21  goes through New York City. It's easy to slip ten,

         22  20, 30 million dollars into that flow of money.

         23  Banks are not filing the reports that they're

         24  required. The currency reporting transaction is

         25  suspicious activity reports. In the last couple of

                                                            157

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  years we found $14 billion which had gone worldwide

          3  with improper reporting.

          4                 Curtailing the illegal transfer of

          5  money is an important tool in the fight against

          6  terrorism. Major investigations of this scope are

          7  costly, however, the economy benefits and

          8  strengthens security for the City, make it worth the

          9  investment.

         10                 We ask to restore the cuts to our

         11  baseline budget and to give us parity with the New

         12  York City Law Department.

         13                 We've laid this out in our letter and

         14  I don't want to take your time, but I repeat,

         15  Corporation Counsel has gotten a 20 percent

         16  increase, and all of the DAs and Special Narcotics

         17  Prosecutor have been reduced. And I say again, it

         18  appears, that it appears on our part that you've got

         19  to be close to the Mayor, you've got to be a Mayoral

         20  appointee, or you don't get the money that you need.

         21                 We're requesting $537,000 to fund gun

         22  violence, investigations and prosecutions. The

         23  police COMSTAT number showed that while crime

         24  decreased six percent in Manhattan, the number of

         25  shooting victims increased compared to 2004.
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          2                 So, we need the resources to deal

          3  with this. In addition, robberies are increasing for

          4  the first time in years, increasing in Manhattan,

          5  after a long period of steady decline. Robbery

          6  complaints increased by four percent in 2005 or

          7  2004. In the first two months in 2006, in the 20 and

          8  24 Precincts, the Upper West Side, Robert Jackson's

          9  district, robberies were up by 85 percent and 25

         10  percent respectively in those two precincts.

         11                 Obviously a lot of things need to be

         12  done, but prompting certain judgment, prompting

         13  certain punishment, is one major, one major way to

         14  reduce crime. And if we don't have the resources, we

         15  can't have prompt and certain punishment.

         16                 Since 2004 we've lost two federal gun

         17  prosecution grants totaling $410,000 annually.

         18  Homicide Investigative Unit, Firearms Trafficking

         19  Unit, which investigates drug trafficking and

         20  homicide cases, were funded by these grants, and

         21  then I set forth the number of important cases that

         22  we've handled in the last year.

         23                 We need money for child abuse

         24  prosecutions. You all read the paper, you know

         25  what's going on in this area. Recently the unit
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          2  prosecuted a case in which the defendants murdered

          3  their three-month-old child by beating and starving

          4  him. An autopsy revealed that the baby had multiple

          5  fractures, severe injuries all over his body. He had

          6  been shaken so violently that his spine was

          7  dislodged and he had multiple injuries to his brain.

          8  His father pled guilty to murder in the second

          9  degree and was sentenced to 25 years to live. The

         10  mother is awaiting trial.

         11                 Unfortunately, there are a lot of

         12  cases like this in all the counties, and they

         13  require attention.

         14                 And then you can't do it with

         15  mirrors, you've got to have the funds that are

         16  available to develop and make these cases.

         17                 We're also asking for $700,000 for

         18  terrorist financing. A huge amount of money going

         19  through New York. In the Cayman Islands alone there

         20  is $1 trillion US dollars on the books at the Cayman

         21  Islands. That's three and a half times as much money

         22  that is on deposit in the New York City banks.

         23  Pretty soon you guys will be going down to the

         24  Cayman Islands to cash the paycheck.

         25                 Now, obviously all of this money
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          2  isn't for terrorism, all of this money isn't for

          3  illegal activities, but when you find $1 trillion in

          4  one venue, you know there's something wrong with our

          5  system, and something that needs to be looked at and

          6  needs to be prosecuted.

          7                 And we've got to believe the federal

          8  government is doing very little about this. As you

          9  may remember we prosecuted the two principals in

         10  Tico. And the CEO of Tico, Dennis Koslowski, he said

         11  one thing that's very true. He said, I save $400

         12  million a year by being chartered in Bermuda. We

         13  went down there and checked, they got a little space

         14  down there, they got about a dozen employees, and I

         15  said to people, why don't you look in Websters

         16  Dictionary and see what headquarters means. But

         17  that's the fraud on all of the other honest people

         18  who are paying their taxes. $400 million has got to

         19  be made up by somebody else. The federal government,

         20  and I talked to people in Washington about this, the

         21  federal government is not doing their job in this

         22  area, and we don't have the same leash that the

         23  federal government does, but we've got to do our

         24  best, and we've collected a considerable amount of

         25  taxes, in the neighborhood of $30 million, from
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          2  Tico. But that's the kind of thing that requires

          3  attention. It also requires money to do the

          4  investigations.

          5                 Then there's a whole question of

          6  identity theft. Now about eight, nine percent of our

          7  felony cases are identity theft. That's taking more

          8  and more time. And then we need some additional

          9  funds to reduce the arrest to arraignment time.

         10  We've done a significant amount in that area, but

         11  regrettably, we need more help.

         12                 So, those are the major things. I

         13  don't want to take up the time of everybody else.

         14  Again, reducing crime is essential to the safety and

         15  prosperity of this City, and you can't say that's

         16  important, and then at the same time reduce the key

         17  element of that overall effort.

         18                 Thank you very much for your

         19  patience.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Why don't we go

         21  with District Attorney Brown next.

         22                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair.

         24                 Once again this year I provided you

         25  with a booklet setting forth in some detail my
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          2  office's accomplishments during the past year. The

          3  booklet also contains a memorandum which discusses

          4  our fiscal situation and the need to address it, and

          5  it's the fiscal situation that I want to devote my

          6  time this afternoon.

          7                 As you, Mr. Chairman, properly

          8  pointed out in your opening remarks, since September

          9  the 11th of 2001 the budgets of the District

         10  Attorneys and the Special Narcotics Prosecutor have

         11  been cut by some 18 percent or so. It's time by any

         12  standard or by any measure, I would argue, to

         13  reverse those cuts, and to restore our budgets the

         14  way they were four and a half years ago.

         15                 The most substantial cuts have been

         16  on the City level. There's been a whole series of

         17  those cuts, both baselined and non-baselined. My

         18  office has lost some $6 million in City funding

         19  since July of 2001 and that impacted greatly on my

         20  ability to provide the level of prosecutory services

         21  to which the people of my county are entitled. And

         22  while the City has come up with, again, you alluded

         23  to them, a couple of revenue enhancement programs in

         24  an effort to provide us with some relief, that

         25  relief is limited at best for a number of reasons.
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          2  And I would also remind you that the restorations

          3  that you folks provided to us over the course of the

          4  last two years, which, quite frankly, were limited

          5  in amount, were not baselined. Each year we've got

          6  to come back to you hat in hand and beyond that the

          7  Mayor' revenue enhancement program, as currently

          8  crafted, takes those restorations into account, and

          9  it leaves, for all intents and purposes our budget

         10  situation unaffected by your actions. That was the

         11  point that you and I, Council Member Gennaro, talked

         12  about earlier.

         13                 And, of course, as District Attorney

         14  Morgenthau has pointed out, in addition to our

         15  funding cuts. We have taken a series of rather

         16  significant cuts on both the State and the federal

         17  levels, as well, both in terms of direct funding and

         18  also with respect to the reduction or the

         19  elimination of various grant opportunities.

         20                 So, as a result of everything that's

         21  occurred, each of us have been forced to

         22  substantially reduce costs to try to do more with

         23  less. We cut our OTPS to the bone, we reduced our

         24  staffing, largely through attrition and freezing of

         25  hiring. The number of Queens assistants, for
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          2  example, dropped from 320 to as low as 266 at one

          3  point. We have far fewer people today available to

          4  perform the basic functions of our offices,

          5  caseloads per assistant have risen rather

          6  dramatically.

          7                 In January of 2002, each Criminal

          8  Court assistant in my office, for example, was

          9  carrying a caseload of 95 cases. Today those

         10  caseloads jumps from 25 percent to 120 cases per

         11  assistant. And while a number of Assistant District

         12  Attorneys trying felony cases in my trial division

         13  has decreased by almost 20 percent, in the last two

         14  years caseloads have increased by 20 percent.

         15                 That, of course, has had an impact on

         16  the quality of our prosecutions. Fifty percent of

         17  our line assistants who are trying felony cases

         18  today have less than three years at the bar, and

         19  that is wrong. I've had to close down my Family

         20  Court Bureau, I've had to transfer the

         21  responsibility of handling designated juvenile

         22  crimes to the Corporation Counsel's Office, I found

         23  it necessary to reduce personnel committed to our

         24  long-term investigations, and to our youth and

         25  anti-violence community-based initiatives.
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          2                 We've also had to take steps to

          3  reorganize and consolidate personnel assignments to

          4  accommodate reduced staffing levels.

          5                 So, my message to you this afternoon

          6  is that it's time to restore the monies that have

          7  been taken from us. The budget reductions that we've

          8  suffered have pushed us to the point where our

          9  ability to maintain the gains of the last decade is

         10  in jeopardy. We certainly can't continue at this

         11  funding level to carry out the basic functions that

         12  keep our county safe.

         13                 There are already signs on the

         14  streets that criminals are becoming more confident,

         15  they're more brazen about dealing drugs, carrying

         16  weapons. You talk in terms of arrest to arraignment

         17  time, I saw the figures this morning of the first

         18  two months that come from the Police Department. My

         19  arrest to arraignment time is up by almost two hours

         20  in the first two months of this year. My arrests

         21  over the first two months are up by 12 percent over

         22  last year. Last year I had a record 64,000 arrests

         23  in Queens County.

         24                 You alluded to the fact that the

         25  Mayor and the Police Commissioner this morning
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          2  announced the fact that there would be 1,200 new

          3  hirings for the Police Department, 400 of those

          4  hirings would release 400 police officers, in

          5  addition to the 800 police officers that are

          6  apparently being appointed under the new plan, those

          7  1,200 individuals are going to end up reducing as a

          8  practical matter more arrests for us. And, you know,

          9  I pointed this out to you many, many times in the

         10  past, I'm sure you know it, that these reductions in

         11  our budgets are pennywise and pound foolish. They

         12  mean increased case processing time, which

         13  translates into greater police, correction and court

         14  costs. Whatever ends up being cut from our budget in

         15  the longrun costs the City a great deal more than it

         16  saves.

         17                 So, we very, very much need your help

         18  in this year as the City and the State's fiscal

         19  outlook is improved, the revenue is supposed to

         20  increase, we look to you to give us the resources to

         21  fulfill our constitutional and statutory

         22  responsibilities to keep crime down.

         23                 District Attorney Morgenthau alluded

         24  to the fact that the Corporation Counsel, over the

         25  course of the last four and a half years, has
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          2  received a substantial increase.

          3                 There's a law journal article,

          4  front-page article from last Tuesday, a week ago,

          5  that says, and I would certainly agree, that over

          6  the last six years the Mayor has been in office,

          7  funding for the City's Law Department has increased

          8  by 19.8 percent, and similarly, during that same

          9  period of time, that article points out that funding

         10  for The Legal Aid Society has risen by some 20.8

         11  percent. And we sit here having the responsibilities

         12  that we have, and we have taken cuts to the extent

         13  of some 18 percent. That's wrong, and as I say, it

         14  is penny-wise and pound foolish.

         15                 So, we need restorations of that 18

         16  percent or so, and again, each of us have new

         17  initiatives that we've talked about in the

         18  presentation, in the written presentations, I need

         19  identity theft and financial crimes unit. I

         20  certainly need a specialized child abuse

         21  investigation and prosecution unit in Queens.

         22                 Last year Queens County sent 11,000

         23  child abuse allegations to the central registry in

         24  Albany, they returned some 5,264 cases to us for our

         25  review. That's just with respect to the narrow area
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          2  of child abuse. We need to expand our youth violence

          3  intervention initiatives, we need funds to support

          4  an anti-drug trafficking initiative. So, the bottom

          5  line in everything that I've said, and I'm sure my

          6  colleagues agree with me, is that we need you, the

          7  members of the City Council, more than ever before,

          8  to provide us with the resources necessary to allow

          9  us to continue to reduce the level of violence in

         10  the City, improve the quality of the lives of our

         11  residents, and I hope that this year you're going to

         12  be able to help us.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. DA

         15  Johnson.

         16                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Good

         17  afternoon. I'd like to begin thanking you for having

         18  this hearing this afternoon and hearing us out once

         19  again. And also by thanking you for your

         20  past-support. The money that was restored last year

         21  was much needed, much welcomed, as in past years.

         22  And you have been steadfast supporters of ours and

         23  it's much appreciated.

         24                 Normally I begin by telling you the

         25  accomplishments that we've made, but like my
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          2  colleague Judge Brown, I think that it's appropriate

          3  that we really focus in on the impact of what these

          4  cuts have done over the years.

          5                 So, while the document that I've

          6  given you has the graphs to show the successes we

          7  have in crime, there are, further back in the

          8  document and page one and two of the document, have

          9  graphs that indicate the contrasts between the

         10  decline in the budget, the cut in funds that we have

         11  spoken about, 26 percent in OTPS, $4 million in

         12  personal services, as contrasted with the 8,000

         13  additional arrests, almost 12 percent additional

         14  arrests in our county from Fiscal 2002 to the

         15  present. And this, obviously, is before the

         16  additional 1,200 men and women that will hit the

         17  streets as a result of the initiative announced

         18  today.

         19                 Arrests to arraignment for one has

         20  suffered as a result of the way we've been

         21  budgeting. Not just the amount that's been budgeted,

         22  but the way we've been going through not knowing

         23  proportions of the fiscal year, whether or not we

         24  were going to have money restored. We have had our

         25  complaint room staffing almost be like a roller
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          2  coaster, in that it's down for a time in the

          3  beginning of the year when we're uncertain about

          4  what money we're going to receive, and obviously

          5  arrest to arraignment time goes up, and then when we

          6  find out we have some additional money, we're able

          7  to increase the staff and still not decrease arrest

          8  to arraignment to the point that it needs to be in

          9  order to service the people who are charged with a

         10  crime in order to make the court more efficient and

         11  in order to prevent the City from having to expend

         12  large sums of money contesting civil suits by

         13  defendants which are being threatened on a daily

         14  basis.

         15                 We, too, have made requests for

         16  additional funding, first of all, for the

         17  restoration of funds, but also for funding for

         18  things that have not gotten enough attention, and

         19  District Attorney Morgenthau quoted the Mayor's

         20  State of the City Address where he talked about

         21  public safety being a priority, he reiterated that

         22  as recently as today when he announced the impending

         23  hire of these additional 1,200 employees for the

         24  Police Department.

         25                 We believe in that, and we try to
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          2  support that in every way we can. When the City has

          3  come to us with Operation Spotlight and Operation

          4  Impact and Gun Courts, we have placed the staff in

          5  there in order to try and accomplish that, despite

          6  of the fact that our overall staff has declined

          7  during this period.

          8                 In the State of the City Address, the

          9  Mayor focused on gun prosecution on ridding the City

         10  of illegal handguns. It's been a focus of mine since

         11  the first day I took office some 17 years ago. And,

         12  yet, we are still battling. We are still seeing, as

         13  of last year, increased shooting incidents and we

         14  need to place some money in the District Attorney's

         15  Budgets to more adequately deal with this problem.

         16                 I came here today from a middle

         17  school, a building that houses two middle schools,

         18  where a 13-year-old was shot within the last month,

         19  and where when the Borough President and I and

         20  police officials and community leaders went to have

         21  this conversation with these youngsters about

         22  anti-gun violence, when they were asked who knows

         23  someone who was shot, virtually every child in that

         24  auditorium raised their hand.

         25                 This is an issue that needs to be
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          2  addressed. We've placed in our request additional

          3  money for that. We've also placed in our request

          4  additional money for BioTracks Program, a program

          5  that has now come to our county, which the Police

          6  Department is doing crime scene analysis that is not

          7  just in homicide cases, not just in rape cases, but

          8  in unsolved burglary cases and the like, and we are

          9  beginning to see the cases flow. We've assigned

         10  Assistant DAs to work on the project. We estimate

         11  that we'll need another half-dozen Assistant DAs, as

         12  the cases really begin to flow within the system.

         13                 Our Child Abuse Sex Crimes Bill has

         14  Assistants dedicated to being a child abuse response

         15  unit. And their duties involved screening the

         16  complaints that are forwarded to us from ACS,

         17  Administration for Children's Services.

         18                 The number of Assistants,

         19  Investigators and support staff that we have

         20  assigned to that, just four detective investigators,

         21  an Assistant DA, a couple of support staff personnel

         22  is clearly inadequate to deal with the more than

         23  2,000 complaints that ACS refers to us on an annual

         24  basis.

         25                 These matters, and identity theft,
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          2  which has been alluded to, the whole question of

          3  forged documents and false identities that are not

          4  only an economic drain on the citizens of this City,

          5  but are a very real threat in terms of terrorism,

          6  are matters that should concern us.

          7                 And in a more mundane matter,

          8  although it does involve the security of our

          9  personnel and the Borough President's personnel who

         10  are in our office building, when we moved into our

         11  office building some seven years ago, we left the

         12  courts where they had court officers screening

         13  everyone who went into the building and the City

         14  agreed to fund the security of the building, because

         15  we did not have that security from the court

         16  officers.

         17                 We're receiving that funding at the

         18  rate of about $280,000, but it's costing us now

         19  about $410,000. So that that's another drain on our

         20  budget. That's additional money that's not available

         21  for witness protection, for the purchase of illegal

         22  guns, for long-term investigations. We are taking

         23  hits in more than just the baselined budget, we're

         24  taking it because of inflation, because of the new

         25  program that's now been announced for police
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          2  officers, because when even in their magnimity

          3  (sic), the City funds -- not funds, but doles out

          4  raises for staff. It's not always funded, so

          5  unfunded raises and inflation and increased

          6  caseloads all are drained and the baseline budget

          7  remains $4 million below what it was.

          8                 So, we think our estimate, and we put

          9  in a request for $6.7 million, and this document was

         10  printed before I heard the announcement today about

         11  the 1,200 police officers, and even the $6.7 million

         12  request was a conservative request, based on all the

         13  factors that we're having to deal with.

         14                 So, we ask for your support. We know

         15  it's been there, but this is becoming a more and

         16  more extreme problem each and every day.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: By the way, DA

         19  Johnson, I know it's in your legislative authority,

         20  as you mentioned, getting Albany to fix the depraved

         21  and different situation, and I couldn't agree more.

         22  I've already introduced a resolution regarding that

         23  and spoken to DA Diamond personally on that, and I

         24  know that you're all working on that situation, but

         25  it's not one we can allow exist where murderers are
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          2  being let out of jail, probably as we speak. And

          3  it's only a matter of time before one of them kills

          4  somebody else and then finally Albany pays

          5  attention. But we need them to fix this situation

          6  right now and I noticed that in your priorities, and

          7  DA Diamond and I have been speaking personally on

          8  this, so I guess you're next.

          9                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: Thank you.

         10  First let me say that this Committee has been so

         11  supportive of our causes, and not only in words but

         12  in actions, and it does not go unrecognized by all

         13  of us here.

         14                 I, for one, want to talk about the

         15  low salaries of Assistant District Attorneys,

         16  because I actually am a benefactor of low salaries

         17  of Assistant District Attorneys.

         18                 Like yourself, I worked for Mr.

         19  Morgenthau, and I wouldn't be the District Attorney

         20  of Staten Island today if it wasn't for the low

         21  salaries of Assistant DAs, because I would have

         22  never left.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And I wouldn't

         24  be here.

         25                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: And by the
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          2  way, I never got sent to Bermuda, boss. I once got

          3  sent to Camden, but I didn't get any further than

          4  that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yeah, me

          6  neither.

          7                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: And you

          8  know, we talk about our colleagues in this, the

          9  Corporation Counsel, who we've all said many times

         10  before this Committee they deserve the raise they

         11  get, and the Police Department certainly does, but I

         12  think people don't totally understand what the six

         13  of us do on a day-to-day basis, and I've equated

         14  this to overfunding or properly funding emergency

         15  medical technicians who then go to a well-funded

         16  emergency room and then when the patient needs to go

         17  for an operation, you have an OR that's underfunded

         18  and you can't cure the patient.

         19                 Our police officers do a wonderful

         20  job on the streets in those emergency situations,

         21  but we're the operating room. We have to cure the

         22  patient. We have to make sure whatever their work,

         23  it was done before it got to us, it is completed.

         24                 I have 43 lawyers in my office. I've

         25  been a District Attorney of Staten Island for two
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          2  years and three months. I've lost 21 of those 43

          3  assistants, and as we said before, no one leaves

          4  this job because they're bored or they don't like

          5  it, they leave it because they can't afford it any

          6  longer.

          7                 But I didn't lose just 21 assistants.

          8  Those 21 assistants totalled 161 years of

          9  experience. And I've replaced each one of those 21

         10  assistants with a first or a second-year lawyer,

         11  with one or two years experience before they got to

         12  my office.

         13                 Now, you can compare that to other

         14  industries and you can just imagine that if the

         15  airline industry had lost a co-pilot, after training

         16  for eight years, because most of our assistants,

         17  losing 21 assistants, that's 161 years, is an

         18  average of about eight years experience per

         19  assistant, imagine somebody training to be a pilot

         20  and after they've trained for eight years left the

         21  industry and went somewhere else to fly?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me just stop

         23  you for a second because I'm confused. You have 41

         24  now?

         25                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: I have 43
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          2  in total. I lost 21, and I've replaced those 21

          3  people with inexperienced people.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In two years and

          5  three months?

          6                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: In two

          7  years and three months I lost half of my staff.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Amazing.

          9                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: You talk

         10  about the Police Department, the Police Department

         11  does lose seasoned veteran police officers after 20

         12  years, and they replace those people with young

         13  people who are ambitious to fight crime and go into

         14  law enforcement. But can you imagine the Police

         15  Department losing people within their eighth year.

         16  They don't, unless they go to the Fire Department.

         17                 SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR BRENNAN:

         18  Or Nassau County.

         19                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: Or Nassau

         20  County, as Bridget said.

         21                 But that's the time where they're of

         22  value to you. And not that our younger assistants

         23  aren't of value to us, but in the eighth year,

         24  they're the people that can now handle the serious

         25  felony crimes.
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          2                 Judge Brown talked about it, he's got

          3  third years trying serious felony cases. That's not

          4  supposed to be.

          5                 Again, going back to the hospital,

          6  can you imagine, our physicians go through the

          7  medical school, they come out, they do five to eight

          8  years residency, and now a hospital has someone who

          9  performs a very serious surgery, and they leave, and

         10  that's what happens to us.

         11                 I promised my staff I would say this,

         12  to paraphrase an academy award winning song, It's

         13  Hard Out There For An ADA, and you have been of

         14  great help.

         15                 My testimony is recorded in the

         16  handouts that we distributed to you. I reiterate

         17  what all my colleagues have said, but we're

         18  preaching to the choir here. You guys have been

         19  tremendous to us, we're grateful for it, and we have

         20  to come to you and ask you to do it again for us.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Oh, thank you.

         23  And actually there are new members on this Committee

         24  this year, Erik Dilan and Robert Jackson -- well,

         25  Robert Jackson is not a member -- so, preach all you

                                                            180

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  want, because we can use as much support as we can

          3  get on the City Council.

          4                 So, I guess it's Bridget Brennan

          5  next.

          6                 SPECIAL NARCOTICS PROSECUTOR BRENNAN:

          7  Thank you very much.

          8                 I don't want to repeat everything the

          9  DAs have said. Obviously we are extremely grateful

         10  for everything the Council has done. The Council's

         11  support has been absolutely vital to all of us. You

         12  have put your money where your mouth is, and we

         13  appreciate it, and we could not do what we have done

         14  without you.

         15                 My office is in some respects a worst

         16  position in the DAs, in that the City's revenue plan

         17  doesn't allow us to contribute to our own support.

         18  And, so, we are dependent on the City Council's

         19  grant and we are dependent on the good graces of the

         20  DAs, and their ability to contribute to our support.

         21                 That is not a place where we should

         22  be. That is not a place where any of us should be.

         23                 We are talking about getting parity

         24  with where we were in 2001. Crime has not stood

         25  still since 2001. As the DAs have pointed out, they
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          2  have identity theft issues to address, certainly

          3  those cases have increased tremendously since 2001.

          4  We, in Narcotics, have huge issues, issues we didn't

          5  have five or six years ago. We are combatting major

          6  money laundering groups. Just earlier this year we

          7  took down a group that was operating out of Long

          8  Island Queens, Chairman Vallone, that where we

          9  seized approximately $4.1 million, and they were

         10  related to another group in Miami where we seized

         11  another $4 million for a total of $8 million.

         12                 That's one organization, very

         13  sophisticated, but it's one organization.

         14                 I have wanted to hire two

         15  investigators to work money laundering cases for

         16  five years, but I have not been confident that I

         17  would have the funding to pay their salaries

         18  year-after-year, because my funding is patchwork. I

         19  have to stitch it together at the end of the year.

         20  And because of that, I am not able to devote the

         21  kind of resources that we really need to really work

         22  these cases the way they should be, to work more of

         23  them.

         24                 All that money is just flowing out of

         25  the City, and it's going back to South America. That
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          2  should not be happening. We should have the

          3  resources that we need.

          4                 Now, we do major cases. My office

          5  handles major narcotics investigations because New

          6  York City is a narcotics hub for the United States.

          7  It's a shipment center for the United States. But

          8  from your perspective, and from your constituents'

          9  perspective, that's not all that important. What

         10  matters to them are the groups that are causing huge

         11  problems for them in their own neighborhood.

         12                 I know I've worked with you,

         13  Councilman Jackson, I've worked with many of the

         14  Council members on big problems in the City,

         15  neighborhood groups that are extremely violent.

         16  Everyone knows narcotics and guns, they go

         17  hand-in-hand. Narcotics and violence, they go

         18  hand-in-hand.

         19                 Well, my Narcotics Gang Unit that

         20  focuses on this kind of group, has decreased in

         21  size. I have not been able to hire the investigators

         22  I need or the analysts I need, or to fill a staff

         23  position, because, again, I don't know what my

         24  funding is going to be every year, and I'm certainly

         25  not going to hire somebody and not be able to pay
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          2  their salary at the end of the year.

          3                 In practical terms that's the

          4  position this kind of funding has put us in, having

          5  to make those kinds of choices, and not being able

          6  to keep up with crime and criminals.

          7                 I know everyone in this city has

          8  heard about methamphetamine, and fortunately, we

          9  have not seen much of it in the City. But when we've

         10  seen it, primarily we've seen it being sold over the

         11  Internet. Running Internet investigations is

         12  tremendously resource-intensive, and it's

         13  tremendously sophisticated, and we do them. If we

         14  had the resources, we'd do a lot more of them. And

         15  we want to stem the tide of a drug like that before

         16  it really hits. But we can't do it without

         17  resources.

         18                 You'll see in my budget requests,

         19  I've been in requests for units to address those

         20  issues, and one other major hole in our budget has

         21  been our Alternative to Incarcerations Bureau. That

         22  Bureau has never been adequately funded, and we've

         23  relied on a patchwork of State funding which has

         24  decreased. We've relied on federal grants which have

         25  decreased. And next year I don't know if we're going
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          2  to have any federal grants at all. Those have

          3  decreased tremendously throughout the years that

          4  President Bush has been in office.

          5                 And, so, that is a situation that we

          6  find ourselves in. We need to have the tools to keep

          7  up. We need to be able to maintain the quality of

          8  life in this City and we need to address the new

          9  challenges. We can't always be merely looking

         10  backwards.

         11                 We've had some new challenges

         12  ourselves in the area of narcotics. I'm sure you're

         13  aware that there was a major narcotics law reform

         14  package passed last year, which was very good in

         15  certain respects and very bad in others, and it

         16  imposed some new responsibilities on us to look back

         17  at old cases where defendants had been convicted of

         18  top narcotics charges, A1 charges, and allowed those

         19  defendants to petition the court for resentencing.

         20                 And some of those defendants, it was

         21  welcome and did get reduced sentences, and that was

         22  a good thing, and I think all would agree that was a

         23  good thing, but as we look back on our cases,

         24  one-quarter of our cases, 25 percent I would say of

         25  the 81 cases that we looked at involved narcotics
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          2  kingpins, people trafficking in thousands of

          3  kilograms of cocaine, major narcotics traffickers

          4  who held neighborhoods in their strangle-hold for

          5  years.

          6                 And we've had to go back and review

          7  those cases. It's been extremely labor intensive. We

          8  receive no additional funding for it. The Legal Aid

          9  Society, on the other hand, petitioned for

         10  assistance, and big lawfirms have come in and pro

         11  bono are handling many of those cases, and you can't

         12  believe how many trees have died as a result of

         13  that. The briefs we get are huge from the law firms

         14  that have assigned some of their staff to handle

         15  these cases. We've received no assistance

         16  whatsoever. And those are critical cases. They're

         17  critical cases and must be handled properly. And we

         18  have to assure that the right people are being put

         19  back on the streets. They're going out all at once.

         20                 So, as things would happen, of

         21  course, then the legislature passed another reform

         22  which allowed the second tier of defendants, the A2

         23  defendants, to petition for resentencing.

         24                 We have received hundreds of

         25  applications from A2 defendants, and, again, with no
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          2  additional resources.

          3                 Now the Legislature is contemplating

          4  the next group of cases, the B felony cases, and we

          5  have no idea what will happen with respect to those

          6  cases.

          7                 But it has imposed huge burdens on

          8  us, and it may impose significant issues for the

          9  City.

         10                 So, I may be coming back to you, to

         11  inform you about the status of the proposed

         12  legislation and ask you for your support, when we

         13  figure out the best way to approach it.

         14                 In any event, what I would like to do

         15  is thank you for your support, ask you to continue

         16  your support. It's critical to us, and ask you to

         17  take a look at some of our proposals, take a look at

         18  all of our proposals, we can't stand still.

         19                 But, again, thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And hiding in

         21  the corner is not DA Hynes, but that's not unusual.

         22  What is unusual is it's not DA Ameroso. It is Amy

         23  Feinstein. So, do you have something to say?

         24                 MS. FEINSTEIN: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Speaker. I hope that you all don't miss Dino too
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          2  much. I certainly miss him today.

          3                 The District Attorney, District

          4  Attorney Hynes is out of the City today. I thank you

          5  for the opportunity to speak with you. And on behalf

          6  of the District Attorney, I thank you for your

          7  unwaivering support over the years.

          8                 I will not repeat everything all the

          9  speakers said before me, but I'd like to speak a

         10  little bit about what is unique to Brooklyn.

         11                 In the Year 2005, the New York City

         12  Police Department statistics said Citywide arraigned

         13  arrests increased two percent.

         14                 In Brooklyn they increased 11.9

         15  percent, which is an additional 8,000 arrests in

         16  Brooklyn that required staff to process, arraign,

         17  investigate and process.

         18                 Since the tragic murder of Nixzmary

         19  Brown at the hands of her stepfather and mother,

         20  reports of child abuse have skyrocketed.

         21                 In Brooklyn, between January 11th and

         22  March 15th of 2006, the number of ORTs, which is an

         23  Oral Report Transmission, has increased almost 46

         24  percent. 277 more reports have been received in the

         25  past two months alleging child abuse.
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          2                 As Judge Brown mentioned and as the

          3  protocol exists now, each of those allegations is

          4  reported to us before it goes to the New York City

          5  Police Department.

          6                 We have already assigned additional

          7  assistants and additional non-legal staff, support

          8  staff, to our Crimes Against Children Bureau to

          9  ensure that these cases are properly done.

         10                 The number of immediate response team

         11  allegations and other allegations has increased so

         12  dramatically that if they remain at the current

         13  pace, the Police Department will receive between

         14  4,500 and 5,500 reports of abuse this year.

         15  Generally they receive about 1,400.

         16                 As you know, District Attorney Hynes

         17  has a very expansive view of his mandate of District

         18  Attorney for Brooklyn. He's proud and committed to

         19  the philosophy that investing resources in

         20  prevention programs will reduce recidivism and

         21  increase public safety.

         22                 It is his belief and our belief that

         23  the people of Brooklyn deserve progressive creative

         24  solutions to crime.

         25                 Our truancy program called Track is
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          2  one of those programs. We currently have five

          3  truancy centers around the county which are staffed

          4  by District Attorney personnel, attendance monitors

          5  from the Department of Education, and New York City

          6  police officers.

          7                 If a child is truant, and to date our

          8  truancy centers have an 80 percent parental response

          9  and a 99 percent parental contact rate. Our social

         10  workers who work on our staff interview the students

         11  to ascertain why they're absent and what, if any,

         12  services they need.

         13                 We are also very proud of our Calm

         14  Alert Program, which is a re-entry program. It works

         15  with recent parolees to reduce recidivism, promote

         16  clean and sober living, support sufficiency through

         17  employment and provide access to health care and

         18  housing.

         19                 When the District Attorney noted in

         20  2000 that four- to five-thousand parolees were

         21  returning to Brooklyn on a yearly basis, he decided

         22  that they needed support services to ensure that

         23  they didn't reoffend and they didn't return to

         24  prison.

         25                 We are, as I said, proud of our
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          2  program that provides re-entry services by a

          3  coalition of interconnected community-based

          4  organizations headquartered at our office.

          5                 We recently were able to add licensed

          6  substance abuse treatment services with counseling

          7  services EDNY, and in the first six months, over 500

          8  parolees were referred for assessment and over 87

          9  percent were deemed eligible.

         10                 Our research shows that 82 percent of

         11  clients discontinued drug use while enrolled in Calm

         12  Alert, and they were twice as likely to successfully

         13  complete treatment.

         14                 This program reduces the burden on

         15  correctional institutions and social service

         16  agencies, and has a positive impact on the City of

         17  New York. It helps to reunite ex-offenders with

         18  their families, improves neighborhoods and helps

         19  create taxpaying citizens.

         20                 We also have also programs that I'm

         21  sure you're aware of called youth and congregations

         22  in partnership, and we have two relatively new

         23  programs, one is STAR, Saving Teens At Risk, which

         24  deals with teenage girls arrested for prostitution,

         25  and one EPIC, Ending Prostitution In Communities,
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          2  which deals with counseling and alternatives to

          3  adult women prostitutes.

          4                 While we are very proud of our

          5  non-traditional prosecutorial programs, and believe

          6  that reduction in recidivism promotes public safety,

          7  we, of course, also concentrate our attention on

          8  poor prosecution functions.

          9                 It has been mentioned by my esteemed

         10  colleagues, not my colleagues, the District

         11  Attorneys, that our OTPS budget has been cut. Our

         12  budget has been cut over and over again, and you are

         13  well aware that the cost of everything has increased

         14  dramatically.

         15                 We have fixed costs. We do have

         16  beautiful offices in a new building, but our rent is

         17  fixed and those costs have gone up every year. As a

         18  result, our OTPS money has shrunk close to $1

         19  million.

         20                 We cannot sustain any further cuts,

         21  and, in fact, we ask that you restore our funds, and

         22  that you give us parity.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. I sit

         25  here every year, maybe twice a year during our
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          2  budget hearings, and am just dumbfounded by some of

          3  this testimony.

          4                 And you need to keep making this case

          5  to individual Council members. Luckily, you know,

          6  the Council, as you said, gave I believe it was $4.2

          7  million last year, and that wasn't easy to get that

          8  done and it's not going to be easy this year. So,

          9  keep up the lobbying efforts. This is amazing stuff.

         10                 I want to thank everyone for hanging

         11  around and listening to this testimony, while no one

         12  else, not many other people did, because this is

         13  important. Arrests are up. That's something you

         14  never hear when you listen to what's being said

         15  about crime in the City. Crime may be down but

         16  arrests are up. The fact that arrests are up and

         17  crime may be down means it could be better

         18  enforcement going on. But the fact that arrests are

         19  up and crimes like identity theft are just out of

         20  control and the anti-terror prosecution you have to

         21  do, and the 800 new police officers we just hired

         22  all of that coupled with the fact that you're still

         23  down $40 million, 18 percent, and losing half your

         24  staff in a two-year period just boggles the mind. It

         25  boggles the mind.
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          2                 I need a few moments to myself, so

          3  let me go straight to Council Member Gennaro.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chairman. And I thank everyone who is here

          6  today. My comments are similar to Peter's in that

          7  the word dumbfounded certainly comes to mind when

          8  you hear the testimony. But I want to play off of

          9  what Council Member Vallone said actually with

         10  regard to PDs were dumbfounded, and he said you're

         11  making the case to Council members, how important it

         12  was to do that. And Peter, with the precious few

         13  Council members that we have here today, as the DAs

         14  were testifying and the Special Narcotics

         15  Prosecutor, I was trying to think about ways that we

         16  could, you know, try to make the case in a very

         17  successful, or a more successful way to our

         18  colleagues, and I would propose, and at the risk of

         19  being presumptuous, but I mean there were such

         20  compelling facts in each of the statements of the

         21  various witnesses today that, you know, we could

         22  almost produce highlights of what the DAs had to say

         23  today with some overall Citywide facts and something

         24  that is on a borough-specific, in a borough-specific

         25  way so each member, no matter which borough they
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          2  were from, I don't even think we had anybody here

          3  from Staten Island today, you know, as the Council

          4  Member would have something to look at.

          5                 So, I, you know, respectfully

          6  recommend that we try to do something along that

          7  line to try to make the case to some of the members

          8  who didn't have an opportunity to be here today.

          9  Perhaps this would help us in our deliberations.

         10                 Certainly you can count on me for

         11  whatever I can, you know, do within the Queens

         12  Delegation and, you know, we have yourself, we have

         13  Melinda, we have other people who are interested in

         14  this issue, but for other delegations I'd be happy

         15  to be on your team, Mr. Chairman, to make this case.

         16  And, you know, whatever way I could be helpful.

         17                 And also, with regard to the staff of

         18  the Committee, Judge Brown, you made the case that

         19  once again there's a little bit of a bait-n-switch

         20  with regard to restorations that we make and that

         21  are taken into account by the Administration when

         22  they do their revenue enhancement initiative, where

         23  they kind of take that money and bait-n-switch it,

         24  and what comes to mind, Mr. Chairman, and forgive me

         25  if my comments are really not much in the way of
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          2  questions for the witnesses, but it occurs to me

          3  that to the extent that the Administration will take

          4  our hard-fought restorations that you and I through

          5  gimmicks and tricks and whatever else, we might try

          6  to do to get them to put in this money, if the

          7  Administration is only going to take this money and

          8  spit it out anyway, and take this off what they

          9  would give the DAs in terms of their revenue

         10  enhancement, why are we knocking ourselves out?

         11                 So, I think we've got two audiences,

         12  one is our own members of this body to try to make

         13  restoration and try to draw special attention to the

         14  Mayoral bait-n-switch which is going on.

         15                 And so I pledge my cooperation to

         16  assist in any way that I can do that. Because

         17  clearly for us to break our backs, you know, just to

         18  have the Administration take the money and just --

         19  and have it be a wash in terms of exactly what

         20  happens, the various offices would be, would be

         21  silly.

         22                 And, so, again, I'm feeble, I'm

         23  flustered, I feel like, you know, let these great

         24  champions of our public safety and our citizens

         25  down, and I pledge once again, Mr. Chairman, to do
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          2  whatever I can to be of assistance in this critical

          3  fight.

          4                 I've got this Law Journal article

          5  here that, you know, the Judge has given us, which

          6  I'm sure would make good reading for all of the

          7  members of the Council. And once, again, I thank all

          8  of you for your persistence and your dedication, and

          9  you know, how each of you continues to go on in the

         10  face of, you know, not being appreciated. And not

         11  only not being appreciated by the citizens, but not

         12  being appreciated by the Mayoralty, you know, not

         13  being appreciated by people that, you know, whom you

         14  would think would be on your team partying with you.

         15                 So, thanks for coming here today one

         16  and all, and God bless you all.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         19  Council Member.

         20                 Before I get to Council Member

         21  Jackson, we discussed briefly, some of you did the

         22  increase in arrest to arraignment times. I'd like to

         23  hear some of you who may not have addressed that,

         24  and I'd like an answer to the question as to whether

         25  or not the decrease in your funding has directly
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          2  affected arrest to arraignment times.

          3                 Anyone who wants to jump in.

          4                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: Mr.

          5  Chairman. The arrest to arraignment time is broken

          6  down into different stages. The only one that we

          7  actually have any control over is from when the

          8  Police Officer signs in that they're ready to have

          9  their case written up, until the time that complaint

         10  is sworn.

         11                 We have no control over how long it

         12  takes an officer at the time he makes an arrest to

         13  get to arrest processing office. It's not part of

         14  our system. To get from arrest processing to our

         15  office and after a sworn complaint, how long it

         16  takes corrections to move that body, that person to

         17  have their time in court before a judge. So, we have

         18  a small portion of that that's within our control.

         19                 Having said that, our ability to

         20  perform during that part of the arrest to

         21  arraignment time that's within our control, is

         22  contingent, is relied upon by the number of people

         23  we're able to have in the complaint room.

         24                 My good friend Rob Johnson used to

         25  talk about the time has to shrink because you don't
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          2  have the people to staff it. If they have an

          3  increase of 8,000 arrests, that means 8,000 more

          4  cases have to at least be reviewed and the

          5  overwhelming majority of those cases have to be

          6  written up.

          7                 So, when the City looks at arrest to

          8  arraignment time, they have to look at it, and no

          9  one is pointing fingers, but if you want to look at

         10  where is the clog in the system, the only part of

         11  that whole entire process we have is just a small

         12  segment of that, and we all watch that very

         13  carefully. But our budgets have a direct effect on

         14  that because it determines how many people we could

         15  actually staff in the complaint room.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well,

         17  Commissioner Kelly testified that his portion, the

         18  Police Department portion in the past had been ten

         19  hours and they cut that down to nine hours. Now, I

         20  know there's a huge overlap in their portion and

         21  yours because their portion doesn't end until a

         22  sworn complaint happens, and that sworn complaint

         23  doesn't happen without your office.

         24                 But I know, I believe it was DA Brown

         25  who said that your portion of the time has
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          2  increased, I believe you said by a few hours. And,

          3  again, remembering that your portion is a small

          4  portion, the fact that any increase is going to be

          5  incrementally greater.

          6                 So, if you can elaborate on funding

          7  with relation to arrest to arraignment time.

          8                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Well, I've

          9  always drawn the analogy to a funnel. You go ahead

         10  and you pour water into the top of the funnel and

         11  tighten up the bottom of the funnel, things begin to

         12  back up, and during the first two months of this

         13  year, as I pointed out, my arrest to arraignment

         14  time is up by almost two hours, just in January and

         15  February, from 20.61 hours for the first two months

         16  of last year to 22.37 hours this year. But as

         17  District Attorney Donovan points out, another piece

         18  of that is arrest to complaint sworn time.

         19                 When in 2000 my arrest to complaint

         20  sworn time was 6.1 hours, in '01 it ran up to 8.1

         21  hours, and in '04 it ended up being 10.18 hours.

         22  Last year it was down off the ten point figure to

         23  8.47. The reason why it was down was because we got

         24  some money through case processing.

         25                 And, so, as I pointed out, I mean so
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          2  much of this is just so penny-wise and pound

          3  foolish, because as soon as you go ahead and tighten

          4  up the bottom of that funnel, and back up your

          5  cases, you're adding to police costs, you're adding

          6  to correction costs, you're adding to court costs,

          7  so whatever is cut from our budgets ends up costing

          8  the City in the long run a great deal more than the

          9  City saves.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, the case

         11  processing money allowed you to decrease arrest to

         12  arraignment times?

         13                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: That's

         14  correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In what way

         16  would we be able to help you, or would you be able

         17  to, once again, decrease arrest to arraignment

         18  times; what would you need?

         19                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: We need

         20  restoration of the moneys that have been taken from

         21  our budget during the course of the last four and a

         22  half years.

         23                 In my case it's about $6 million. You

         24  go ahead, and it's terribly frustrating to me, it's

         25  just as frustrating I'm sure to each of you, because
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          2  as my colleagues have pointed out, members of this

          3  Committee, you, Mr. Chairman, have always been very,

          4  very supportive of us, but the bottom line of all of

          5  this is the fact that somebody has got to go ahead

          6  and start to think in terms of what it means and

          7  restore to us the monies that we've ended up losing,

          8  and put us in the same position that they put our

          9  colleagues in the defense bar, and our colleagues in

         10  the Corporation Counsel's Office, both of which have

         11  seen during that same four and a half year period a

         12  20 percent increase in their budgets, while we've

         13  taken 18 percent in cuts.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What may be even

         15  more telling is the fact that some of that money to

         16  Corp Counsel was for senior counsel retention

         17  because they face exactly the same problems you

         18  face, losing experienced attorneys to people who pay

         19  them more.

         20                 If they need money for senior counsel

         21  retention, especially with regards to minorities,

         22  you need money for that same situation, but you're

         23  not getting it.

         24                 DA Johnson, what is the average

         25  arrest to arraignment time in your borough?
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          2                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: We've been

          3  consistently above the 24 hours and that's two

          4  factors. One factor is we have a physical barrier

          5  that the Criminal Court building is not capable of

          6  handling the process. You came up yourself and

          7  observed that.

          8                 Hopefully that will be relieved

          9  somewhat with the opening of a new building in

         10  hopefully July of this year. But the second factor

         11  is our complaint room. And we can't consistently

         12  staff our complaint room, not knowing what our

         13  resources are going to be. We don't have enough

         14  assistants on staff. The Criminal Court Bureau is

         15  the one that suffers because it's where the junior

         16  assistants who mostly staff the complaint room are,

         17  and we can't bring them on quickly enough to staff

         18  it until we get the money as we did in the

         19  initiative.

         20                 The exact number, I'm not sure. Tony,

         21  do you have that today.

         22                 TONY: (Not identified) It's close to

         23  30 hours.

         24                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: It's back

         25  up close to 30 hours.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Wow.

          3                 And additional funding would allow

          4  you to bring that number down, correct?

          5                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Is there

          7  anything any of you are not doing that you could do

          8  to lower arrest to arraignment time right now?

          9  Obviously the answer to that is no, I believe?

         10                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thanks, Dan.

         12                 Would any of you support giving --

         13  they're not actually defendants yet -- people who

         14  have been arrested the right to sue the City if they

         15  are not let out within 24 hours?

         16                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: I'm not

         17  sure we have to give them that right. I think that's

         18  something we have to be fearful of as it is just

         19  now. That if they start doing that and if any of

         20  them start winning the suits, the money that we

         21  didn't put in to doing this right, you know, it's a

         22  double loss, because they're spending the time

         23  incarcerated and the money still is being spent.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Would you be

         25  able to get them out any quicker, should a law like
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          2  that be passed?

          3                 I mean, would you be able to do

          4  anything else that you're not doing to get them out?

          5                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: We're

          6  doing all we can.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You're doing all

          8  you can.

          9                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: There is

         10  no interest in keeping people beyond their time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: No, absolutely.

         12  We all want to see that lessened. I was a defense

         13  attorney for longer than I was a prosecutor. I know

         14  it's hard to believe but I was. I represented people

         15  who had done nothing but for whatever reason were in

         16  jail. No one should spend that amount of time

         17  awaiting arraignment. I disagree with certain people

         18  about how you get that down.

         19                 Let me go to Council Member Robert

         20  Jackson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair.

         23                 And I've been here before and

         24  listened to the District Attorneys make their case

         25  for additional funding, and, you know, last year I
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          2  gave the analogy that they're like begging us and

          3  it's a damn shame, and let me just say it again,

          4  it's a damn shame that we have to go through this

          5  process every year. The Mayor should be ashamed of

          6  himself, in order not to fund the District Attorneys

          7  Office to do the job that we intend them to do.

          8                 Mr. Chair, I respectfully disagree

          9  with you on this. I support the 24 hour charge or

         10  release. If I was arrested as a member of the City

         11  Council, I want to be processed immediately and get

         12  out of jail. Most people if they were missing one

         13  day of work or two days of work, they'd be fired.

         14  And so we have to make sure that when people are

         15  arrested, that they are processed immediately and

         16  given their full rights and responsibilities to go

         17  about their business and then, you know, go through

         18  the legal process in order to handle their arrest.

         19  But to keep people incarcerated for, you know, for

         20  24, 30 hours, 40 hours, or whatever how long it is

         21  is totally unacceptable to me as a legislator.

         22                 And I'm not blaming the District

         23  Attorneys or their representatives that are here.

         24  And if you're saying that you're processing, you

         25  know, individuals when you get the case as quickly
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          2  as possible, you know, I truly believe that. But as

          3  a representative of the people in Northern

          4  Manhattan, it's totally unacceptable that you're not

          5  funded appropriately.

          6                 And I would say to you that as a

          7  member of the Finance Committee and as a co-chair of

          8  the Black, Latino and Asian Caucus, I will do

          9  everything that I can to ensure that the funding

         10  that you're requesting of us is restored.

         11                 I wish I was the Mayor. If I was the

         12  Mayor, you wouldn't have to be here. And especially

         13  when New York City is expected to have a four- to

         14  five-billion dollar surplus. Not 1 million, 1

         15  billion, a four- to five-billion dollar surplus. And

         16  we have so much money that the Mayor is looking this

         17  year to place a billion dollars down the road for

         18  retirees health care benefits and a billion dollars

         19  next year. And, you know, we retirees deserve to

         20  have their health benefits, because we're all going

         21  to be there one day soon, hopefully, yes. And the

         22  City has a responsibility to pay for it.

         23                 But I've said there's more immediate

         24  needs, such as giving our children the education

         25  that they need. And the Mayor and I are on the same
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          2  page with respect to the monies they're trying to

          3  get from Albany, but you and I know that if we don't

          4  educate our children and bring them up

          5  appropriately, then many of them are going to turn

          6  to doing criminal elements in the street, the young,

          7  teenage pregnancy, alcohol, substance abuse, and we

          8  don't want any of our children to be heading down

          9  that path. A quality education is extremely

         10  important for them not to head in that direction.

         11                 So, I don't know. I don't know what

         12  can be done. I say to you, though, as one of 51, I

         13  will be fighting to ensure that the monies that you

         14  want are restored, and I sure hope that the Mayor

         15  has a change of heart and put the money that you

         16  need in the Executive Budget, so then the little

         17  monies that we have, and I say little monies, you're

         18  talking about a couple of hundred million dollars,

         19  but when you compare that to a $52.5 billion budget,

         20  it's minuscule, it's small, it's pennies.

         21                 You know, we should not have to be

         22  dealing with funding that District Attorney Offices

         23  out of the discretionary monies that we have, or as

         24  my colleague earlier when the NYPD was in front of

         25  us, my colleague Mike McMahon from Staten Island and
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          2  Police Commissioner Kelly had said that as far as

          3  the precinct I believe in his district is the number

          4  one precinct, one of the oldest that needs to be

          5  replaced, and the money is not in the budget, and so

          6  they are turning to us in order to build a police

          7  precinct. Something is wrong here in this process.

          8  And if I can do anything to assist you in changing

          9  that, I would do everything that I can.

         10                 And let me tell you, I've sat here

         11  before and listened to you. I'm not a member of the

         12  Public Safety Committee, but I am a member of the

         13  Finance Committee, and I say to you that it's a damn

         14  shame that you have to come here and basically

         15  communicate to us what your needs are just to carry

         16  out your responsibilities.

         17                 I don't wish to be in your position.

         18  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: I thank

         20  Council Member Jackson for his understanding and

         21  support of our position.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, he's been a

         23  huge help to me here at the Council when we fight

         24  together for more funding for the DAs office.

         25                 I happen to agree with you, Council

                                                            209

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Member Jackson, 100 percent. No one should spend

          3  that time in jail waiting to be arraigned.

          4                 I just don't believe the answer to

          5  that is giving people who have been arrested, most

          6  of whom are actually guilty of a crime, the taxpayer

          7  money. I believe we should give that taxpayer money

          8  now to the DAs, watch the time come down. And then

          9  we'll see the same goal that we all want to see so

         10  badly.

         11                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: Mr.

         12  Chairman, just let me say on arrest to arraignment,

         13  the two aspects to the problem as my colleagues have

         14  said, one is, you know, we need more people in the

         15  complaint room to speed up the drafting of

         16  complaints, and then we've asked for money for five

         17  additional people, and I think everybody has asked

         18  for it. But in addition to that, we need more

         19  supervision, because prisoners get lost and somebody

         20  has got to try to find them, and the people in the

         21  complaint room that are drafting, they can't do it.

         22  But you know, I had a case just two weeks ago

         23  involving a college student from Chicago who got

         24  arrested for protesting the arrest of a cab driver,

         25  who had been unjustly arrested. A lawyer was
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          2  retained, a competent former Assistant DA in Kings

          3  County, but nobody could find that woman. And it

          4  took hours. You need more people doing supervisory

          5  work so the cases move along and people don't get

          6  lost in the system.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. I

          8  think we're all talking about average arrest to

          9  arraignment time, there's always going to be

         10  situations like that that are going to bump up the

         11  time. There are statements that are taken, there are

         12  fingerprint problems. Those are going to occur and

         13  move up your averages, and there is not a lot that

         14  you can do about that.

         15                 But I think you're right, there are

         16  those situations that exist, and that are out of

         17  your control and also need to be looked at.

         18                 The last question, I guess, since

         19  we're overtime here, is your actual revenue

         20  enforcement initiative agreement doesn't exist as

         21  far as I know this year. Would anyone like to be

         22  heard on whether or not -- does anyone have any

         23  information as to whether that agreement is

         24  imminent, whether it will be changed, which we hope,

         25  and what the situations regarding the agreement for
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          2  next year regarding your funding?

          3                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: While

          4  we're getting that information for you, Mr. Chairman

          5  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You're not going

          7  to break into song again, are you?

          8                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY DONOVAN: Even with

          9  the revenue enhancement, you can't run an office not

         10  knowing how much money you have, or if you're going

         11  to have the same amount next year. You're going to

         12  hire somebody this year because we had a good

         13  revenue year and next year we're not and we're going

         14  to have to let people go.

         15                 I just wanted to comment, while we're

         16  still getting that for you, about the lawsuits of

         17  the arrest to arraignment time and the charge or

         18  release, if that law passes, the Corporation Counsel

         19  is going to be sitting here begging you for more

         20  money to defend those lawsuits. It's going to cost

         21  hundreds of millions of dollars, the City. So, you

         22  are right, that is not the solution. I agree with

         23  Councilman Jackson, that no one, until we decide to

         24  charge somebody, we have to do that as quickly as

         25  possible.
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          2                 Last week the fingerprint scanning in

          3  Albany was down for four hours. Everyone who was

          4  arrested in the State of New York was detained for

          5  four additional hours because we couldn't tell who

          6  they were. That's beyond anyone's control. The

          7  computer guys were figuring all of that out, but

          8  there is a situation where every one of our arrest

          9  to arraignments for that particular day was

         10  increased by four hours for every single person that

         11  was charged, or arrested, even some people weren't

         12  charged.

         13                 I agree with you, the solution is not

         14  lawsuits, but we also agree with you, Mr. Jackson,

         15  that as my colleague Rob Johnson said, we have no

         16  interest in detaining anyone for any length of time

         17  longer than is necessary.

         18                 Did we find that information out?

         19                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY JOHNSON: The only

         20  thing I'm aware of is if they're meeting. You know,

         21  we're sitting down talking to them about where we're

         22  going to end up. And hopefully they're hearing what

         23  you're hearing, because I think our arguments are

         24  compelling, but there is no certainty, as far as I

         25  know.
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          2                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: I'm confused

          3  by all of this even after my staff has made an

          4  effort to apprise me of what's going on.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I said in my

          6  opening statement, this is confusing stuff.

          7                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Apparently,

          8  from what I can gather, what I can gather, we do

          9  indeed have a new agreement which was presented to

         10  us which changes a number of the terms.

         11                 I've got a list of 21 steps to be

         12  followed in that proposed agreement. Apparently

         13  there are discussions that are still ongoing and my

         14  suggestion is that perhaps our staffs and Mr.

         15  Grossman and your staffs can get together and begin

         16  to understand what this process is.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Hopefully

         18  eliminate the entire process because it's just a

         19  ridiculous system of funding someone who is supposed

         20  to be doing justice in the City.

         21                 I've got more questions, but we've

         22  been here longer than I know you allotted and you

         23  probably have a lot of cases to try since there are

         24  no assistants in your office, so you can get back.

         25                 But we will probably see you here
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          2  again in a month or so and follow up with some of

          3  this, and anything we can do, let us know. We've got

          4  a lot of supporters here in this room, and we will

          5  fight as hard as we can to rectify the situations

          6  you've mentioned and keep up the great work an the

          7  noble fight despite the adverse circumstances.

          8                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY MORGENTHAU: We

          9  appreciate your understanding and your steadfast

         10  support.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you very

         12  much. God bless.

         13                 Next we will be hearing from the

         14  CCRB.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: My name

         16  is Councilman Jim Gennaro. I'll just be filling in

         17  for Peter Vallone momentarily, and we're happy to

         18  start the next segment of this budget hearing, the

         19  CCRB. We're pleased to have with us Hector Gonzalez,

         20  the Chair of the CCRB, and Florence Finkle, the

         21  Director of the CCRB.

         22                 Please to have you both here today.

         23  Thank you for your patience, but we want to do right

         24  by each panel that comes before us and you can rest

         25  assured that we'll give you adequate time to make
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          2  your case in the best way possible.

          3                 And I'll call upon Mr. Gonzalez to

          4  state your name for the record and to commence with

          5  your good testimony.

          6                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: Councilman Gennaro,

          7  thank you, and good afternoon. My name is Hector

          8  Gonzalez, and I am the Chair of the Civilian

          9  Complaint Review Board. I welcome this opportunity

         10  to testify before you today, and as you know,

         11  Florence Finkle, the CCRB's Executive Director's

         12  testimony will follow mine.

         13                 The situation that confronts our

         14  agency is a simple one, insufficient number of

         15  resources to handle a record number of complaint

         16  filings responsibly.

         17                 While the Board has increased its

         18  productivity, it now receives more complaints from

         19  the public than it can investigate, mediate and

         20  close in a single year, even at current funding

         21  levels, let alone the levels contemplated in Fiscal

         22  Year 2007 January Plan.

         23                 New Yorkers demand for the CCRB's

         24  services has grown consistently and substantially

         25  over the past four years.
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          2                 The CCRB received 6,796 complaints in

          3  2005, an increase of ten percent over 2004, and a 47

          4  percent since 2002.

          5                 While the agency does not typically

          6  speculate on the causes of fluctuations in the

          7  complaint rate, there are two aspects to the current

          8  trend worth nothing.

          9                 First, the increase has been driven

         10  by complaints made directly to the CCRB, in

         11  particular, by telephone complaints.

         12                 Since 2002, the number of CCRB

         13  complaints referred to the agency after being filed

         14  initially with the New York City Police Department,

         15  has actually decreased, while the number filed

         16  directly with the CCRB has increased by 128 percent,

         17  including a 148 percent increase in telephone

         18  complaints, that's from 1,653 in 2002 to 4,100 in

         19  2005.

         20                 Though the rise in complaint filings

         21  began before implementation of the 3-1-1 system in

         22  March 2003 and has continued since the system

         23  reached maturity and not all telephone complaints to

         24  the agency are transferred through 3-1-1, the 3-1-1

         25  system seems to have played some role in the
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          2  increase of complaints.

          3                 Second, complaints involving abuse of

          4  authority allegations, such as question and or

          5  stopped, have risen at rates higher than complaints

          6  in which forced discourtesy or offensive language

          7  allegations are lodged.

          8                 During 2002, for example, the agency

          9  received 515 complaints in which a citizen alleged

         10  that he was improperly questioned and/or stopped,

         11  and 1,674 in 2005, an increase of almost 225

         12  percent.

         13                 It is important to differentiate

         14  between a rise in complaints, however, and a rise in

         15  police misconduct. More complaints can be assigned

         16  that New Yorkers are increasingly aware of or have

         17  greater faith in the CCRB so that the total number

         18  of police, civilian and counters has grown.

         19                 What is beyond dispute is that when

         20  the CCRB receives more complaints, its staff must

         21  conduct more investigations and submit more cases to

         22  the board for closure.

         23                 In order to continue increasing its

         24  productivity, the Board needs funding for a staffing

         25  level commensurate with the number of complaint
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          2  filings.

          3                 Based upon an analysis of CCRB

          4  complaint data, there is no evidence to indicate

          5  that the complaint filings will decrease. On the

          6  contrary, over the course of 2005 and during the

          7  first two months of 2006, the complaint rate has

          8  continued to rise.

          9                 Although the Board has had to grapple

         10  with rising complaint rates without a corresponding

         11  rise in resources, it has managed to be

         12  significantly more efficient.

         13                 For example, the Board closed 6,522

         14  cases in 2005, approximately 700 more than in 2004

         15  and 1,600 more than in 2003. Productivity

         16  improvements of 12 and 34 percent respectively over

         17  those two years.

         18                 In addition, the Board reduced cost

         19  per case closure during each of the past four fiscal

         20  years from 2,275 in 2002 to 1,739 dollars in 2005, a

         21  drop of 24 percent. Yet, the CCRB still could not

         22  keep pace with complaint filings.

         23                 During 2005, the agency's average

         24  open docket stood at 3,518 cases, compared to 3,126

         25  in 2004, and 2,056 in 2002.
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          2                 We last testified before you on May

          3  24th of last year, a time when the Fiscal Year 2006

          4  budget plan threatened the CCRB's ability to

          5  effectively investigate complaints.

          6                 Thanks to you, the New York City

          7  Council, for the third year in a row, the adopted

          8  budget added a million dollars to the CCRB's

          9  funding.

         10                 That support permitted the CCRB to

         11  fund 24 investigator positions in an effort to keep

         12  pace with current complaint rates.

         13                 While complaints have dramatically

         14  increased since 2002, the Administration's five-year

         15  budget plans during this same period have not

         16  allocated any additional funds to the agency.

         17                 The January Fiscal Year 2007

         18  financial plan calls for a 12 percent overall

         19  reduction in CCRB funding that would require cost to

         20  the CCRB's investigate staff of 16 percent.

         21                 The plan once again eliminates the 24

         22  positions the Council has added during the past

         23  three adopted budgets, reducing the agency's overall

         24  headcount from 184 to 160, and decreasing the number

         25  of investigators the agency can employ from 147 to
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          2  just 123. A headcount this low would severely

          3  compromise the CCRB's capacity to fulfill its core

          4  mission, the timely and detailed investigation of

          5  complaints.

          6                 On December 29th, 2005, the CCRB

          7  submitted a request to the office of Management and

          8  Budget asking that $1,344,000 be added to the CCRB's

          9  Fiscal Year 2007 outyear budgets to fund an

         10  additional 27 investigators and a ninth

         11  investigative team.

         12                 While we appreciate your efforts in

         13  supporting us, we believe, like you do, that relying

         14  on the New York City Council to fund basic

         15  operational needs on a year-to-year basis is

         16  inefficient and counterproductive.

         17                 I was heartened to learn of Council

         18  Member Weprin's statement at a March 6th hearing,

         19  during which he said that the Council was committed

         20  to changing what has come to be referred to as the

         21  "budget dance," the cutting by the Administration

         22  of programs that everyone fully intends the Council

         23  to restore.

         24                 For the CCRB, an agency that has been

         25  the subject of this budget dance for the last three
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          2  years, relying on single-year funding from

          3  year-to-year does not permit the agency to spend the

          4  amount of money as efficiently as it could.

          5                 I remain hopeful, though, that the

          6  Office of Management and Budget will provide the

          7  funding in the upcoming Executive Financial Plan the

          8  CCRB has requested and requires and that the CCRB

          9  can sit out of the dance for this year.

         10                 While investigating complaints

         11  remains our core mission, the CCRB continue to

         12  perform other duties mandated by the City Charter.

         13  In 2005, we successfully mediated 90 cases and

         14  closed 98 more cases as mediated attempted. Slightly

         15  fewer cases than we closed in the mediation process

         16  in 2004.

         17                 However, the CCRB's long-time

         18  mediation director, and senior mediation

         19  coordinator, both relocated outside of New York last

         20  year.

         21                 The agency hired a new mediation

         22  director in May of last year. And in the second half

         23  of 2005, the mediation unit accepted 200 cases for

         24  processing, 45 more than it did in the first half of

         25  the year.
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          2                 In addition the agency totally

          3  redesigned it's mid-year report to create a crisp,

          4  readable book, that is accessible to the lay public.

          5  You should each have received copies of this report

          6  last fall, and we are obviously willing to

          7  distribute additional copies to you or to your

          8  constituents if you so require.

          9                 We will continue to publish detailed

         10  statistics in our year-end report so that

         11  specialists can follow the precise details of our

         12  operations. I want to thank you, again, for

         13  understanding the importance of an effective

         14  Civilian Complaint Review Board and for your

         15  continued support in the years since you established

         16  this agency.

         17                 Provided with sufficient resources,

         18  the CCRB has demonstrated that it can provide

         19  efficient and quality services to your constituents.

         20                 Having an effective CCRB, as you

         21  know, not only improves the quality of policing, but

         22  also enhances the public's trust in the vast

         23  majority of officers who do their jobs effectively

         24  and honorably.

         25                 I will answer any questions you have
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          2  at this time or following Ms. Finkle's testimony.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank

          5  you, Mr. Gonzalez.

          6                 We'll take Ms. Finkle's statement

          7  first before we venture to do questions. Thank you

          8  for your testimony. I appreciate it. Appreciate it

          9  very much.

         10                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: You're welcome.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Ms.

         12  Finkle, pleased to have you here today.

         13                 MS. FINKLE: Good afternoon,

         14  Councilman Gennaro. I am Florence Finkle. I am

         15  Executive Director of the New York City Civilian

         16  Complaint Review Board. My testimony will focus on

         17  three issues. First, the CCRB's calendar year 2005

         18  performance. Two, the impact the current financial

         19  plan will have on the Board's performance, and

         20  three, the details of the new needs request the

         21  agency submitted to the Office on Management and

         22  Budget on December 29th, 2005.

         23                 As Chair Gonzalez testified, during

         24  2005, the CCRB closed a total of 6,522 cases, a 12

         25  percent increase over the 5,818 it closed in 2004, a
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          2  34 percent increase over the 4,883 it closed in

          3  2002.

          4                 The CCRB's productivity gains

          5  resulted from two primary factors, an increasingly

          6  high investigator headcount and the institution of

          7  efficiency measures to handle the increase in

          8  complaints.

          9                 The agency has increased its

         10  investigator headcount through two means. One,

         11  concentrating resources on the Investigation

         12  Division, and, two, with the cooperation of the

         13  Office of Management and Budget acting quickly to

         14  fill open investigator lines.

         15                 In 2000, 69 percent of the agency's

         16  employees worked in the Investigations Division.

         17  Over the past six years the agency has streamlined

         18  its non-investigative operations and reallocated

         19  positions to the Investigations Division as

         20  non-investigative employees left the agency.

         21                 In 2005, a full 80 percent of the

         22  agency's employees worked in the Investigations

         23  Division. While the agency's average headcount rose

         24  only ten percent from 2000 to 2005, from 163 to 179,

         25  the average number of investigators grew by 28
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          2  percent from 112 to 143.

          3                 Second, the agency moved quickly to

          4  replace investigators as attrition occurred. Since

          5  Fiscal Year 2005, the Office of Management and

          6  Budget has expeditiously approved the CCRB's request

          7  to hire investigators, allowing the CCRB to maintain

          8  an overall headcount far higher than that permitted

          9  by out-year budgets.

         10                 Consequently, in 2005, the CCRB was

         11  able to maintain an average investigator headcount

         12  of 143, the highest in its history.

         13                 With more investigators, average

         14  individual caseloads decreased during 2005 to a

         15  three-year low of 19 cases, even as complaint

         16  filings increased.

         17                 With fewer cases on their individual

         18  dockets, investigators were able to spend more time

         19  on each case, and therefore close more cases in a

         20  single year.

         21                 From 2003 through 2005, the average

         22  number of investigators on staff rose from 121 to

         23  133 to 143. At the same time, the average number of

         24  cases each investigator submitted to the Board for

         25  closure, grew from 40 to 44 to 47, a productivity
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          2  increase of 18 percent in two years.

          3                 With the funding the Council has

          4  provided for the CCRB and adopted budgets, OMB's

          5  cooperation, and an aggressive strategy to maximize

          6  the percentage of our employees investigated cases,

          7  the CCRB has been able to employ more investigators

          8  who have, as a result become more productive

          9  investigators.

         10                 The agency has also taken steps to

         11  improve the efficiency of investigations themselves.

         12  The CCRB has concentrated investigative efforts on

         13  those civilians who demonstrate a willingness to

         14  pursue their complaint.

         15                 While investigators continue to take

         16  their required minimum number of steps to locate and

         17  gain the cooperation of complainants and alleged

         18  victims, the four recommending to the Board that a

         19  case be closed without conducting a full

         20  investigation, prolonged and extra attempts to

         21  interview these civilians have been curtailed.

         22                 For example, investigators no longer

         23  routinely make time-consuming field trips simply to

         24  interview complaints and alleged victims who haven't

         25  expressed an interest in following up on their
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          2  complaints.

          3                 The agency has also tried to expend

          4  its limited resources on cases in which the facts

          5  and legal issues are not clearcut.

          6                 If a civilian provides in his or her

          7  own statement information that will exonerate an

          8  officer, for instance, it may not be necessary to

          9  interview other witnesses and officers.

         10                 However, in cases in which it appears

         11  an officer committed misconduct, and in cases where

         12  it is unclear what happened, investigators still

         13  pursue all investigative leads.

         14                 By focusing on cases that require the

         15  most extensive investigation, the agency has

         16  decreased the resources devoted to cases where

         17  factual and legal issues are more easily resolved.

         18                 Despite significantly improving its

         19  productivity, as Chair Gonzalez testified, the CCRB

         20  has been unable to close as many cases as it is

         21  receiving.

         22                 From January 1st through December

         23  31st, 2005, the agency's open docket rose from 3,204

         24  cases to 3,478. The average time it took the agency

         25  to close investigations increased by weeks from 280
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          2  to 294 days.

          3                 While the number of complaints an

          4  agency received did not rise as steeply in 2005 as

          5  it had in 2004, the combined increases over the last

          6  several years have been substantial, and complaints

          7  are still rising.

          8                 Although it's undisputed that

          9  complaints have risen 47 percent in just three

         10  years, the current Fiscal Year 2007 Financial Plan

         11  will require the CCRB to reduce its investigative

         12  staffing by 24 positions.

         13                 With an investigative headcount of

         14  approximately 123 investigators, the CCRB projects

         15  that the average caseload per investigator will

         16  increase from 19 in 2005 to 28 this year and 37 in

         17  2007, increases of 47 and 95 percent respectively.

         18                 As a result, the agency's monthly

         19  caseload will rise from an average of about 3,500 in

         20  2005 to more than 4,000 by 2007, an increase of 15

         21  percent.

         22                 With only 123 investigators on staff,

         23  the Investigation Division's monthly docket, which

         24  doesn't include cases pending Board closure or

         25  mediation unit cases, will increase at an average
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          2  rate of more than 130 cases per month.

          3                 One-hundred and twenty-three CCRB

          4  investigators will not be enough to prevent case

          5  completion times from rising to unreasonable levels.

          6                 The time it takes to complete full

          7  investigations will increase from 294 days, nine and

          8  a half months in last year, to 361 days in 2006, and

          9  401 days or 13 months in 2007.

         10                 The average age of substantiated

         11  cases measured by date of occurrence will rise to

         12  390 days, nearly 13 months and 432 days, 14 months,

         13  in 2006 and 2007.

         14                 The Police Department has in the past

         15  publicly stated that it needs at least three months

         16  to evaluate and review cases the CCRB substantiates

         17  and refers. And the Department cannot bring charges

         18  against or discipline an officer more than 18 months

         19  after the date of the incident. Should an average

         20  substantiated investigation take 14 months, in far

         21  too many cases the Department will allow time to

         22  bring charges or institute discipline before the

         23  statute of limitations lapses.

         24                 In fact, the number of cases in which

         25  the Statute of Limitations will expire before the

                                                            230

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  CCRB can even forward the case to the Department

          3  will increase.

          4                 In 2002, the Board substantiated only

          5  four cases more than 18 months or older as measured

          6  from the date of occurrence.

          7                 In 2003 and 2004, that number rose to

          8  11 in 10 cases.

          9                 We project that the number of cases

         10  will rise from eight in 2005 to 13 in 2006 and 24 in

         11  2007, thus preventing the Department from

         12  disciplining officers who committed misconduct.

         13                 In order to cope with the increased

         14  workload, on December 29th, 2005, the CCRB submitted

         15  a request to the Office of Management and Budget for

         16  additional resources.

         17                 First, the CCRB requested a total of

         18  $1.2 million in both PS and OTPS funds to add 27

         19  investigative positions to its Fiscal year 2007 and

         20  out-year budgets.

         21                 Our projections show that with 115

         22  investigators, the agency will be able to

         23  essentially maintain a status quo, reducing its

         24  docket by approximately ten cases per month.

         25                 Second, the CCRB requested that OMB
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          2  add approximately $131,000 to fund the

          3  reestablishment of a ninth investigative team.

          4                 The CCRB was forced to disband its

          5  ninth investigative team in March 2003 due to budget

          6  cuts. However, as complaint rates have increased,

          7  the number of investigators and cases, each of the

          8  eight teams three supervisors manages has exploded.

          9  From 2002 through 2005, the size of an investigative

         10  team's average docket increased by 51 percent, and

         11  the number of line investigators on each team

         12  increased by 25 percent.

         13                 As a result, the three supervisors of

         14  each investigative team are currently struggling to

         15  appropriately higher, train and evaluate their

         16  staffs and to oversee all the cases on their teams.

         17                 The CCRB is dedicated to

         18  investigating or mediating every complaint we

         19  receive, but we're receiving more complaints now

         20  than we ever have before, and in order to do our job

         21  properly we simply need more resources.

         22                 Thank you for your attention and the

         23  Chair and I welcome any questions you have.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you both

         25  for your testimony. And, Hector, I was listening to
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          2  yours.

          3                 Flo, you made an amazing statement.

          4  You said that it's undisputed that complaints have

          5  risen 47 percent, yet the current fiscal plan would

          6  require you to cut staffing by 24 positions.

          7                 Now, obviously you made a pitch to

          8  the Mayor for funding, or his people. What has been

          9  the response? How has that been justified?

         10                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: The response is we're

         11  still hopeful that the case that we've made here to

         12  you and the similar case that we've made to the

         13  Mayor and to the Mayor's staff, in particular, will

         14  be accepted and that the funds that we're requesting

         15  will flow.

         16                 However, given our past experience,

         17  we're not hopeful, and that is, again, why we are

         18  here hat-in-hand, which it seems like most agencies

         19  seem to be, having heard the DAs' woes, asking you

         20  again to do what you've done in the past, and to

         21  allow us through your additional funding to carry

         22  out our mission.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And, again,

         24  that's no way for you to run an agency, to hope that

         25  we restore funding, and that eliminates any chance
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          2  of planning ahead or hiring people or anything along

          3  those lines, just hoping that we're able to restore

          4  your funding, which we've been successful doing.

          5                 The increase in complaints that you

          6  spoke about, you know, Commissioner Kelly testified

          7  last year that that was due to increased outreach,

          8  to the 3-1-1 system, to an on-line complaint form,

          9  do you agree with that or disagree with that? Or do

         10  you have any opinion as to why that increase is

         11  happening?

         12                 MR. GONZALEZ: I don't necessarily

         13  disagree with it, because we have been unable to

         14  pinpoint precisely what the basis, if there is a

         15  sole basis for the increases. I think certainly the

         16  ease with which the 3-1-1 system allows for citizens

         17  to have their matters referred to the CCRB, greater

         18  efficiencies that we've done, for example, in the,

         19  for lack of a better term, the look and feel of our

         20  web presence. All of those things I think

         21  contribute.

         22                 And we don't know, because it's not a

         23  statistic that we are privy to, whether the number

         24  of civilian police encounters overall in the past

         25  few years have increased.
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          2                 And certainly if those encounters,

          3  which presumably would be completely appropriate, at

          4  least that would be the presumption, if those

          5  encounters as a raw number have increased, and you

          6  would assume and extrapolate out from the number of

          7  complaints flowing from those encounters would

          8  likewise increase.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, it's a

         10  good point again people don't realize because of the

         11  amount of time that's spent saying crime is down,

         12  that felony crime is down but actual arrests are up,

         13  so encounters are up, which also might be a factor.

         14                 What is troubling, I guess, in

         15  addition, is the fact that not only your complaints

         16  are up, but substantiation rates are up. And I don't

         17  know if you touched upon that but can you elaborate

         18  on that?

         19                 MS. FINKLE: Actually, the complaint

         20  rate in two-thousand -- the substantiation rate in

         21  2005 actually dropped from a high in 2004. Let me

         22  clarify what I mean when I refer to the

         23  substantiation rate.

         24                 There are many ways to measure it,

         25  but typically we take the number of investigations
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          2  where we attempt to reach the merits, what we call

          3  fully investigated cases, and of the full

          4  investigations that we closed in 2005, in

          5  approximately ten percent the Board substantiated

          6  one or more allegations.

          7                 Over the last five years, the average

          8  substantiation rate using this measure was 12

          9  percent. So, last year was a little bit below that

         10  and in 2004, the rate was 16 percent, so it was

         11  higher than the five-year average.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, I should

         13  clarify when I said it was going up, was going up

         14  from say 2000 to 2004. I wasn't aware that in 2005

         15  it has dropped a little.

         16                 The NYCLU is giving me concerns

         17  regarding your interaction with the Police

         18  Department when it comes to the Republican National

         19  Convention, and they lead to some bigger questions.

         20                 Again, I would not know this, had it

         21  not been for the NYCLU, but I'm told that the Police

         22  Department did reinvestigations of any case that you

         23  substantiated coming out of the RNC. Number one, did

         24  that happen? And number two, is that happening in

         25  other areas? Have they reinstated this process which
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          2  they have done in the past on a general basis?

          3                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: We know no more than

          4  you do or Mr. Dunn knows in terms of what the

          5  Department does with our cases once we stand them

          6  substantiated cases.

          7                 As I've said in the past, as the City

          8  Charter clearly spells out, the ultimately arbiter

          9  of discipline for the Department is the

         10  Commissioner.

         11                 We, as the CCRB, and as you, Chairman

         12  Vallone, would appreciate the analogy, in essence

         13  serve a grand jury-type role whereby we look at

         14  cases and we send substantiated cases over to the

         15  Department with recommendations, regarding what we

         16  think the discipline should be.

         17                 It's the prerogative of the

         18  Department to do with those cases as it wishes.

         19  Hopefully, and historically has honored the

         20  overwhelming majority of our substantiation

         21  recommendations and that's been a trend that I think

         22  demonstrates the good work that the agency is doing.

         23                 But what the Department does with

         24  those cases, that is something that needs to be

         25  asked of the Department and from my role as the
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          2  Chairman of the CCRB, it's something that is their

          3  prerogative and I don't think in any undermines the

          4  role of the CCRB.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, we're

          6  providing funding for the CCRB to do this job, and

          7  if it's being done twice, that's not something that

          8  is in the best interest of taxpayers. So, I will be

          9  inquiring of the Police Department as to whether or

         10  not they're doing this. I'll be sending a letter out

         11  today.

         12                 But I am concerned that you wouldn't

         13  know if they were doing this. Why would that be?

         14                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: The only thing that

         15  we are aware of, and that's both from press accounts

         16  and from information that we've received from the

         17  Department, is that with respect to the RNC, they

         18  had established a Board, the Department within it,

         19  for senior officers to examine substantiated RNC

         20  cases. I think as far as I know, that that is a

         21  unique situation dealing only with the RNC, and I am

         22  not aware and I have no reason to believe that in

         23  all other cases that we send to them that are

         24  substantiated, it goes through whatever the

         25  established procedure is within the Department, to
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          2  review those cases, to see whether the Department is

          3  going to pursue departmental charges with respect to

          4  those cases.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You say they

          6  uphold your findings in the majority of cases,

          7  overwhelming majority I think you said, it was

          8  substantial; is there any follow-up done by your

          9  agency to determine whether nor not that in fact

         10  happens, that what you recommend occurs?

         11                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: We get regular

         12  monthly reports from the Department, and we report

         13  out as part of our public reporting, the rate at

         14  which the Department takes disciplinary actions,

         15  follows through with disciplinary actions on the

         16  cases that we have sent to them as substantiated.

         17  And for 2005 I'll turn to Flo to give us what that

         18  exact rate was.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: With specific,

         20  regarding the Republican National Convention, I

         21  guess there was some sort of situation where the

         22  numbers were no longer conforming, that would be

         23  disconcerting.

         24                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: Well, truth be told,

         25  Mr. Chairman. The total number of cases that flowed
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          2  out of this RNC convention, and Ms. Finkle I think

          3  has the exact figures, but the total number of cases

          4  that were substantiated were fairly small in the

          5  order of a handful. So, I do not think that whatever

          6  the Department does with those cases from a

          7  statistical perspective would be able or would allow

          8  an observer to say that that somehow is anomalous

          9  from the overall rate at which the Department takes

         10  action on those cases.

         11                 MS. FINKLE: With respect to the

         12  Republican National Convention, the CCRB received

         13  just 63 complaints that fell within its

         14  jurisdiction. We've closed all those cases. And of

         15  the 44 cases that we fully investigated, the Board

         16  substantiated three.

         17                 Now, I know from the disposition

         18  reports that the Department has sent us, as well as

         19  from press accounts from a few weeks ago, that

         20  they've apparently closed those cases, and in one

         21  case an officer retired, and in another cases an

         22  officer forfeited a couple of days, and another case

         23  the Department has not taken action, chose not to

         24  take action.

         25                 To give you a sense of, typically of
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          2  the cases that we substantiate and refer to the

          3  Department, the Department imposes discipline

          4  generally more than 70 percent of the time. So, for

          5  say 2003, they've resolved most of the cases that

          6  we've referred from that year, and the Department

          7  imposed discipline 71.4 percent of the time. Of the

          8  cases it resolved so far that we referred in 2004,

          9  the Department imposed some discipline in 78

         10  percent, against 78 percent of those officers.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, that's

         12  actually good news, I guess, that only three were

         13  substantiated. That means I think they're not as bad

         14  as we were led to believe. In fact, as I said many

         15  times, there are more cameras at that location than

         16  probably anywhere else in the history of the world,

         17  and I probably saw about three instances in total

         18  where it actually should have been taken. So, that's

         19  interesting information.

         20                 Let me talk about the cooperation

         21  that the Police Department gives you in general. RNC

         22  and in general.

         23                 Now, we had a hearing where the

         24  Commissioner, where the head of the Commission to

         25  combat corruption, police corruption testified. And
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          2  he resigned because of the fact that the Police

          3  Department was not cooperating with him. How would

          4  you characterize the level of cooperation between

          5  your agency and the Police Department?

          6                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: I think that we have

          7  a good relationship with the agency. I mean, it's

          8  one that by definition is adversarial in nature as

          9  it should be, but that does not mean that it is a

         10  relationship that can't be cooperative. Because as

         11  you all, I believe, understand, that a

         12  well-functioning CCRB and one that the public has

         13  trust in inures to the benefit of the Department as

         14  well, because the citizens believe that they have

         15  recourse.

         16                 And I have no reason to doubt that

         17  the Department does not view the function of the

         18  CCRB as something that is to their benefit.

         19                 That being said, we are constantly in

         20  communication with them, both at my level and at the

         21  staff level to come up with ways to improve access,

         22  come up with ways to increase efficiencies, in

         23  particular through greater access to databases that

         24  the Department may be developing that gives us the

         25  ability to handle our investigations more quickly.
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          2                 So, my overall assessment is that I

          3  think we have a good relationship with the

          4  Department, to the extent where we disagree, where

          5  it's healthy disagreement that the lines of

          6  communication are open in a positive way.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm going to

          8  turn now to Council Member Jackson, who is still

          9  here. Can't get rid of him. That's how concerned he

         10  is about these topics, and we're glad to have him.

         11                 Council Member Jackson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         13  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         14                 And you're right, you know, I think

         15  that people will say that I'm well known for my

         16  involvement in education, but I have said to my

         17  constituents, the number one issue that faces them

         18  and faces me as a resident of the community is the

         19  safety and well-being. And that goes with the

         20  protection of NYPD and all of the agencies that were

         21  in front of us today, including the CCRB.

         22                 Now, as far as the number of

         23  complaints that are coming in. I mean, clearly you

         24  have increased your vehicles for complaints through

         25  come in, I believe people can even call in; is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: The 3-1-1 system is

          4  one way. People can't call directly, but the 3-1-1

          5  system is used.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you list

          7  in categories of complaints, for example, verbal

          8  abuse, you know, physical assault? What are the

          9  major categories of complaints that you receive?

         10                 MS. FINKLE: It's actually defined in

         11  the City Charter. Our jurisdiction covers force

         12  complaints, abuse of authority, discourtesy and

         13  offensive language.

         14                 Offensive language involves

         15  complaints that are involving slurs based on

         16  someone's race, nationality, religion, sexual

         17  orientation.

         18                 Abuse of authority is the broadest

         19  category, and it can encompass, allegations of

         20  improper search and seizure fall within the abuse of

         21  authority category. And if you take a look at our

         22  year-end reports, we list how we dispose of every

         23  single type of allegation we receive within these

         24  broad force, abuse of authority, discourtesy and

         25  offensive language categories.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, but is

          3  it in here in your statement as to the rough

          4  numbers? For example, you say it is listed in the

          5  Charter, but it's like 50 percent of your -- 30

          6  percent of your complaints are verbal abuse or abuse

          7  of authority; do you have any type of a breakdown

          8  with you at this --

          9                 MS. FINKLE: Yes, I do. I'm sorry, I

         10  didn't understand your --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It's okay.

         12                 MS. FINKLE: I misunderstood your

         13  question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It's okay.

         15                 MS. FINKLE: Twenty-nine of the

         16  complaints that we received in 2005 fell within the

         17  force category, 52 percent fell within abuse of

         18  authority, 17 percent fell within discourtesy and

         19  three percent fell within the offensive language

         20  category.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you don't

         22  have any breakdown for 2006 yet, we're still in

         23  there, but do you see from a historical perspective

         24  the complaints come, stay in that category as far

         25  as, you know, what's the number one, two, three
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          2  categories of complaints?

          3                 MS. FINKLE: Well, actually, over the

          4  last five years, the complaints in which abuse of

          5  authority allegations are lodged have increased, and

          6  the number of complaints in which force allegations

          7  are lodged has decreased slightly.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And what

          9  would be sort of like within abuse of authority?

         10  What would be the minimum complaint from your

         11  perspective from a range of abuse of authority and

         12  what would be like the maximum of abuse of

         13  authority?

         14                 MS. FINKLE: Well, I'm hesitant to

         15  characterize it in the same way at the same level of

         16  seriousness, but the allegation that's lodged most

         17  frequently in the abuse of authority category is

         18  questioned and/or stopped. That would include

         19  requests for information, common law right of

         20  inquiry and a forceable stop.

         21                 There are three different legal

         22  justifications that are required to conduct any of

         23  those actions.

         24                 Another category that has a

         25  tremendous number of allegations is premises entered
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          2  or searched, frisks, search of the person, threat of

          3  arrest, and refusal to give name and shield number.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, with

          5  respects to the budget, I heard, I was over there

          6  trying to have some lunch, I didn't eat all day so I

          7  had a little soup and a slice of pizza, but you were

          8  saying that if in fact the funding is not received

          9  in the Executive Budget by the Mayor, you're talking

         10  to the Mayor's Office now and you're also talking to

         11  us, members of the City Council, that you would have

         12  to lay off approximately 24 staff members or

         13  investigators?

         14                 MS. FINKLE: We would not be required

         15  to lay off our staff. We have a fairly high

         16  attrition rate amongst the investigative staff.

         17                 So, I think that everyone would

         18  anticipate that the headcount in Fiscal Year '07, if

         19  it remains as it is, would be achieved through

         20  attrition.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What are the

         22  first and second primary reason for the high

         23  attrition rate of your investigators.

         24                 MS. FINKLE: Well, first of all, the

         25  starting salary is $30,000 a year.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thirty

          3  thousand?

          4                 MS. FINKLE: Yes, and we require a

          5  bachelor's degree. That goes up to about 34,000

          6  after two years.

          7                 Two, the type of person that is

          8  attracted to the CCRB job has the qualifications to

          9  do the job, typically do not see themselves as

         10  long-term investigators. A lot of them leave the

         11  agency to attend professional graduate school, like

         12  law school.

         13                 We do ask that investigators who come

         14  to work here make a moral two-year commitment, but

         15  it's not binding on them.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. And,

         17  so, how much money, I'm sorry, I didn't look at the

         18  documents; how much money are you saying will bring

         19  you at the level where you don't have to, you know,

         20  move to eliminate staff through your high rate of

         21  attrition of investigators?

         22                 MS. FINKLE: Well, for the last three

         23  years, as the Chair indicated, we've been in this

         24  budget dance, and the Council over the last three

         25  years has restored a million dollars that funds 24
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          2  lines. What we've asked for this year is

          3  approximately 1.2 million to fund those 24 lines,

          4  but we also need the supervisory staff to oversee a

          5  ninth, a new investigative team. Because the size of

          6  each team's dockets, and the number of investigators

          7  assigned to each team, make it fairly unmanageable

          8  just to have eight teams.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, you're

         10  saying that you've been in this dance for three

         11  years. Prior to that you were not in the budget

         12  dance?

         13                 MS. FINKLE: That's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. So, in

         15  essence, what you're saying to me, that either in

         16  the Preliminary Budget or the Executive Budget, that

         17  the funding was baselined so you won't have to go

         18  through this process? You didn't have to go through

         19  this process?

         20                 MS. FINKLE: That's correct.

         21                 You know, after September 11th and

         22  the City began reducing all agencies' budgets, that

         23  is when the first cuts to our agency began and

         24  that's when we started asking for those cuts to be

         25  restored, and that's what's happened for the last
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          2  several years.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, you're

          4  basically trying to get back to a pre-9/11 situation

          5  like so many other groups and agencies in the

          6  Department?

          7                 MS. FINKLE: I guess that's fair to

          8  say, but the demand for our services at the same

          9  time also dramatically increases. As we've

         10  indicated, complaints have gone up by 47 percent

         11  since the end of 2002. So, we're not just asking for

         12  the money to be restored for the sake of asking the

         13  money to be restored. If complaints had fallen for

         14  some reason we couldn't be here as requesting from

         15  either the Administration or the Council that we

         16  deserve or merit additional funding, but our need is

         17  documented.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I also had to

         21  sneak lunch. I thought it would be less distracting

         22  to eat than to faint up here.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, I agree.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Gonzalez, Ms. Finkle, for your testimony today. We
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          2  will hopefully once again be able to restore your

          3  funding, if the Mayor decides not to give you the

          4  funding you deserve. That obviously would be the

          5  right way to get this done, baseline your budget and

          6  allow you to plan, allow you to do the job that you

          7  need to do. As I just said to a news organization,

          8  we need to have a well-run, efficient, well-funded

          9  CCRB, independent, to ensure that the public has

         10  faith in its Police Department, and that's the role

         11  you play and you need to be funded to play that role

         12  the way it was meant to be. That's why the City

         13  Council created it basically and funded it. So,

         14  thank you for the work you do, and we look forward

         15  to working with you to ensure that you have the

         16  resources necessary to get the job done.

         17                 CHAIR GONZALEZ: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman, to you and your fellow Council members.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         20                 And now we have the public portion of

         21  this hearing with some representatives from DC 37

         22  and 1549, that will be the next panel. That will be

         23  followed by some other panels which we have, but

         24  anyone who has not, who wishes to testify and has

         25  not given us a sheet, please do so.
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          2                 Again, let me apologize for eating

          3  while you're testifying, but I have eaten since

          4  seven, so I apologize.

          5                 Thank you, both. I know, Chris, you

          6  have been here awhile, patiently waiting. Thank you

          7  for the help you've given us prior to this hearing

          8  and I look forward to your testimony.

          9                 MR. DUNN: (Not identified for the

         10  record.) Peter, I just have to start by, there will

         11  be few people in this room who will appreciate the

         12  rich irony of Peter Vallone, Jr. singing the praises

         13  of the CCRB, given your father's position on this

         14  institution, but it's terrific that you are doing

         15  so, and I look forward to those words translating

         16  into action.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I don't know

         18  what that means. He wanted the independent. He is

         19  the one who wanted the independent --

         20                 MR. DUNN: No, no. He was very opposed

         21  to it. It took a PBA ride to change his opinion,

         22  Peter.

         23                 Anyhow, let me turn to the testimony.

         24  As I think you know, from some communications we had

         25  with Ted, we do have some concerns, and Peter, while
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          2  you and we disagree on a lot of things, you smell a

          3  rat when there is a rat to be smelled, and there is

          4  a rat to be smelled with the CCRB and the Police

          5  Department.

          6                 But before I turn to that, let me

          7  just quickly point out two things.

          8                 You asked about the complaint rate.

          9  And you are absolutely right, the complaint rate has

         10  gone up substantially. The rise in complaints

         11  against police officers in the last three years is

         12  an invisible phenomenon. Ray Kelly has made that

         13  disappear. That is part of the problem we're here to

         14  discuss. But it is real. And as you pointed out, the

         15  substantiation rate has maintained itself or has

         16  gone up, which means there are significantly more

         17  substantiated complaints against Police Officers in

         18  the last three years. That's a matter of serious

         19  concern to this Committee and to us.

         20                 Secondly, you asked about the

         21  discipline rate. It is true, as Ms. Finkle said,

         22  that in most cases the Police Department is imposing

         23  discipline. What was left out was the huge void

         24  between what the CCRB has recommended and what the

         25  Police Department has imposed.
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          2                 And I would encourage you, when you

          3  or Ted are looking at this, to be paying very close

          4  attention to the discipline the Police Department

          5  has been imposing, which has turned into the most

          6  minor forms of discipline for substantiated

          7  complaints. It's a major problem.

          8                 All right, let me turn, if I can

          9  quickly, to the RNC issues. And you asked Hector why

         10  are we paying for this twice, when you were asking

         11  about the reinvestigations, I was very happy to hear

         12  you say you were going to send a letter to Mr. Kelly

         13  today about the RNC because that is long overdue. I

         14  don't mean you personally, I mean some

         15  accountability in the Police Department's end. They

         16  announced last year, they didn't announce, it came

         17  out, it was leaked, but they had set up this special

         18  panel to reinvestigate cases. That poses a mortal

         19  threat to the CCRB, if the Police Department is

         20  going to reinvestigate cases, what is the point of

         21  having the CCRB? They're just going to redo it and

         22  they're going to add a lot of time and cases are

         23  going to expire. That's a major issue, and if the

         24  Police Department thinks it can get away with that

         25  for something as high profile as the RNC, they can
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          2  get away with it on anything else.

          3                 Secondly, something you did not ask

          4  about, which I think is even a more serious

          5  consideration. I see that my time is up, can I have

          6  another minute?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: If you keep

          8  saying nice things about me.

          9                 MR. DUNN: We say the nice things up

         10  front, Peter. You know that.

         11                 Their refusal to produce senior level

         12  officials for investigations. The RNC was very

         13  unusual, perhaps unique, in the sense that many of

         14  the complaints that arose out of the RNC were

         15  against senior level officials, including chiefs.

         16  Usually CCRB complaints are against cops. These were

         17  against chiefs. There were a large number of

         18  complaints against high level officials. And even

         19  though the City Charter requires the Police

         20  Department to produce officers for investigations,

         21  the Police Department, and undoubtedly Commissioner

         22  Kelly was personally responsible for this, the

         23  Police Department made a decision not to produce

         24  chiefs, deputy chiefs, assistant chiefs, inspectors

         25  and even captains for CCRB investigations. No
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          2  interview, no completion of investigation, no

          3  possible substantiation, no theoretically possible

          4  discipline.

          5                 The fact of the matter is, the CCRB

          6  as of January of this year, 17 months after the

          7  convention, still had close to 25 cases open,

          8  because the Police Department had refused to produce

          9  high-level officials. And in that letter that you

         10  send to Commissioner Kelly, when you start asking

         11  about cooperation, which is what you should be

         12  asking about, you need to, I believe, respectfully

         13  ask him why was this policy put into place and what

         14  can be done to ensure that in the future that never

         15  happens again. It's illegal and it completely

         16  underminded the CCRB. And if this Council is going

         17  to give the CCRB a lot of money to do

         18  investigations, you and everyone else should be

         19  making sure that they are doing something that makes

         20  a difference.

         21                 It's nice to hear all the numbers

         22  from the CCRB about all the complaints they're

         23  investigating, but the question we all want to know

         24  is, what's the difference they are making when it

         25  comes to police misconduct?
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          2                 Because I know you care about police

          3  misconduct, because every time there is a bad cop

          4  that affects all the good cops you care about.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I've prosecuted

          6  bad cops myself, so I know they're out there. I know

          7  that even if one percent of our police force is bad,

          8  well, now it's going to be even more, but that's

          9  3,380 police officers that shouldn't be out there.

         10                 Regarding the failure to produce

         11  high-level officials, it's something I did want to

         12  follow-up with CCRB but time ran out. The question

         13  is, is their answer going to be because the

         14  complaint wasn't made against that individual?

         15                 MR. DUNN: No. That will not be their

         16  answer. These individuals were the subjects of the

         17  complaints. They were not witnesses. They were

         18  subjects of the complaints.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Subjects because

         20  of an action they took, a rude action or something

         21  under the purview of the CCRB, or a subject because

         22  someone disagreed with an order or a way they

         23  reacted.

         24                 MR. DUNN: For instance, you may have

         25  read the Times story two weeks ago about the Deputy
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          2  Chief against whom a complaint was substantiated.

          3  The Deputy Chief from Manhattan South. He was

          4  personally responsible for an arrest.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That is

          6  obviously a situation that falls under CCRB's

          7  purview --

          8                 MR. DUNN: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: But the rest of

         10  these instances, was that someone who was told to

         11  not come?

         12                 MR. DUNN: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

         14                 MR. DUNN: And he only appeared for an

         15  interview, finally, in December of last year. I

         16  learned about it because he told me on the street

         17  just by coincidence. I had an event with him.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So he did come,

         19  just very late.

         20                 MR. DUNN: At the very end and they

         21  substantiated that complaint in the middle of

         22  January, less than six weeks before the Statute of

         23  Limitations was going to expire. The clock had run

         24  out. This is what their strategy was, they were

         25  going to run the clock out and they did.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, he didn't.

          3  You said they got it before the conviction, the

          4  substantiation prior to the Statute of Limitations.

          5                 MR. DUNN: No, they got the

          6  substantiation, but the Statute of Limitations

          7  defines a period of time in which discipline can be

          8  imposed. So, the CCRB investigation is just step one

          9  of that.

         10                 As you heard Ms. Finkle say, the

         11  Police Department takes the position, it takes at

         12  least three months for it to even process a

         13  substantiated case. You know, they ran the clock out

         14  on these things. There I will tell you, the CCRB

         15  meeting, Peter, the monthly meeting, the beginning

         16  of this month, I was sitting outside the Committee

         17  room. They were in executive session, I believe it

         18  was on March 6th, reviewing cases for which the

         19  Statute of Limitations had expired the prior week.

         20  And there were chiefs who were subject officers in

         21  those cases. And the only reason that he waited so

         22  long is because the Police Department refused to

         23  produce those people for interviews.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's a very

         25  troubling allegation. I will be looking into that.
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          2                 Ms. Lieberman.

          3                 MS. LIEBERMAN: Thank you. Chris made

          4  all sorts of complimentary comments on my behalf.

          5                 I want to comment on a couple of

          6  matters that are in the budget. The Civil Liberties

          7  Union doesn't typically talk about numbers in the

          8  budget, and I'm not going to do that either, but I

          9  think hidden in the numbers are some policy

         10  decisions that are worth the Council's attention.

         11                 The budget proposes an addition of

         12  286 school safety agents, on top of 453 agents who

         13  were added in last year's budget.

         14                 I think that before approving money

         15  for additional school safety agents, it's incumbent

         16  upon the City Council to do an evaluation of what's

         17  going on with School Safety Agents and Police in the

         18  schools. What kind of training is being provided to

         19  these agents, what kind of protocols are in place,

         20  and are there indeed clear lines of authority for

         21  these School Safety Agents when they are in the

         22  schools.

         23                 In other words, are they supporting

         24  the educational leadership, or are they undermining

         25  it? There has been a number of incidents, some of
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          2  them highly publicized, in which teachers have been

          3  arrested for calling on the police or School Safety

          4  Agents for assistance. We have been unable to get

          5  full information from the Police Department or the

          6  Department of Education, and it's pretty apparent to

          7  us that there is not a rule with regard to the

          8  School Safety Agents, or police in the school, that

          9  on matters of school discipline the school officials

         10  rule the day.

         11                 We have examples of school safety

         12  agents chasing after kids for refusing to take off a

         13  hat. Just the other day a youngster was arrested in

         14  a Queens high school for refusing to show his school

         15  ID to a School Safety Agent when he was steps,

         16  footsteps from his classroom door. This wasn't at

         17  the beginning of the day, it was in the middle of

         18  the day when he was on his way from another class.

         19                 Up in the Bronx at the New School for

         20  Arts and Science, two teachers were arrested after

         21  they called the police in as a result of a student

         22  fight. The fight was over by the time the cops got

         23  there and somehow after cursing and abusing the

         24  teachers in front of their peers and in front of the

         25  students, two teachers were, the police arrested two
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          2  teachers.

          3                 There's something wrong in terms of

          4  the functioning of School Safety Agents in the

          5  schools. There's something wrong in terms of

          6  delineating who has got the authority and the

          7  police, the agents and the officers in the schools

          8  are not being held accountable.

          9                 It's not even clear that there's a

         10  mechanism to file a complaint, when a School Safety

         11  Agent abuses his authority, and I think it's

         12  incumbent before the Council agrees to expand this

         13  program, that you get some answers to these very

         14  important questions.

         15                 Along the same lines, I'd like to

         16  note that we're not going to go into the

         17  advisability of peppering the streets of New York

         18  City with surveillance cameras. We know that there

         19  is money in the budget for hundreds of more

         20  surveillance cameras, so that none of us has to

         21  worry about forgetting what we did the other day, we

         22  can just look it up on the videotape, but you know,

         23  it's incumbent upon the City Council I think to

         24  develop a regulatory scheme and to ask the hard

         25  questions about these surveillance cameras. Where

                                                            262

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  are they being deployed? How are the decisions being

          3  made? Who has access to the records, what records

          4  are being kept and what mechanisms are in place to

          5  prevent abuse?

          6                 There have been examples that have

          7  been highly publicized, all of the abuse, the video

          8  surveillance material has been taken by the police,

          9  the housing police and others, what mechanisms are

         10  you going to put in place to protect me and all the

         11  rest of the citizens of New York from our private

         12  information being thrown all over the Internet

         13  inappropriately, and videotape records of our

         14  harmless activities of getting into the wrong hands.

         15                 And then, finally, it was good to see

         16  that in the Council's budget report an

         17  acknowledgment that the time from arrest to

         18  arraignment has increased.

         19                 We assume that that recognition

         20  implicit there is a dissatisfaction with the

         21  increase and the delays in processing people who are

         22  arrested.

         23                 I think there's a solution to that

         24  problem. It's the passage of Intro. 53, which

         25  require arraignment within 24 hours of arrest. So, I
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          2  just want to add, it's not a get out of jail card,

          3  Pete. It's a bill that requires the City to ensure

          4  that people are arraigned within 24 hours, and if

          5  they're not arraigned, there's a civil process.

          6  There is not a get out of jail free. There's no

          7  requirement that somebody be released automatically.

          8                 Yes, the City has to pay the piper

          9  when it doesn't play fair, but the requirement is to

         10  arraign people within 24 hours.

         11                 And just the other day we were on the

         12  phone with somebody who was in jail for 40 hours

         13  after being arrested on a telephone domestic

         14  dispute.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         16  Actually, I didn't call it to get out of jail and

         17  get free, I called it to get out of jail and get

         18  paid. So, we really do differ on that one.

         19                 Regarding video cameras, I think you

         20  wrote the op ed piece against the video cameras, and

         21  I wrote the op ed piece in favor of it. So, anyone

         22  who wants to see my position there can just go

         23  Google that.

         24                 MR. DUNN: And, Peter, on that point,

         25  I take it you will be a co-sponsor of a bill to
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          2  require the Police Department to video tape the

          3  entirety of interrogations of defendants, and not

          4  just the portion when they confess, and since you

          5  are such a strong believer in the power of video

          6  tape.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We had this

          8  discussion many, many times. I'm not co-sponsoring

          9  that bill. I don't favor that bill for reasons other

         10  than the fact that I love videotapes, I think they

         11  should videotape every case possible, but there are

         12  other problems I had with that bill. For another

         13  day.

         14                 Regarding the teacher situation. I'm

         15  not going to get into it. Obviously there is a whole

         16  other side to that story. I actually wrote a letter

         17  to Robert Johnson completely disagreeing with his

         18  handling of that case. No teacher -- they didn't get

         19  arrested for calling the police, they got arrested

         20  for interfering with the arrest. And you're

         21  absolutely right, there's a lot of confusion there,

         22  but no teacher should interfere with an arrest in

         23  front of their students. That's a horrible example

         24  and can lead to a death on the street. If a student

         25  sees someone they respect, their teacher,
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          2  interfering with police, they think they can do it

          3  on the street. It's a heinous act for a teacher to

          4  do that and I disagree completely with Robert

          5  Johnson.

          6                 That occurred because of an

          7  inexcusable confusion of what is happening in our

          8  schools that does need to be worked out. But

          9  confusion aside, no one interferes with a police

         10  officer during an arrest.

         11                 MS. LIEBERMAN: Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Especially not a

         13  teacher.

         14                 MS. LIEBERMAN: And in that case the

         15  officer barged into a classroom, instead of going to

         16  the principal first, and the underlying defense that

         17  the student committed that he was on his way to

         18  arrest her for, I think was like cursing him, okay?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's what the

         20  teacher called the police for.

         21                 MS. LIEBERMAN: No. That's a different

         22  situation. Bronx Guild, where the teacher allegedly

         23  interfered with the principal, allegedly interfered

         24  with the arrest, the officer was arresting the

         25  student for having cursed at him in the hallway.
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          2                 Now, that may be a matter of school

          3  discipline, but last I looked, it wasn't a crime.

          4                 What happened in the other school in

          5  the Bronx where the two teachers were arrested.

          6  There were no allegations that they tried to

          7  interfere with the arrest. The fight was over. The

          8  cops came into the room after the fight was already

          9  over. A teacher said do you need to handcuff them in

         10  the classroom, and the police officer responded

         11  basically shut up mm-hmm expletive okay, and cursed

         12  out two teachers in front of everybody. Okay, there

         13  is no dispute about that. The charges in that case

         14  were dropped at arraignment.

         15                 That's a problem.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, the one I

         17  wrote the letter on was the principal situation.

         18  That one I'm not familiar with, but I'll take your

         19  word for it.

         20                 MS. LIEBERMAN: There's a lawsuit

         21  pending on that. So, there will be sworn depositions

         22  shortly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I look forward

         24  to reading them, or hearing about it.

         25                 Let me go over to Council Member
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          2  Jackson first.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Just one

          4  question. And I'm sorry I have to leave shortly, I

          5  have another commitment. But you were saying that

          6  the Charter says that the Commissioner is supposed

          7  to make available all personnel for the CCRB. Well,

          8  if the CCRB recognizes that this is a strategy that

          9  has been employed, have they taken legal action

         10  against NYPD for that particular lack of bringing

         11  forward chiefs and other personnel so that

         12  investigators will have an opportunity to interview

         13  them?

         14                 MR. DUNN: To the contrary, and this

         15  gets to the point that Peter was making when he

         16  asked, or expressed I'm surprised that Hector didn't

         17  know more about the Police Department's position in

         18  these investigations. The fact of the matter is, not

         19  only has the CCRB not brought any legal action, they

         20  have refused to speak publicly about this. Even

         21  though they are an independent public agency, they

         22  have refused to discuss it in their public meetings.

         23  They have subpoena authority which they chose not to

         24  exercise.

         25                 One of our significant concerns here
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          2  is not only that the NYPD has been stonewalling the

          3  CCRB, but that the CCRB has been going along. And we

          4  understand that the CCRB is dependent upon the

          5  Department in ways and requires it to have a

          6  constructive relationship, fair enough. But we

          7  believe we have long since crossed that line and

          8  through these actions and others the Police

          9  Department has just been able to make the CCRB

         10  irrelevant.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, but now

         12  there's a board, there's a Board of Directors of

         13  people that are appointed by the City Council, by

         14  the Mayor, by the Police Commissioner. I would

         15  assume then that either, you know, your organization

         16  has brought this to the Board, the Board hopefully

         17  will vote on it and direct it, the Executive

         18  Director to take action. The Chairman is the Mayor's

         19  appointee; is that correct?

         20                 MR. DUNN: That's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Have you

         22  brought this to the Board's attention for some

         23  objectivity, hopefully?

         24                 MR. DUNN: Council Member Jackson, the

         25  CCRB will tell you that probably the number one most
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          2  annoying thing they have in their lives, at least in

          3  their public lives, is me standing up at their

          4  public meeting and reiterating these concerns, which

          5  I do month in and month out.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Let me ask

          7  you a question. Do you hear those types of comments

          8  from the members that are appointed by the City

          9  Council?

         10                 MR. DUNN: I hear members of the City

         11  Council say to me --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You're

         13  talking about the Board members --

         14                 MR. DUNN: Yes, in private. CCRB Board

         15  members say to me things like, it's great what you

         16  guys are doing, keep at it. In public it doesn't

         17  translate into anything. At these meetings they sit

         18  there silently, and, frankly, I'm just astonished

         19  there is not a single member of the CCRB Board who

         20  has stood up and said this is unacceptable. We have

         21  to do something about it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I would

         23  strongly suggest that you write to Christine Quinn,

         24  our Speaker, and other members of the delegations.

         25  Because as you know, we have the authority to
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          2  appoint about five members --

          3                 MR. DUNN: Appoint four of them.

          4  That's correct, there are four Council members.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, I saw

          6  that in the brochure here.

          7                 MR. DUNN: Absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: This is the

          9  first time I'm hearing that, because quite frankly,

         10  you know, I as a representative of the City Council

         11  don't, I don't want to have people just sitting

         12  there like a lump on a log. We put them there, we

         13  assigned them there, because, one, they want to be

         14  there, and number two, they want to serve and

         15  represent the people of the City of New York. And

         16  if, in fact, you know, the NYPD is stonewalling, and

         17  it's clear to that effect, then I expect as a

         18  legislator for them to stand up for the people of

         19  New York City.

         20                 And even if, for example, it's a vote

         21  of the Board and they should lose, let's say six to

         22  five, at least they're standing up and taking

         23  action.

         24                 MR. DUNN: Council Member Jackson,

         25  it's hard to rely this to you, but there was a time
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          2  when there were active policy discussions, debates

          3  on the CCRB Board in public sessions. I would say

          4  for at least the last year, maybe the last two

          5  years, public meetings consist of Hector Gonzalez

          6  saying a few comments; Flo Finkle running through

          7  the numbers; Committee reports, maybe, maybe not;

          8  new business, no; old business, no; end of meeting.

          9  The meetings are over in less than 15 minutes. A

         10  meeting two months ago was eight minutes in total.

         11  The only reason these meetings last longer than that

         12  is because some of the loud mouth public advocates

         13  stand up and then talk, and then the meeting is

         14  over.

         15                 It is shocking how little public

         16  business and debate there is with the CCRB, at a

         17  time when complaints are up 50 percent. We are not

         18  talking about an agency which is dealing with a

         19  problem that is disappearing. We are talking about a

         20  burgeoning problem that deals with the New York City

         21  Police Department. And the fact of the matter is,

         22  everyone is terrified of Ray Kelly. No one is going

         23  to take Ray Kelly on. And the CCRB, as it is

         24  presently constituted, is certainly not going to do

         25  that.
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          2                 And as I said to them at the last

          3  meeting, I'm giving up almost on the CCRB, and

          4  that's why we're starting here, and I'm happy to

          5  hear you say that. We'll certainly talk to Chris

          6  about it. It is a problem the Council now has to

          7  address, because the CCRB, in our view, is simply a

          8  dead letter.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         10                 Thank you, Peter.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Jackson.

         13                 Obviously I disagree with you as to

         14  the effectiveness of CCRB, but you make some very

         15  valid points. It's very disconcerting to hear these

         16  meetings are 15 minutes. They used to be at least an

         17  hour back when I had staff attending. And again, my

         18  staff has been cut down too, and to get the job they

         19  need to get done in 15 minutes is not possible.

         20                 And you're absolutely right, you

         21  mention reasons why they may not speak up, and

         22  obviously they are dependent on the Police

         23  Department for the full cooperation, and perhaps

         24  more dependent on the Administration, the Mayor, for

         25  funding, and that's not a situation that's -- one
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          2  should have nothing to do with the other, and that's

          3  where we find ourselves. This may be the reason why

          4  complaints are up and yet funding is down. And that

          5  should not be allowed to happen, which is why we

          6  continue to fund them. And we will. Because I, as my

          7  father before me, do see their importance and do

          8  realize they need to be around and play a huge role

          9  in the justice system here in New York City.

         10                 I do want to discuss that with you,

         11  by the way, what we discussed before about the

         12  independent police review board and whose bill it

         13  was and how it was brought to the courts and who

         14  brought it to the courts and how it lost in the

         15  courts, and those sorts of things.

         16                 But your testimony was immensely

         17  helpful, both here, and the help you gave us prior

         18  to the Committee. We stand ready to work with you on

         19  anything. Anything you need from us, you just let us

         20  know, information-wise. And thank you. Thank you,

         21  both, for your testimony.

         22                 MR. DUNN: We look forward to seeing

         23  the letter you send to Commissioner Kelly.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We'll have it

         25  out. Maybe not by this afternoon, because it's now
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          2  4:00, but hopefully by tomorrow we'll send you a

          3  copy.

          4                 The next panel will be Ralph

          5  Palladino, the Second Vice President of Local 1549,

          6  DC 37, and Alvin Carter, also of that union.

          7                 Thank you, both for being patient.

          8  And hopefully quick. But thank you for your

          9  testimony. You may begin.

         10                 MR. CARTER: My name is Alvin Carter,

         11  and I am the Local 1549 Chapter Chair representing

         12  the Department's Police Administrative Aides and

         13  Senior Police Administrative Aides.

         14                 On behalf of my members and all of

         15  Local 1549 members, I bring greetings and thank you

         16  for letting me testify.

         17                 In 1968, the City of New York created

         18  a Police Administrative Aide title in order for the

         19  New York City Police Department to maximize

         20  resources while saving a great deal of money. The

         21  logic was simple and indisputable.

         22                 New York City police officers are

         23  trained to perform patrol and enforcement duties and

         24  do it magnificently.

         25                 However, full-duty officers should
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          2  not be performing the purely clerical administrative

          3  duties to which they are now regularly assigned.

          4                 Police Administrative Aides and

          5  Senior Police Administrative Aides excel throughout

          6  the Department. Almost all members reside in the

          7  City, as required by law. They live, shop and raise

          8  their families in New York City and have a vested

          9  interest in doing their job well.

         10                 In 1995, Local 1549 filed a reverse

         11  title grievance. It took years of hard work, much of

         12  it done by our shop stewards and members, resulting

         13  in a decision in September 2004 affirming the

         14  union's claim.

         15                 3,500 full-duty officers from various

         16  ranks were identified as performing strictly

         17  clerical duties. In this age of terrorism, it is

         18  incumbent upon the Police Department to maximize all

         19  of their resources.

         20                 Civilianization accomplishes this

         21  while reducing cost. Large and small Police

         22  Department's around the country have civilianized

         23  and are enjoying the benefit.

         24                 This is a public safety issue.

         25  Utilizing all full-duty police officers would make
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          2  the City safer and further reduce crimes. We ask

          3  that the City Council put money in this year's

          4  budget to revive the needed civilianization in the

          5  Police Department.

          6                 Thank you for this opportunity.

          7                 MR. PALLADINO: Yes, thank you for the

          8  opportunity to testify and also, thank you for your

          9  continued support in the City Council.

         10                 Now that you've finished lunch, I

         11  guess we can give you food for thought.

         12                 We think it is positive that the

         13  Mayor and the Police Commissioner have begun to

         14  implement an arbitrator and judge's decisions that

         15  will mandate civilianization of clerical positions

         16  in the NYPD. We also appreciate his statement in

         17  support of civilianization.

         18                 However, the number of positions that

         19  were mentioned for this year and next year should be

         20  greater. The number of positions that can be turned

         21  over with proper training is anywhere from 480 to

         22  1,440 per year, given round-the-clock training

         23  capacity.

         24                 Local 1549 believes that the best way

         25  to spend tax dollars wisely and productively is to
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          2  extensively train new clerical employees. In

          3  addition, there must be a new civil service test

          4  given as soon as possible.

          5                 While we have documented 3,500

          6  clerical positions in need of civilianization, we

          7  are confident that the number is closer to 5,000.

          8  This means that actual patrol strength is at least

          9  5,000 less than the number of police officers given.

         10                 And here I would just say that I

         11  heard today that the Commissioner said they

         12  identified 700 clerical positions, while in

         13  actuality if you look in our statistics that we

         14  gathered by ground, on the ground in the areas where

         15  the people work and not sitting in an office some

         16  place, we think that the commissioner is mistaken

         17  and needs to look at it again. Because even if you

         18  take the number of people that were documented by

         19  Comptrollers Hevesi and Thompson, as well as Public

         20  Advocate Green and the Citizen Budget Commission,

         21  their statistics all say that there are 2,000 to

         22  10,000 positions.

         23                 Now, Suffolk County embarked on an

         24  ambitious civilianization program two years ago that

         25  resulted in a nine percent drop in crime. The sooner
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          2  that civilianization is fully implemented, the

          3  sooner the public will be safer from crime. It will

          4  be easier for the federal government to help fund

          5  new police officer positions if they knew that the

          6  new recruits were not going to be filling desk jobs.

          7                 The same is true of the City's claim

          8  to need more police officers for security, while

          9  having so many sitting behind the desks.

         10                 Civilianization will save the

         11  taxpayers money in the longrun, while making the

         12  City's streets safer. It is a program that will

         13  enhance patrol officer safety and create needed jobs

         14  throughout the City. A program that saves tax

         15  dollars while making the public safer is a win/win,

         16  and that must be aggressively pursued. We call on

         17  the City Administration, the NYPD, and the City

         18  Council to make this investment in the future now.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, both.

         21  As you know, we here on this Committee, well, Andy

         22  and I here on this Committee, have supported your

         23  quest for civilianization for some time now. We took

         24  a big first step today. It's a first step, just a

         25  first step. I know you had to change your testimony
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          2  around probably at the last minute and retype it up

          3  and get it copied for us. I don't have questions,

          4  because as you know I sat down with your union

          5  members and representatives maybe two weeks ago and

          6  am fully briefed on this, so I don't need to ask any

          7  questions, since it's just us here in the room, but

          8  I will continue to work with you to make sure that

          9  we see your goals accomplished, and I will be

         10  reaching out to you, or hopefully you will reach out

         11  to me in the next month before the next hearing to

         12  talk about how this new announcement today is being

         13  implemented and what still needs to be done. I know

         14  we don't even have a police representative yet on

         15  the Commission, so there are still some things that

         16  need to be done, and we will work with you to get

         17  that done.

         18                 Thank you both for coming down today.

         19                 MR. PALLADINO: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Next panel will

         21  be Joel Copperman from CASES, and Jimena Martinez

         22  from the Center for Court Innovation, if they're

         23  still around.

         24                 Welcome to both of you. I guess we

         25  can go in whatever order you want. Age before
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          2  beauty.

          3                 MR. COPPERMAN: How can you tell?

          4  Thank you very much. My name is Joel Copperman. I am

          5  the Executive Director in the Center for Alternative

          6  Sentencing and Employment Services. CASES is part of

          7  a coalition of seven organizations that provide ATI

          8  services in the five boroughs. These organizations

          9  are CASES, the Center for Community Alternatives,

         10  the Center for Employment Opportunities, Family

         11  Justice, The Legal Action Center, The Osborne

         12  Association and The Women's Prison Association. I am

         13  here on behalf of that Coalition and I thank you for

         14  the opportunity to speak before the Committee.

         15                 The Council has been supporting ATI

         16  programs since FY '98. The Council's funding for

         17  ATIs has never been incorporated into the Mayor's

         18  budget, and the Council restores it every year.

         19                 Last year the Council provided almost

         20  $5 million for our seven organizations and we thank

         21  you for supporting our programs on this important

         22  field.

         23                 This year we ask the Council to

         24  continue to support our work and restore our funding

         25  to pre-9/11 levels.
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          2                 After 9/11, Council funding to our

          3  programs was cut by 25 percent or $1.6 million. With

          4  the cut, each organization was forced to reduce the

          5  level of services that we were able to provide.

          6                 In June of 1997, a report called

          7  Curbing Crime Cutting Cost was issued by the

          8  Committee on Public Safety, by this Committee. Among

          9  their findings the report indicated that ATI

         10  programs are extremely cost effective, they produce

         11  cost savings to the City by diverting individuals

         12  from JM and prison, and by helping to expedite the

         13  judicial process and contribute to public safety by

         14  placing defendants under an enhanced level of

         15  supervision. We continue that work today.

         16                 We work with folks who have drug and

         17  substance abuse problems, the mentally ill, we help

         18  kids get into school and stay there, we connect

         19  women with their families, we help clients prepare

         20  for work, we find jobs and keep those jobs. We help

         21  the mentally ill off the streets and into services

         22  and permanent housing. We work in all of the courts

         23  across all five boroughs.

         24                 We partner with employers, with

         25  schools, with non-profits and a whole long list of
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          2  City agencies in doing this work.

          3                 I'd like to briefly share with you

          4  some information about one of the programs, my own,

          5  CASES and the Court Employment Project, the youth

          6  program that works in the Bronx, Brooklyn, Manhattan

          7  and Queens and takes JM or prison-bound youth into

          8  our service rich youth development program. We work

          9  with about 400 young people a year and structure our

         10  program on the case management model with many

         11  additional support services which are enumerated in

         12  my testimony.

         13                 I wanted to share with you in

         14  particular the outcomes of a recidivism study that

         15  we conducted. We looked at a group of participants

         16  who graduated over a 15-month period, 118

         17  participants. Each of these young men and women have

         18  committed a felony at the point of entering our

         19  program. That's how you get into the program.

         20                 Within two years after graduation,

         21  only 12 percent had been convicted of a new felony,

         22  another eight percent have been convicted of a

         23  misdemeanor. While 57 percent of those young people

         24  entered on a violent charge, of those re-convictions

         25  only four percent were for a violent crime. And

                                                            283

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  while there was no comparison group for the study, I

          3  included in my testimony a number of other studies

          4  that had been done around recidivism rates, and I

          5  suggest that the success of these graduates presents

          6  indicates the benefits of providing court-involved

          7  youth and other programs who have similar outcomes

          8  with the resources and support that you can provide.

          9                 Once again, thank you for your past

         10  support, and we ask you to support our programs

         11  again this year.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         13                 Ms. Martinez.

         14                 MS. MARTINEZ: Hi. I just want to

         15  thank the Council for the opportunity to speak

         16  before you today. My name is Jimena Martinez, again,

         17  and I'm with the Center for Court Innovation.

         18                 The Center has received funding from

         19  the Council for the past two years to support our

         20  work in promoting public safety, and improving

         21  quality of life for New York City's residents. We're

         22  grateful for the Council's support and I wanted just

         23  to report today on some of the work we've done in

         24  the past year and some of our plans for the coming

         25  12 months.
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          2                 The problems like drugs, domestic

          3  violence, low-level crime, harm our communities and

          4  they overwhelm the City's court system.

          5  Unfortunately, in these cases, the approach of

          6  conventional courts tackles the legal issues but

          7  often fails to address the underlying issues that

          8  bring people to court in the first place and often

          9  them keep them coming back.

         10                 In response, the Center for Court

         11  Innovation works to reduce crime, aid victims and

         12  strengthen neighborhoods by making courts more

         13  problem solving and responsive to their

         14  constituents.

         15                 Starting with the award-winning

         16  Midtown Community Court the center has created more

         17  than a dozen projects, drug courts, domestic

         18  violence courts, that are making an impact on the

         19  safety and health of New York City's neighborhoods.

         20                 To continue to make justice more

         21  meaningful in New York City, and to pilot projects

         22  in areas like juvenile mental health, school safety

         23  and domestic violence, we are asking the City

         24  Council for an award of $875,000. Council funding

         25  would support our core project operations, which
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          2  this year will serve 60,000 New Yorkers from every

          3  borough.

          4                 I wanted to give you a sense of the

          5  sampling of our work in the past year.

          6                 Each year over 30,000 cases come

          7  through our community courts in Midtown Manhattan,

          8  Harlem and Red Hook, Neighborhood courts that

          9  combine accountability, and help to reduce quality

         10  of life crime, resolve housing problems and help

         11  ex-offenders make a successful return home.

         12                 Our latest experiment, Bronx

         13  Community Solutions, was initiated in part with

         14  Council funding, and has brought this

         15  problem-solving approach to all misdemeanor cases in

         16  the Bronx.

         17                 In its first year, Bronx Community

         18  Solutions linked over 6,300 low level offenders to

         19  community service projects in neighborhoods

         20  throughout the Bronx, as well as social services,

         21  such as drug treatment, job training, mental health

         22  counseling.

         23                 Our domestic violence courts aided

         24  over 20,000 victims of domestic violence in the last

         25  year, and two new initiatives take this model
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          2  further. They include integrated domestic violence

          3  courts in Queens, Bronx and Staten Island, as well

          4  as a youthful offender domestic violence court in

          5  Brooklyn and one soon to open in the Bronx.

          6                 At our Brooklyn Mental Health Court,

          7  defendants with treatable mental illnesses are

          8  linked to court-monitored services and so far 85

          9  percent of the participants are in compliance with

         10  their mandates.

         11                 We run a Queens Community Clean Up

         12  Program in which low-level offenders performed over

         13  29,000 hours of community service last year. And we

         14  also have several programs where we work with you.

         15                 I'm out of time, I'll leave the

         16  testimony to speak.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We have the

         18  testimony, thank you. And as a former defense

         19  attorney, who represented almost all level of

         20  offenders, and I could say utilized especially cases

         21  back then, that was a long time ago when I was a

         22  defense attorney, I don't think you were even

         23  around, right?

         24                 MS. MARTINEZ: Our first project

         25  opened in '93, so.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, you were

          3  there. But you perform essential services and we

          4  hope to continue to be able to fund you as we have

          5  in the past.

          6                 So, thank you both for coming down to

          7  testify.

          8                 MR. COPPERMAN: Thank you very much.

          9                 MS. MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The last panel

         11  will be Rick Carman from Community Board 3, and

         12  Joseph Garber.

         13                 Joe, I'm not sure if you've done this

         14  before, but you have to go over to that table and

         15  hit the mike.

         16                 Mr. Carman, why don't we begin with

         17  you.

         18                 MR. CARMAN: Okay. Good afternoon,

         19  members of the Council. My name is Rick Carman, and

         20  I'm the Budget Coordinator for Community Board 3 in

         21  Manhattan.

         22                 I come before you and respectfully

         23  request a serious consideration to be given to

         24  increasing the budget of Community Board 3's

         25  precincts, the 5th, the 7th and the 9th Precincts.
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          2                 The Lower East Side and Chinatown

          3  have seen a drastic increase in the number of

          4  nightlife, nighttime entertainment establishments.

          5  Each week more bars open. This has resulted in

          6  excessive street noise, especially late at night,

          7  and residents cannot sleep and are constantly being

          8  awakened by loud groups of patrons who congregate

          9  outside the bars and on the streets.

         10                 They are also bombarded with

         11  excessive horn-blowing by taxis. This has placed a

         12  strain on the precinct.  The deployment of officers

         13  to deal with this problem takes away from other

         14  crime prevention duties, as well as other quality of

         15  life and transportation-related duties.

         16                 Police officers are currently being

         17  given staffing assignments that were once held by

         18  civilians. We have lost uniformed staff since 9/11

         19  and additionally lose staff to counter-terrorism

         20  assignments.

         21                 The increase in nighttime weekend

         22  activities requires additional money for overtime so

         23  that police officers will be available during the

         24  early morning hours, especially on the weekends when

         25  the situation has become unbearable for community
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          2  residents.

          3                 We understand that money is tight and

          4  staffing is a problem in many agencies. Community

          5  Board 3 has made funding to restore civilian staff

          6  in the 5th, 7th and 9th Precincts and PSA 4 our

          7  number one expense priority.

          8                 And if I can just, as an aside,

          9  invite any of you to go to Avenue B from Thursday to

         10  Sunday, and it literally looks like rushhour in

         11  Midtown Manhattan.

         12                 We've been inundated with high-rise

         13  dorms from NYU. It's definitely a destination point.

         14  And the situation is really out of control. I mean,

         15  so, that's it. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, I guess

         17  you heard the good news this morning, though, we

         18  prevailed upon the Mayor to hire 800 additional

         19  police officers, and hopefully some will wind up in

         20  your area.

         21                 MR. CARMAN: That will be wonderful.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What we need is

         23  more beat cops, and that should help.

         24                 Mr. Garber, we've saved the best for

         25  last.
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          2                 MR. GARBER: Okay. Good afternoon,

          3  Chairman Vallone, Assistant Director Grossman,

          4  Council Staff, Sergeant-At-Arms and members of the

          5  public.

          6                 My name is Joseph Garber. I'm the

          7  Corresponding Secretary of the Civil Service Merit

          8  Council, and the Vice President of the Brooklyn

          9  North Citizens Police Academy Alumni Association,

         10  and a long-time member of PSA 2 resident Police

         11  Council. I reside in the 90th Precinct.

         12                 At the outset, let me say I'll need

         13  maybe two or three extra minutes. I'm going to read

         14  very quickly.

         15                 I agree that the strength of the

         16  uniformed members of the service of the NYPD should

         17  be vastly increased.

         18                 I'd like to see possibly to increase

         19  at maybe 45,000 members of the uniformed service.

         20  However, I can quantify this with a caveat. It has

         21  been 11 years that the HAPD and the TAPD merged in

         22  the NYPD. It is almost ten years that the Parking

         23  Enforcement District was merged into the NYPD from

         24  the Department of Transportation in eight years that

         25  the School Safety Division was merged from the old
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          2  Board of Education.

          3                 One of the goals of a merger is the

          4  elimination of duplicative functions and

          5  redundancies. I believe that hasn't been

          6  accomplished. In the parking enforcement district

          7  there's a large unit called the Parking Enforcement

          8  District of the Administration which is

          9  Administrative in Nature, and the work has been

         10  reformed by civilian uniform. That means Traffic

         11  Enforcement Agents 1, 2, 3 and 4, Associate Traffic

         12  Enforcement Supervisors, et cetera. In the Transit

         13  Bureau and the Housing Bureau, there are multitude

         14  of administrative and research functions that

         15  current exist in the NYPD prior to merger. So,

         16  before we absorb these 800 police officers or go to

         17  my suggested headcount, we must look at the entire

         18  organization structure of the bureaucracy called

         19  NYPD. We must look at it under concepts enunciated

         20  in David Osborne's Reinventing Government and Local

         21  Government Police Management by the ICMA.

         22                 And most of all, on October 1st,

         23  1990, former Commissioner Lee P. Brown had an

         24  organization study of the NYPD done by the NYPD, and

         25  if you don't have it, I can loan it to you, and this
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          2  analyzed every unit in the Department. Can it be

          3  eliminated, they did some eliminations, they also

          4  proposed how many civilians for each unit.

          5                 Back in 1965 the IACP, the

          6  International Association for Chiefs of Police,

          7  conducted a similar study. The Comptroller, I have

          8  Comptroller Hevesi's study, that projected

          9  approximately 6,000 civilians that could be

         10  civilianized.

         11                 So, we have to remember the words of

         12  the late Deputy Mayor James Cabon on the night and

         13  Sundays, "Nothing is sacred. Is every function

         14  necessary and mandated? Can it be consolidated,

         15  eliminated or reduced level? Can it be

         16  civilianized?"

         17                 To me, 400 civilians is a drop in the

         18  bucket. Even if 400 uniformed members of the service

         19  were to be honestly returned to patrol, because my

         20  experience has been that they're not returned to

         21  patrol. They either go to another Administrative

         22  unit or they go to quote a quasi law enforcement

         23  unit, or a name is given of somebody being returned

         24  to patrol. There was official falsification in the

         25  person retired in one case I remember years ago, and
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          2  a person had passed away and they gave his name as

          3  the person replacing the civilian.

          4                 So, I think on that point there has

          5  to be some oversight.

          6                 A report by City Comptroller dated

          7  2/1/99 identified 6,000 civilian positions, of

          8  members of the service that can perform these

          9  uniform tasks, public records say, principal

         10  administrator associate 1, 2 and 3 staff, trainees

         11  and associate staff, manager and computer titles. I

         12  would suggest that this Committee FOIL the

         13  following: The organization chart of NYPD, the

         14  organization guide of the Department manual, the

         15  telephone director, official roster, and documents

         16  called civilian personnel data, and uniformed

         17  personnel data.

         18                 Okay, a list of all the Department

         19  bulletins from 1/1/05 to the present, you will see

         20  the Department bulletin advertised positions for a

         21  uniformed member of service in a slot that can be

         22  handled by a civilian. For instance, you see one

         23  that says we need detectives and police officers to

         24  work in the property clerk. There is a civilian

         25  title called property control and evidence handler.
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          2                 So, if you get all these Department

          3  bulletins, you will see that they themselves are

          4  speaking out of a forked tongue.

          5                 Also ask for all personnel orders

          6  from 1/1/05 to the present, see how many promotions

          7  are held, and how many uniformed members of the

          8  service remain in their command.

          9                 Now, the Housing Authority resident

         10  leader can tell you that since the merger in April

         11  of 1995 the Housing Bureau has been downsized.

         12  Police in developments, in PSA 9 in Queens, in the

         13  101 Precinct, is now done in the precincts, not

         14  under PSA 9. In Staten Island when the merger first

         15  took place, the Staten Island developments were

         16  policed under what is called PS1A, which was,

         17  covered Staten Island developments. This was removed

         18  from PSA 1 and renamed the Staten Island Housing

         19  Unit which was moved from the Housing Bureau to

         20  Patrol Borough Staten Island which is not under the

         21  Housing Bureau, which is under Chief of Patrol. Now,

         22  three weeks ago in the Daily News there was an

         23  article that they want to abolish the Staten Island

         24  Housing Unit and put these officers in the 120 and

         25  the 122 Precinct. This is further going to diminish
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          2  the resident protection in these developments.

          3                 I would suggest that you come to the

          4  next PSA 3 meeting, which is held on the first

          5  Wednesday of every month at Atlantic Terminal

          6  Houses, and then you will hear resident leaders

          7  talking that there is no vertical patrols, that

          8  there's lack of service as far as since the merger.

          9                 Now, civilian promotions are far and

         10  few between. There's a PAA by the name of Bertha

         11  Massey who has been on three promotional lists,

         12  okay, for senior PAA and has not been reached. I

         13  would suggest that you review the MOUs of all former

         14  units to see if the merger is being adhered to in

         15  the spirit of the letter. NYPD has to be looked at

         16  closely.

         17                 CCRB. Since the merger of HAPD, I

         18  personally had to make civilian complaints, which

         19  was very hard for me to do, on Captain Sammy

         20  Williams, Captain Steven O'Brien. Captains, mind

         21  you. And assistant and another resident leader, to

         22  make a complaint against Captain John Banberry. You

         23  have people that are in the Housing Bureau that have

         24  never dealt with housing residents, and they don't

         25  know how to treat people. Prior to the merger you
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          2  had police officers who grew up in the developments

          3  and did everything proper. The Patrol Guide

          4  procedure on CCRB permits a member of the service of

          5  NYPD to make a CCRB complaint against another member

          6  of the service. Therefore, this person might become

          7  a whistle-blower, needs whistle-blower protection.

          8                 CCRB many times farms out

          9  investigations back to the PD. I make complaints

         10  that instead of them investigating it, they send it

         11  back to PD. I think you have to look at the

         12  procedure of why this is taking place, okay? And you

         13  can call the Chief of Department's Investigation

         14  Review Section at 164-667-5176. They are supposed to

         15  monitor all these complaints that are sent out by

         16  CCRB to the precinct.

         17                 Now, there's no question that they --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Mr. Garber.

         19                 MR. GARBER: Please. I'm finishing.

         20                 There's no question we need oversight

         21  on the NYPD regarding civilianization, corruption,

         22  management, et cetera.

         23                 Okay, the US Commission on Civil

         24  Rights, okay, in the year 2000 published a report

         25  "Who is Guarding the Guardians?" in the famous
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          2  textbook Police Leadership in America on page 147.

          3  They call it"The Roman Juvenile" back 2,000 years

          4  ago. It says, "And who guards the guards

          5  themselves?"

          6                 Now, a question was asked, School

          7  Safety Agents. School Safety Agents are now under

          8  the Deputy Commissioner of Community Affairs. It was

          9  recently transferred from under the Chief of Patrol

         10  to Deputy Commissioner Community Affairs, now Chief

         11  of Community Affairs Doug Zeigler, the immediate

         12  commanding officer of the School Safety Division is

         13  Assistant Chief Gerald Nelson, who you might have

         14  read in the paper had a civilian complaint made

         15  against him.

         16                 Now, another problem, at 9/21/05, at

         17  their high holiday meeting at One Police Plaza, they

         18  discussed that plaques are given to non-members of

         19  the NYPD and they are abusing this. And this is

         20  wrong, wrong, wrong.

         21                 Now, I live in the 90th Precinct, and

         22  being that graffiti was mentioned in the

         23  Commissioner's testimony, the 90th Precinct is

         24  taking a poor look, okay, at the way graffiti is

         25  being handled.
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          2                 Now you mention about a CCRB meeting

          3  being 15 minutes. Okay, I go to the Housing

          4  Authority Board meetings and that's eight minutes.

          5                 I believe, and let me conclude, I

          6  believe that the real time crime center, okay? Which

          7  is enumerated on page one of the Police

          8  Commissioner's testimony, is in duplicative nature

          9  of the COMSTAT unit of the Chief of the Department,

         10  okay?

         11                 Thank you for listening. And thank

         12  you for the extra time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Anyone who can

         14  quote late Deputy Mayors, I don't think that's ever

         15  happened before. I think anyone who is watching

         16  Channel 74 at night with the hopes of needs to

         17  sleep, they're going to be sadly disappointed right

         18  now. But thank you for, as usual, for your very

         19  informative testimony. Okay, we will see you again

         20  in May.

         21                 MR. GARBER: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         23                 MR. GARBER: If you need me to sit

         24  down with you, maybe I've gone over this too

         25  quickly, I'll be glad to sit down with the staff and
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          2  go nitty-gritty.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you for

          4  the offer.

          5                 MR. GARBER: All right?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We may need that

          7  phone number again.

          8                 This Committee, the Public Safety

          9  Committee hearing, is now over.

         10                 (The following written testimony was

         11  read into the record.)

         12

         13

         14  Written Testimony Of:

         15  Veronica Montgomery-Costa

         16  President

         17  Local 372 and DC 37, AFSCME, AFL-CIO

         18

         19                 Chairman Weprin, Chairman Vallone,

         20  Committee Members:

         21                 Local 372 thanks the City Council

         22  Public Safety Committee for this opportunity to once

         23  again publicly present our safety priorities.

         24                 What I present to you today is beyond

         25  unionism, beyond politics - it's about right and
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          2  wrong. What is right, is to create an NYPD budget

          3  which ensure the safety of our City's 1.1 million

          4  school children. What is wrong is creating a budget

          5  which makes those who risk their lives every work

          6  day to keep our children safe to sacrifice their own

          7  family's quality of life.

          8                 Each year we remind the City Council

          9  that School Crossing Guards are sometimes injured or

         10  killed in the line of duty protecting our City's

         11  precious school children. Each year the Mayor, shows

         12  no sign of being moved by the stories of their acts

         13  of heroism when he drafts his preliminary budget -

         14  nothing has changed.

         15                 A minimum of 278 more School Crossing

         16  Guards are still needed particularly in schools in

         17  more dangerous traffic locations.

         18                 Schools located near highways and

         19  major intersections, or in areas where traffic signs

         20  and signals are frequently disregarded by drivers,

         21  have greater need for additional School Crossing

         22  Guards. Requests by Community Boards for additional

         23  coverage at these sites are most often denied.

         24                 Local 372 conducted a citywide survey

         25  in 2004 of School Crossing Guard coverage
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          2  (Attachment 1) which detailed justification for

          3  additional School Crossing Guards based on need.

          4                 Our study - still relevant when

          5  applied to current registers - shows the student to

          6  School Crossing Guard ratios with a current average

          7  of 517 to 1, based on the DOE's Official Audited

          8  Register of October 31, 2003 (Attachment 2).

          9                 With an additional 278 School

         10  Crossing Guards, that ratio would be reduced to a

         11  dramatically safer ratio of 399 to 1.

         12                 We find no evidence in the Fiscal

         13  year 2007-2010 Preliminary Budget of additional

         14  School Crossing Guard allocations. The SCG to

         15  student ratio remains a danger to school children.

         16                 - City Hall - the Mayor and City

         17  Council - still choose to save money by not

         18  annualizing School Crossing Guards - now a 12-month

         19  necessity.

         20                 Our School Crossing Guards are still

         21  hourly employees limited to twenty hours of work per

         22  week at $10.23 per hour. When schools are closed

         23  they are not paid.

         24                 - School Crossing Guards are still

         25  laid off at the end of the school year.
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          2                 To continue their health benefits in

          3  the summer months, School Crossing Guards not

          4  assigned to summer positions, only be bringing home

          5  unemployment compensation, must pay 10% of their

          6  monthly premiums. The remaining 90% of the cost of

          7  these premiums is funded by employee contributions

          8  to our welfare fund. This is an expensive,

          9  administrative nightmare for the union, the NYPD and

         10  the NYC Office of Labor Relations.

         11                 At schools which will serve later

         12  meals, or which remain open for late afternoon

         13  recreational programs, children will be staying

         14  later, throughout the entire year.

         15                 The choice to deny annualization of

         16  these positions and the choice to withhold coverage

         17  of more than 4 hours per day absolutely

         18  indefensible, when there is a real need for expanded

         19  hours of service, and for coverage throughout the

         20  calendar year.

         21                 Additional School Crossing Guards may

         22  be needed for summer 2006 unless the summer session

         23  is drastically reduced.

         24                 It is also vital that there be better

         25  co-ordination (sic) between the DOE and the NYPD, to
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          2  ensure that a full complement of School Crossing

          3  Guards is available to cover these programs, in

          4  public, private, parochial and charter schools.

          5                 Local 372 is calling upon the City

          6  Council to urge the Mayor to identify the Summer

          7  School 2006 sites by June 1st to give guards

          8  adequate notice to plan for personal obligations

          9  during the summer months.

         10                 Local 372 once again urges the Mayor

         11  and the City Council to work as a team to ensure

         12  that our children travel to and from school

         13  unharmed. Since children are our live's work, their

         14  safety is our top priority. The NYPD's budget should

         15  reflect the same.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 4:11 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 21st day of March 2006.
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                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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